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Tue Proprietors of this Edition of the Trial, intended to have published
it with an Appendix, at the price of Three Shillings, or Three Shillings and
Sixpence ; in consequence, however, of the extraordinary demand for it,
they have resolved to publish the Trial separate, at Two Shillings. And, in
a day or two, the Appendix will be ready, which will contain the Coxpenxen
Sermon, authentic Memoirs of Tnurrert, Huxt, and ProserT, from the
pen of PIERCE EGAN ; interspersed with Anecdotes of many well known
Characlers, disclosing some very extraordinary Facts never yet published.
Also an accurate Account of the demeanour of the Prisuners since Sentence
was passed, and every particular relating to the Execution,

CRANIOLOGICAL APPEARANCES OF THURTELL'S HEAD.

Specian Permission having been given to the Editor of the Meprcar
Apviser to exgmine the body of Thurtell after the execution, a full account
of the recunran Crantorocrear Appearances, with illustrative engravings,

will appear in the next Number, price Turee-rexer only.

*<¥ The Medical Adviser is published every Saturday morning, and may
be had of all Booksellers and Newsmen.

24, Puternoster Row,
Jun. 9, 1824.
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HERTFORD ASSIZES,

THURSDAY, DECEMBER 4, 1823.

AT half-past 10 o’clock this morning, the Judges (Mr. Justice Holroyd and
Mr, Justice Park) arrived in Hertiord, from Lord Verulam’s, where they
slept on the previous night, and were conducted and escorted by the high-
sheriff, &ec., in the usual form, to the Court-house, where the commission
was opened : they afterwards repaired to church, to hear divine service, and
a sermon preached by the Rev. Mr. Lloyd ; and the court met again at 12
o’elock to proceed to business. :

After the routine business of reading the proclamations, calling over the
roll of magistrates, constables, &ec., was disposed of, the following gentlemen
were sworn upon the grand jury. There was an unusually full attendance of
magistrates and grand jurors :—

The Hon. W, Lamb, of Hatfield, M, P., Samuel Smith, of Walton, Esq.

Foreman. Tho. Daniel, of Little Berkhamstead, Esq.
The Right Hon, Sir George Ousely, of Daniel Giles, of Standon, Esg,
Hartingfordbury, Bart. Adolphus Meetkerke, of Juliam, Esq.
8ir John 5. Sebright, of Flamstead, Bart. Patrick Haddow, of Shenley, Esq,
Sir Culling Smith, of Essendon, Bart, Wm. Robe. Phillimore, of Aldenham, Esq.

Sir George Duckett, of Cheshunt, Bart. Charles Edmond Rurbold, of Watton, Esq.
The Hon, Baron Dimsdale, of Essendon. William Wilshire, of Hitchin, Esq,

Henry Cowper, of Servin, Esq. John Currie, of Essendon, Esq.

William Baker, of Bayford, Esq. William Heygate, of North Mims, Esq.
Thomas Hope Ryde, of Ware, Esq. Thomas Nash Kemble, of North Mims,
Nicolson Calvert, of Hunston, Esq. Esq. and

Thomas Byron, of Bayford, Esq. Jacob Bosanquet, of Broxbourn, Esq,

Mr. Justice Park then addressed the gentlemen of the grand jury. His
learned brother and himself were present among them at an unusual season
of the year, under a special comimission of Oyer and Terminer, and of gene-
ral gaol delivery, to try such offences as had been committed in the county
since the assizes which were held in it during the last summer, In that ser-
vice they were employed in the most important function which could befal
them as members of civil society—namely, the administration of eriminal
Jjustice ; and the present numerous appearance of gentleman of their rank
apd intelligence, and also of the other individuals whom he saw around him,
satisfied him that his Majesty’s wisdom in issuing that commission would
not be frustrated ; for, frustrated it would be, if a time should ever come
when a commission of Oyer and Terminer was not attended by that rank
and dignity which he then had the happiness of beholding ; for it would
lessen the dignity of the administration of justice in the eyes of the common
geaplc of England ; and he was sure that they would feel that nothing could

e more incumbent upon men in their station of life, than to sustain the ad-
ministration of justice in the estimation of their fellow-countrymen by their
attendance on such occasions, The calendar which was now before him con-
tained different offences, and there were a great number of criminals who



stood upon it committed for trial. What the result of that trial might be, it
was not for him now to judge; but, notwithstanding the number of pri-
soners, and the variety of crimes of which they were accused, it was unneces-
sary for him to address any observations to them upon thatsubject; for the
crimes for which they were committed were such, as they were unfortunately
employed upon in their magisterial capacities, weekly, and he was afraid he
might almost say daily. All the principles of law that were applicable to
such crimes were as well known to the gentlemen of the grand jury, as they
were to himselt and bis learned brother; but if they had any doubt regard-
ing them, he trusted that it was needless for him to add, that any inquiries
they might think proper to make, they would find himself and his learned
brother, as far as lay in their power, ready and willing to answer, There
was, however, one case, on which he would take the liberty of making a few
observations, because he understood it had already made a considerable noise
in the world. He said understood ; for of his own knowledge he could say
nothing, since, except by reading the depositions which had been transmit- ,
ted to him in this case, f;e knew nothing of it, having cautiously ahstained
from reading the statements which had appeared in the public prints, ever
since he had reason to suppose that he should be appointed the judge to try
it. He could therefore say, that as far as this case was concerned, a2 more
impartial man could not be found in the King's dominions than himself.
Circumstances, however, made it necessary for him to offer to them certain
preliminary remarks. The language of rebuke was not pleasant to him—
1t was hostile to his feelings, and repugnant to his nature ; but in the admi-
nistration of justice, he was bound to pay no regard to his own wishes and
feelings, but to look at higher and more important public considerations,
These depositions, he understood (for he again repeated he knew nothing of
the fact himself,) had already appeared very copiously, and even with notes
and comments, in the public press. Now, it appeared to him, that the first
fault (and he had no doubt it was most unintentional, and in noticing it he
did not mean to wound the feelings of any individual)—it appeared to him
that the first fault originated with the magistrates allowing any persons to
enter into their {private apartments for the purpose of taking notes of their
proceedings. He held that there was a vast difference between the inquisi-
torial and judicial power of the magistrates: where the magistrate was acting
judicially, his conduct was as open to the inspection and judgment of the
public as that of himself and his learned brothers on the bench ; to such
ublicity he had no objection, for he could wish every thing he said as a
Judge to be heard and fairly canvassed by the public. He knew he erred some-
times, because he was human, and nothing that was human could escape with=
out error. But when a magistrate was acting inquisitorially, when he was
taking an inquisition for blood, were those proceedings fit to be known and
published to the world ? He was bound to investigate and inquire—ought his
mquiries and investigations to be conducted in a private or public manner?
The statute law of the land prescribed the course to be pursued upon such an
occasion for more than 200 years. There was a statute of Philip and Mary,
which stated, that depositions before magistrates should be taken in writing,
in order that they might be transmitted to the judges who were to try the
offence under the commission of oyer and terminer for the county. He ap-
pealed to the experience of every gentleman who heard him, (and he knew
what his own experience as a judge had taught him,) whether the constant
course was not to transmit them to the judge, taking good care that the per-
son accused should not have an opportunity of seeing them. The prosecutor
or his solicitor might have access to them, but not the party accused. For
what would be the consequence if the latter had access to them? Why,
that he would know every thing which was to be produced in the evidence
against him—an advantage which it was never intended should be extended
towards him. He must now add, that since he had come into court, an ad-
ditional argument had been suggested to him why the depositions should not
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‘be made public. They, as members of the grand jury, were sworn to keep
the king’s counsel, their own counsel, and the counsel of their fellows. Now
this was an unnecessary caution it the depositions were to be sent forth at
full length to the world. He had made these observations to them, because
he was peculiarly anxious to preserve the purity of justice, and because he
was convinced that the purity of justice could not be preserved if such prace
tices as the press had recently adopted were allowed to continue. Highly as
he valued the liberty of the press, and sacred as he held it as a palladium of
liberty, he valued the trial by jury still higher, and considered it as a stll
more sacred guardian of the pubiic security, so long as it remained untainted
and incorrupt. But it was impossible that it should long continue incorrupt,
if the practice of publishing ex-parte statements of what occurred before ma-
gistrates, with notes and comments, were permitted to prevail. Such practice
could not fail to produce the most serious inconveniences ; for it might net
only be dangerous to the accuser (and he was sure that the gentlemen of the
ﬁrandjur}r would see that circumstances might occur rendering it full of

anger to the accuser, without his further specifying them,) but might be
also dangerous in the extreme to the accused. At any rate, the address
which he was at that moment delivering to them, convinced him that it was
most detrimental to those who were concerned in the administration of eri-
minal justice ; for it compelled them to address even the gentlemen of the
Erand Jury with all the energy they possessed, in order to prevent them from

aving any improper bias on their minds. That very circumstance, how-
ever, was convincing to him of the impropriety of the present practice. To
him it appeared to be more favourable to the accused than to any other
party ; for it gave him a benefit which the law never intended to give him,
namely, the knowledge of the evidence that was to be produced against him
on his trial.  Let it, however, be advantageous to one party and’ disadvan-
tageous to the other, or let it be disadvantageous to both, he was sure that
it could not be free from blame that such a practice was permitted to exist.
He had no difficulty in stating, in the presence of his learned brother, with
whom he had not communicated on the subject, that it was the decided
opinion of the court of King’s Bench, and indeed of every judge who had sat
for the last cemtury in Westminster-hall, that to print evidence, with notes
and comments, which a prieri was calculated to prejudice the administration
of criminal justice, was a high crime and misdemeanour, punishable, upon
conviction, by fine and imprisonment ; and though those who had not read
deeply upon the subject, might perbaps attack him for this open statement
of his opinion, he was sure that he was not erring when he declared that
opinion to be the clear and positive law of the Ian(f;. He was aware that the
conductors of the public press, in publishing these statements, were only
acting in subservience to the public will. There was an appetite for this
species of intelligence in the public mind, which he did not consider as atall
tending to its credit; there was a pruriency for news among people of the

resent day, just as voracious as there was among the Athenians of former

ays. Still, with all their eagerness to learn the passing events of the hour,
he thought that there were few individuals who would undertake to defend
one thing which he was told had been done upon the present occasion—he
meant the publication of the confession of one of the prisoners. Now, as it
could not be known whether that confession would be admitted as evidence,
until he bad judged upon it, it was certainly most unadvisable, to use no
harsher term, to print it until be had decided whether it should be admitted
or not. Without entering further at present into the subject, he would
merely express a hope that the topics to which he had just alluded would
produce consideration in future amongst those who had thrown impediments
unintentionally, perhaps, in the course of the pure administration of public
Jjustice. Indeed, he spoke less in blame of the past, than in caution and ad-
monition for the fature. With regard to the crime itself, he would now say a
few words. It was a charge, as against a person styling himself John Thurtell,
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another person styling himsel? John Hunt, and a third person styling himself
William Probert.  The crime charged was murder—an awful charge under
any circumstances, but in this case stated to bave been accompanied by
several circumstances of peeuliar atrocity.  What the intention of the prose-
cutors was, whether to indict them all as priuicipals in the first dezree, or
some of them only as principals in the second degree, or as accessories bofore
the fact, or as accessories after the fact, he could not tell ; nor indeed was it
within his province to be informed.  All he could tell them was, that though
the form of stating the charge might be different, the result of it, supposing
it to he substantiated, would be the same as regarded the partics accused.
The principal in the first degree, he need hardly tell them, was the person
who actually committed the murder. The principal in the second degree
was a person under these circumstances : he might be aiding, counselliug,
and abetting the murder, and yet, though he did not actually swike the blow,
he was equally guilty with the party who did. He mizht even not be on the
spot, and vet be a principal in the second degree : for, though not on the spot,
hie might be on the watch near it, to prevent any body from approaching to
prevent or detect the murder; and by such participation in it he became a
principal in the second degree. The accessory before the fact, was a person
who, though he was not on the spot, had yet, by counsel, participation, and
knowledge of the murder before it took place, made himself a party to it,
The accessory after the faet, was a person who, knowing the murder to have
been committed, received, harboured, and entertained the principal felon,
Under what deseription of charge, and with what distinetions, it nmight come
before them, he azain repeated that he did not know ; but under whatever
form it came, he was sure that they would pay the closest attention to it; and
‘decide according to the evidence which might be adduced. That evidence
would establish the commission of a dreadful act of murder by some person,
under circumstances of great atrecity. It was, like most other evidence in
cases of murder, chietly circamstantial,  For what man, who committed an
atrocious crime, ever committed it in the face of day, or in the presence of
witnesses? It was in secret he committed it, removed from the observation
of the world, and enveloped in durkness, forgetting, however, that the all-
seeing cye of Providence was upon him, ¢ to whom all hearts are opened,
and from whom no secrets are hid.” He was sure he need not tell gentlemen
of their rank and education, that circumstantial evidence was ofeen more
satisfactory than positive proof sworn te by only one or two witnesses; and it
was so upon this account—that it brought home the same result from differ-
ent ends, and that it was not likely that thirty or forty persens should agree
to invent facts which should all chime in with the links of evidence which
were to form the chain against the prisoner. e therefore thought they
would have no difficulty arising from this kind of evidence. There was cne
circumstaiice which he had learned from the depositions, and which he
thought it requisite to bring under their notice. e understood that one
perscen had been placed in custody, and would be removed from it to give
evidence before them and the peity jury, under very peculiar circumstances
—he meant Mrs, Probert. Now Mrs, Probert was the wife of one of the in-
dividuals accused : and he must therefure tell them, that if the three prisoners
were jointly united in one indictment, that eircumstance was sufficient to
prevent her from being called upon to give evidence against any one of them.
If there was only one indictment she could not be culled, on the one hand,
to convict her hushand, or, en the other, to acquit him: for the law, from a
wise policy, did not permit a wife to give evidence either for or against her
husband. He had now nothing more to say to them ; he was afraid that he
had already detained them too long; but if he had, he trusted that they
would pardon him for so doing, since his motive was to render their minds
casy in the discharge of their duty. He would merely add to what he had
already observed, that in investizating the charge they were not called upon
to try its truth or fals¢hood, (fur that was the peculiar province of the petty
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j ury,y but to examine vhether there was suflicient ground for putting the
prisoners upen their trial. I they undertook to hear witnesses pro and con,
they would be assuming a power which the constitution did not give them,
and would be invading the duties of the petty jury.  With these observations
he should dismiss them to thie business of the county.

The charge of the judge (with reference to Mrs. Probert,) as well as some
other circumstances which had occurred in the course of the day, altered the
intention of the prosecutors, and new indictments were immediately prepared
for the erown.

At two o'clock, Mr. Broderick entered the court, as of counsel for the pro-
secution, and applied for leave to admit Prebert to go before the grand jury
for a particular purpose, - He observed that he saw no other ease in the calen-
dar against him, but one.

Mr. Jystice Park said that the application was one of course, and there
Was no necessity to say any thing mmore on the subject.

An order was then made that the gaoler should forthwith prepare Probert
to be brought before the grand jury, and he was at half-past three o'clock
brought in a pust-chaise to the Town-hall, and sent into the grand jury-room.
-Mrs. 'robert is also in attendance.

The indictment now before the grand jury, and upen which, if found, trial
will follow to-morrow, embriaces the cases of Thurtell and Hunt ; the former
is charged as the actual perpetrator of the murder, and Hunt as aiding and
abetting therein.

Thomas ‘Thurtell, in the course of the day, applied to the Rev, My, Lloyd,
for permission to see his brother. The request was complicd with, and the
interview took place in the presence of Mr. Llovd, Mr, Jay (who was with
bLis client at the time,) and two or three other gentlemen : they shook hands,
and John Thurtell, alter some family questions, talked with an air of perfect
indifierence upon erdinary topics.

When Mr. Wilsen announced to Probert at the gaol that he was wanted in
-the Town-hall, he became greatly agitated, and asked for what purpose they
desired his attendance? W hen his agitation subsided, My, Wilson infermed
him; and he then rose into high spirits.  When taken to the Town-hall, he
was sworn as one of the witnesses, his name put on the hack of the bill, and
he was placed in a room in waiting with other witnesses,

At four o'clock Mrs, Probert was examined before the grand jury. She
had not scen her husband ; means were taken to keep them in separate
TOOMS,

Thomas Thurtell was in attendance as a witness,

Mr. Jay spent the entire day with Johin Thurtell.

The grand jury, after being in consideration of the evidence until half-past
eight o'clock, and after examining 22 witnesses, among whom were 0rs.
FProbert and Probert, who were examioned (separately) for a considerable
time, returned at the judge’s lodgings @ true Will against John Thurtell for
the murder, and against Hunt as an accessory before the fact.

FRIDAY, December 5.

- At half-past seven o'cloek, the docrs were opened, and the greater part of
all the space in the court was filled immediately. Lt is needless to deseribe
‘the expression of cager curlosity which took and kept possession of all faces.
The boxes of the magistrates, and those set apart tor the accommodation of
the gentry of the county, (ameng the latter class there might be present
about 20 ladies,) were filled last. At eight o'clock, the trumpet announced
the approach of the judge, and within a minute or two Mr. Justice Park
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took his seat. His Lordship directed that the prisoners should not be called
until the court was perfectly quiet.

The clanking of chains was immediately heard, and the stillest silence
prevailed, all eyes being .turned towards the dock. The prisoners appeared
and took their stations—IHunt first, on the left-hand of the judge ; Probert
followed, and stood next to him, and Thurtell took the place next to Probert.
The appearance of all three, as to exterior, was respectable. Hunt and Pro=-
bert were in decent black, rather worn ; Thurtell in a blue coat, with fawn-
coloured trowsers, and a waistcoat nearly corresponding—the whole in a style
rather elegant than otherwise. The general appearance of Hunt was un-
promising ; a face of little expression with nearly a straight profile ; stature of
middling height, with slender proportions.  Probert is plump in the cheeks
and corpulent, clear but inexpressive eyes, surrounded by features the charac-
ter of which might be deemed sensual ; the hair, which seems to have been
black, thin, gray, and curling, The appearance of Thurtell was the most
genteel : his frame well knitted ; his countenance bold ; his hair of a good
auburn hue and combed backwards ; projecting brows, and a receding fore-
head, with an air of martial firmness, rather agreeable to the beholder. The
worst part of his face is his mouth, which has a very obstinate-and rather
stupid expression.

The clerk of the court was preparing to read the indictments,

Mr. Andrews rose to address the court upon some preliminary ohjection,
the nature of which did not transpire in that part which was assigned to our
purposes.

Mr. Justice Park interrupted him by saying, “T know nothing of ohjec-
tions nor of jurymen, until after issue joined : and I know nothing either of
oiz-j:stjnns, or of the nature of the 1ssue, until the prisoners shall have

eaded.”

. Mr. Knapp, clerk of the arraigns. John Thurtell, hold up your hand. The
indictment charges you, John Thurtell, that you, not having the fear of God
before your eyes, but being instigated by the devil, did on the 17th of October
last, in the parish of Aldenham, with a certain pistol, value 10s. in your
rizht hand, then and there held on the left side of the head of Wm. Weare,
of the county of Middlesex, gentleman, wilfully strike and thrust, and make
one mortal fracture, of which the said William Weare then and there died.

Mr Knapp read the other eounts relating to Thurtell.) And the indictment

urther charges, that you, Joseph Hunt, in the parish of St. George, Hanover-
square, in the county of Middlesex, before the said murder, did stir u
move, abet, and counsel, hire, and procure the said John Thurtell to commit
the said murder. Iow say you, John Thurtell, are you guilty or not guilty ?
Thurtell. Not guilty.

Mr. Knapp. How will you be tried? Thurtell. By God and my country.

Mr. Kuapp. Joseph Hunt, how say you, are you guilty or not guilty? Hunt.
Not guilty, my Lord.

Mr. Knapp. How will you be tried? Hunt. By my God and my country.

Mr. Knapp. You John Thurtell, you Joseph Hunt, and you William Pro-
bert, are charged under the Coroner's inquisition, that you, John Thurtell,
did murder William Weare ; and you, Joseph Hunt and William Probert, as
accessories before the fact. How say you, John Thurtell, are you guilty or
not guilty on the inquisition? Thurtell. Not guilty. :

Mr. Knapp. How say you, Joseph Hunt? Hunt. Not guilty. :

Mr. Knapp. How say you, Willlam Probert; are you guilty or not guilty?
Probert. Not guilty, my Lord.

Clerk. How will you be tried? Probert. By God and my country.

Mr. Andrews, in behalf of the prisoner Thurtell, said he had to apply to the
‘Court, that certain affidavits, then prepared, might besworn.

Mr. Jay, Mr. Fenton, and another gentleman then came forward with a
bulky paper, and being asked by the Clerk of the Arraigns the usual questions
as to their signatures, swore to the contents of the affidavits.
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Mr.H Harmer handed an affidavit to the officer of the court, which was sworn
to unt.

The affidavit of the solicitors was then put in. The crier of the court read
it over to himself, marking it on the several pages, agreeably to a new regula-
tion of the court, by which the officer is to be L]l}n:parcd with a precise know-
ledge of such instruments, so as to he enabled to identify them when they
may be called in question.

This ceremony being over, the deponents were sworn to it.

The clerk of the court then proceeded to read it, and having read as far as
that part of it which refers to tEu widely-spread circulation of 7he Times, and
corresponding influence of such publication upon the public mind,

Mr. Justice Park directed him to stop. He knew nothing of the matter
in these alleged publications. However the fact might be, he could say con-
seientiously, that there was one person in court who had not read one word
of the alleged descriptions or animadversions. Some among the jury might
also remain ignorant of them. Such calumnies, if calumnies’ they were,
might have been circulated even to the extent stated in the affidavit. But
supposing the factio be so, and that the court, concurring in these repre-
sentations to consent to the pestponement of the trial, would not that have
the effect of injuring the very cause for the support of which the affidavit was
framed? He did not intend to urge the subject beyond what he had now
said ; but left it entirely, after this one observation, to the excellent good
sense and professional accuracy of Mr. Andrews and his learned colleagues,
to say whether they would persist in their demand. While the remainder of
the affidavit was remling, there would be time for them to consult.

Mr. Andrews, expressing the profoundest respect for the advice of the court,
had to inform his Lordship, that himselfand his learned friends had repeatedly
deliberated upon the step now taken, and after giving the gravest considera-
tion to the subject, they could give no other answer to his Lordship’s kind
su%icﬁtiﬂn, but respecttully to require that the affidavits should be read.

r. Justice Park. That is quite enough; I have not another word to say,
let the consequences fall as they may.

The clerk resumed the reading of the affidavit, and having come to that
part of it which went to specify the play-bills of the Surrey theatre, some of
the bills were produced,

Mr. Justice Park asked if the bills were exhibited at the time of swearing
to the depositions,

The answer was in the negative, but that the deponents had them in hand
at the time of swearing.

Mr. Justice Park said that that was not sufficient for the purpose. The
deponents must swear to the papers.

The deponents were again sworn accordingly.

Mr. Justice Park directed that the prisoners should have seats, and be sup-
plied with pen, ink, and paper.

Thurtell made the busiest use of the latter privilege, and occasionally
stooped down to select from a considerable heap of newspapers which lay

efore him,
eaTdhE following affidavit, prepared by the legal advisers of Thurtell was
read :— -

HERTFORD ASSIZEs,
December, 1823.
THE KING AGAINST JOHN THURTELL.

John Allen Adamthwaite, of Dalsten, in the county of Middlesex, gentleman, and
George Jay, of the city ofsNorwich, gentleman, and Francis Tarrant Fenton, of Austin
Friars, in the city of London, gentleman, and John Helme, of Austin Friars, clerk to the
said Francis Tarrant Fenton, severally make oath and say, and first this deponent
Franeis Tarrant Fenton, for himself saith, that he, this deponent, on Thursday the 13th
day of November last, waited on Mr, Nicholson, the under-sheriff, who returns the jury
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for the county of Hertford, for the purposs of giving an undertaking to the said. under-
sheriff to put in bail for a gentleman who had been arresied on an attachment of pri-
vilega at the suit of Andrew Vansandom for 40/ ; this deporenr saith, that he at the
same time offered the undertaking of the said George Jay, of Norwich, whe is a most -
respectable attorney and solicitor, and possessed of good property, and whe hath been
instructed by the friends of the said John Thurtell, with his concurrence, to defend the
prosecution pending against him for murder ; or, if necessary, that le, this deponent,
and the said George Jay, would execuze a hail-bond for the aforesaid gentleman ; but
the seid Mr. Nicholson told this deponent that he hnew very little of this deponent, and
nothing of the said George Jay, except that he was concerned for Jobm Thurtell, the,
murderer, and that he considered that circumstance of itself sufficient ground to decline
to accept his responsibility, or words to that eftect. And this deponent further saith, that
he, this deponent, remonstrated with the said Mr. Nicholson on the impropriety of a pro-
fessional man speaking in such terms of another professional min for aciing in a defence
which, after he had been called upon to undertake, he, this deponent, considered him
bound to undertake ; and that he, the said George Jay, was employed by the friends of
the said Jolin Thurte!ll, and not by Thurtell himself ; but the said Mr. Nicholson said
that he thought even Thurtall's own father voght not to interfere in such a ease, but
leave Johin Thurtell to his fate, or words to that eifecs.  And this deponent saith,*that
he further remonstrated with the said Nicholson on the impropriety of a professional
man calling a prisener a murderer until he had been proved so according to the laws of
his country, and before a proper tribunal ; upon which the said Mr. Nicholson said, that
he was so satisfed of the guilt of John Thuriell and his companions, that he should not
complain if they were hanzed without trial, or words to that effect.  And this deponent
saith, that he hatl lately been much at Hertford, and has had a deal of conversation
with individuals residing there, and of the rank or class of people out of which common
juries are generally elected, who all expressed themselves so satisied of the guilt of John
Thurtell and his companiens, that this deponent is quire sure it will be rotally impossible
for tle said prisoners to have a fair and impartial trial in the county of Hertford, afora-
said, at these assizes; and this deponent saith, that he, this deponent, did, in company
with the said George Jay, apply on the Lith day of November to the Rev. Mr, Lloyd,
one of the visiting magistrates, at Hertfcrd gaol, for the purpose of seeing and consulting
with the said John Thurtell as his professional adviser, in company with the said George
Jay ; but the said Mr. Lloyd informed this deponent, that in consequence of an order
lately made by a numerous bench of magistrates, lie could admit only one professional
adviser, and that John Thurtell had informed him that be should prefer to see Mr, Jay 3
and cn censultation between the said George Jay and this d=ponent, it was judged proper
that the said George Juy, being known to the prisoner, which this deponent was net,
(he, this deponent, never having seen the said Joha Thurtell,) was the proper person to
visit him as his professional adviser in that instance; and this deponent and the said
George Jay asked the ssid Mr. Lloyd whethier, after the said George Jay had seen the
said John “Thurtell, and had taken his preliminary instructions for the defence, and had
informed him, the said John Thurtell, that this deponent had his the said George Jay's
confidence, and that he, the said John Thurteli, might confide in this deponent, he, this
deponent, would afterwards be allowed to see the said John Thurtell alone ? when the
said Mr. Lloyd informed this deponent and the said Georze Jay, that after either the
said Geerge Jay or this deponent had once seen the said John Thurtell, the other would
never be permitted to see him till the day of wial ; and this deponent saith, that from
the grea: distance at which the said George Jay resides from London, being 119 miles, oz
thereabouts, it was essentizlly necessary that he, this deponent, should have free and
uninterrupted access to the said John Thurtell, for the purpose of preparing his defence.
And this deponent saith, that on Saturday, the 15th day of November last,this deponent
applied to the bench of magistrates, then sitting at Hertford, apparently about twelve in
number, to be admitted to the said John Thurtell as his professionzl adviser ; but he was
then informed by the said Mr. Lloyd, on the behalf of the magistrates then assembled, in
their presence, and with their concurrence, that they refused to grant such access, and
declined stating their reasons ; and this deponent saith, that cn Wednesday, the 19th day
of Nevember last, he, this deponent, applied to his Majesty’s Court of King's Bench,
for a mandumus, commanding the said magistrates to admit this deponent to the said
John Thurtzll as his professional adviser, which the said court granted, and this deponent
saw the said John Thurtell for the first time on Thursday, the 20th day of November
last 5 and this deponent saith, that on Saturday, the 22d day of November last, Robert
Clutterbuck, Esq. and —— Mason, Esg. two magistrates of this county, came to the
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gzol at Hertford aforesaid, with a witnoss whom the sald magzistrates informed this
deponent they intended to introduce to the said Johim Thurtell, for the purpose of reading
over his depositions to the said prisoner, in his, the said witness's presence ; ‘and they at
the same time informed this deponent, that the same must be cansidered asan indulgence
to the said prisoner, insomuch as he mizlit not be Yaken by surprise by the evidence of
the said witness on the trial, but this dzponent declided to accept such indulgencs ; and
this deponent saith he hath been informed, and believes, that on Friday, the 24th day of
Nevember last, the said last-named magistrates again came to the said gao!, and, in the
absence of this deponent, imtreduced the said witness to the said prisoner, for the
purpose of identifying him. And this deponent saith, that from thess and other inter-
ruptions, the mind of the said prisoner became so disturbed and discomposed, as
materially to impede this deponent in preparing his defence. And further, a difficuley
was alen, by the intreduction of a fiesh witness, at that late period, thrown upon this
deponent, in knowing what case on the part of the prosecution he should be called upon
to meet.  And this deponent further saith, he hath perused a certain daily newspaper or
journal called The Times, published on the Ist day of November lass, which journal or
newspaper contains a leng relation of rhe circumstances of the mwurder of the late
Mr. Weare, and amongst other things a confession or statement mentioned to have been

pade by Jozeph Hunt, alzo indicted, as this deponent helieves, for the said murder, before
the magistrates who examined him touching the said murder, in which confession or state-
ment the sald Jobu Thurtell is represented to have infermed the said Joseph Hunt,
that he the said John Thurtell had murdered the said Mr. Weare ;. and this deponent
saith, that in the said confession or statement, the following dialogue or conversation is
stated to have taken place between the said John Thurtell and William Proberr, on
their arrival at Probert’s cottage, on the evening when the said murder is supposed to
kave been committed, that is to say, * [ [meaniag, as this deponent helicves, the said
John Thurtell) have seitled that b—— who robbed me of 300L"  Probert said, * Who
d'ye mean ?  What d'ye mean 2”  # Why," said John Thurtell, * 1 mean to say, I
have blown his brains out, and he lays behind a hedge in the lane.” « Nomsense,
nonsense,” said Probert, ** you have never been guilty of a thing of that hind, John
Thurtell ; tf you have, and near my cotraze, my character and my family are ruined
for ever; but I can’t believe that you have been guilty of so rash an act. Here, Hunt,
[to examinant, meaning the said Joseph Hunt, he being then under examination before
the said magistrates,) tzke in the loin of pork, and desire the cook to dress it imme-
diately.” « 1 (meaning the said Joseph Flunt) went into the kitchen and waited until
Probert came in, which, to the best of my knowledge, w:s after a lapse of five minutes.
Before we went into the parlour, 1 said to John Thurtell, (meaning the said Jobn Thur-
tell menticned in the above-mentioned indictment,) you are jesting about killing a man
to-night,”” ¢ Ah, but 1 have,"” was his (meaning the said John Thurtell’s) reply, * and
no one else but Weare, who robbed me of my 300L” And thisdeponent saith, that he
hath also respectively perused the journals or newspapers, called The Times and The
Morning Chronicle, published on the 3d of November last, each of which relates or sets
forth the preceedings and depositions of witnesses on the Coroner’s Inquest, held on the
body of the said Mr. Weare, containing amongst other things a statement, entitled
® Hunt's Cenfession,” in which the said John Thurtell is represented to have told the
said Joseph Hunt, that he the said Jobn T hurtell had murdercd the said Mr, Weare 3
and also a statement by William Proberr, who is also indicted for the said murder, in
which las:-mentioned statement is related the following conversation or dialogue, said by
the said William Probert to have passed between him, the said William Probert, and
John Thurtell :—% About 9 o’clock, we (meaning the said William Probert and Joseph
Hunt) left here, (meaning the Artichoke public-house, in or near the village of Elstree,)
and went to near Mr. Phillimore’s lodge ; Hunt said, I must wait here for John Thur-
tell, and you may go on.” 1 (meaging the said William Proberr) got within a hundred
yards of my house, and then 1 met Jokn Thurtell.  He (meaning the said John Thur-
tell) said,  Where is Hunt 2" 1 (meaning the said William Probert) said, % I have left
him on the road waiting for yow.” He (meaning the said John Thurtell) said, “ You
must drive back then and fetch him, for I have killed my friend and don’t want him.™
And this deponent saith he believes that the said William Probert, in representing such
his statement or confession, that the said John Thustell had used the words 1 have
killed my friend,"” meant it to be understood that he, the said John Thurtell, had
informed him, the said William Probert, that he the said John Thurtell had killed the
said Mr. Weare. And this deponent saith he hath perused the said newspaper or
Journal called The Times, published on the 4th of November last, in which is set forth a

C
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farther statement or eonfession made by the said Joseph Hunt, containing amongst other
statements tending to show that the said John Thurtell murdered the said Mr, Weare,
the following passage :—* I (meaning she said Joseph Hunt) forgot to tell yon some-
thing. On the return of Thurtell (meaning the said John Thurtell) after the body was
removed from the lane and sunk in Probert’s pond, Thurtell produced the reader, (flash
for note-case,) out of which he took three five pound notes, and also a purse, from which
be took four sovereigns ; he gave Probert and myself (meaning the said Joseph Hunt)
six pounds each, as our share of the property found. He then burnt the note-case and
the purse ; he also burnt a betting-bock, a red one, At the request of John Thurtell, I
purchased in Hind-street, Bloomsbury, a $ack and some cord, which went down in Thur-
tell's chaise.  Further, John Thurtell told me, when describing the manner in which he
had tackled with Mr. Weare, that at one time he had nearly mastered him and got
above him, upon which he (meaning the said John Thurtell) took out his knife and cut
his throat, the blood of Mr. Weare in consequence came in his fage and into his mouth
in such quantities that he was nearly choked ; it was in consequence of this that he
was seized with sickness at supper, and could not eat any pork ; after he had cut
Mr. Weare's throat the unfortunate gentleman's strength failed, and he threw him off ;
he then took his own shawl, and wrapped it round the neck of the corpse, to prevent
the effusion of blood.” And this deporent saith, that The Morning Chrenicle of the 5th
of November contains the following passage (amongst other things)—% The Murder of
Mr. W. Weare.—Further and latest Particulars.”—¢% On his (meaning the said William
Probert’s) arrival there (meaning his, Probert’s cottage) he saw John Thurtell, to whom
he mentioned that he had lefc Hunt waiting for him, on which Thurtell said, * Oh, I
have done the trick without him ;" meaning, as this deponent believes, that he, the said
John Thurtell, told Probert that he had murdered the said William Weare without
Hunt's assistance, and in the said last-mentioned number of The Morning Chrenicle is
the fﬂllﬂwing passage :— It would seem from inquiry on the spot, that John Thurtell
drove Weare past Probert’s cottage, down Gill's-hill -lane, as he was seen inaturningin the
lane at 8 o’clock by a man who noticed the distressed state of his horse, Thurtell had then
got out of the gig, and seemed to be feeling in the breast of his great coat for some-
thing (now supposed to be the pistol); and it is believed, but for the interruption he
received, he would have effected his purpose on this spot. Finding himself disturbed
here, however, he drove on down the lane till he arrived at the place where the dreadful
tragedy took place. This was about 8 o'clock, as Fresman and his wife, who heard the
report of the pistol, followed by the groans, and the man who met the parties, both agree.
The scene of action was nearly half a mile from Probert’s house, and after the murder
was accomplished, the victim was drawn through the hedge into a lurnip-ﬁcld, where the
body remained till it was subsequently removed to the pond in the garden. The bushes
in the hedge, the maple-tree close to the spot, and the fence, all bore marks of blood,
which have been since cut off by the curious visiters. The lane in which the deed was
done would not admit of two gigs to pass, and has a singularly wild and romantic appear-
ance, being overshadowed with trees. Men are mow engaged in widening it, and the
gl‘;ﬂ'ﬁ through which the body was taken has assumed quite a different appearance. After

urtell had committed the murder, he must have gone to the end of the lane before
he turned his horse. This was not more than a distance of 200 or 300 yards.”” And
this deponent saith, he hath perused the said newspaper called The Times, which was
published on the 5th of Nozember last, and hath extracted the following passage from an
an article therein, headed, « The Murder of Mr, Weare.'—¢ It would appear from
what has been stated by one of the prisoners (Hunt) that a desperate struggle took place
between John Thurtell and Weare befere thie latter was completely overpowered. Hunt
says that John Thurtell shot Weare whilst he was sitting by his side in the chaise,
Thurtell had intended to blow out the brains of his victim, but the ball struck upon
Weare's cheek.bone and stunned him, upon which the assassin threw him out of the
chaise ; when Weare fell upon the ground, he recovered in some degree from the effects
of the shot, and got up and ran a few yards. Thurtell then jumped out of the gig, ran
up to Weare, aud drove the barrel of the pistol into his head. Weare closed upon hiz
amaillant, and, to use Hunt's words, ¢ a sharp scufile took place, and Weare was near
getting the better of him once or twice, until being at length exhausted, Thurtell suc-
ceeded in cutting his throat with his penknife.’ Hunt was asked how he knew all this,
he answered, ¢ Why Jack (meaning the said John Thurtell as this deponent belicves)
told me himself.”” And this deponent saith, he hath pardy perused the said journaly
called The Times, published on the tith of last November, which contains an article undex
the title, * Murder of Mr, Weare,” from which the following is an extract :— Hunt
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is equally earnest in his asseveration of innocence of the crime, and, together with Pro.
bert, denies any knowledge of the dreadful occurrence until apprised of the murder by
Thurtell himself, when (as has been already srated) he solicited permission te conceal the
dead body in the pond of the cottage.”” * And this deponent saith, he hath partly perused
the said journal called The Times, which was published on the 7th day of November last,
in which is an article headed ® The Murderers of Mr. Waare,” giving an account
amongst other things, of further evidence adduced against the said John Thurtell, and
evidently holding out to the public that the said John Thurtell is one of the murderers
of the said Mr. Weare. And this deponent saith he hath perused the said journal
called The Times, published on the &th day of November last, wherein he read an article
headed « Murder of Mr. Weare,” from which the following is an extract:—# It is
alleged that on Sunday, when he [meaning Noyes, one of the witnesses for the prose«
cution,) went down to Probert’s cottage after tire murder, he was informed by the mur-
derers (meaning, as this deponent believes, the said John Thurtell, Joseph Hunt, and
William Probert) that they had done the deed.” And this deponent saith, he hath read
in part the said journal called The Times, published on the 10th day of November last, in
which is an article headed % Murder of Mr. Weare,”” containing a statement said to
have heenmade by Mrs. Probert, in which she says, that * she saw Hunt and John Thur-
tell enter the garden from Gill’s-hill-lane, Hunt had a light in one hand, and with the
other was assisting Thurtell in dragging along some heavy substance ; that she could not
see what 1t was, but it was something very heavy, and was enveloped in a sack ;' and
also containing a statement made by the zaid Thomas Noyes, as follows :—% That in a
conversation with his (the said Thomas Noyes’s) sister, Mrs. Proberr, she told him, the
said Thomas Noyes, that she saw Hunt, Thurtell, and her hushand dragging the body of 2
person across the grounds, and that Mr. Probert and Thurteli were the persons who had
hold of the corpse, and that Hunt only held the candle;’" and also containing the
examination of Charles Tetsall before certain magistrates of Hertfordshire, which said
Charles Tetsall is, as this deponent is informed and believes, bound over to appear as a
witness for the prosecution against the said John Thurtell on his trial at the approaching
assizes for the county of Hertford for the murder of the said Mr. Weare; and this
deponent saith he hath perused the said journal called The Times, published on the 11th
day of November last, in which is an article headed “ Murder of Mr. Weare,” under
which is given a statement purporting to be *¢ An Outline of the London Life of John
Thurtell ;" and this deponent believes it is intended thereby to connect the said John
Thurtell as the murderer of the said Mr. Weare; and this deponent saith he hath
partly read the said journal called The Times, published on the 12th day of November
last, in which is an article headed % Murder of Mr. Weare,” from which the following
is an extract :—* Now, as the supposition is that Hunt and Thurtell, while sitting up on
that night, burnt the clothes which they had previously cut from the body of the mur.
dered man, (meaning, as this deponent believes, the said William Weare,) it is not
impossible but the ashes might disclose seme fragments of bone or metal buttons, which
would establish the supposition already entertained.” And this deponent saith,he hath
read the said journal called The Times, published on the 13th day of November last, in
which is an article headed “ Murder of Mr. Weare,” and commencing as follows :—
# The situation of Thurtell, Hunt, and Probert, in Hertford gacl, continues under the
same rigcrous surveillance and restraint. Two prisoners remain in the room of each,
to act, not as attendants, but extra guards ; and owing to seme improbable notion that a
rescue was intended, additional watchmen have been provided within and without the
walls of the prison. The precautions display the laudable desire of the magistrates to
secure the guilty culprits.” And this deponent saith he hath read partly the siid journal
called The Times, published on the l4th day of November last, in which is an article
headed “ Gambling-house Murderers.”” “ Two prisoners remain in the room of each,
to act, not as attendants, but extra guards ; and owing to some improbable notion that a
rescue was intended, additional watchmen have been provided within and without the
walls of the prison. The precautions display the laudable desire of the magistrates to
secure the guilty culprits ;" evidemly giving it to be understood that Thurtell, Hunt, and
Probert are the gambling-house murderers of the said William Weare, And this de-
ponent saith he hath in part perused The Morning Chronicle of the Gth of last Novem-
ber, in which is an article headed * Murder of Mr. W, Weare,”" from which he has
extracted the following passage :—#% It is not a little singular that on the day on which
Thurtell and Hunt perpetrated the murder of the unfortunate Mr. Weare, the father
of the former had been re-elected mayor of Norwich.” And this deponent saith, he
hath in part perused The Morning Chronicle of the 7th day of November last, in which
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s an article headed “ The '\Iurder of Mr. W, Weare,” from which the following is an
extract :— Indeed suspicions exist that the murderers, (mesning, as this deponent
believes, the suid Jobn Thurtelly Jeseph Hunt, and William Probert} sfter the deed had
been cnmmmed, waited untit the family had retired to res.t, md then brought the hui:,r to
Probert’s house, when the ceremony of stripping took place.”  And this deponent saith,

~ be hath:in part perused the said journal called The Marning Chronicle, of the 8th :!a-.- of

INovember I..!.t in' which is an zrticle headed « The "-.lurfier of W, Weare, Esq."™ éon-
taining the examiuation of Mr, Tetsall, who is, as this deponent is informed and believes,
a 11.-5“:1:55. on the part of this prosecution ; and the said last-mentioned newspaper also
contains three plates, representing the facts of the said supposed murder of W. Were, as
the same were detailed by the several witnesses before the coroner, at the inquest on the
body of the said Wm. Weare. And this deponent saith, that the first of such plates
is headed—% Plate 1. Probert’s Costuze and Garden,” and. represents Probert’s
eottage and garden, in which are the fizures of three persons, intended, as this dépo-
nent believes, to ranew-.nt the said John '} ‘hurtell, Joseph Hunt, and Wm. I-"mher:
two of whom are, as this deponent believes, in the act of dragging lh!‘.' body of the ta'd
Wm, Weare from one part of acertain pm*fd represented in such plate, to the other
part thereof, whilst the other of the said prisoners is represented to be at a short dis-
tance from the other two with his hand on a spade, mentioned, in the confes:ion of the
said Joseph Hunt before alluded to, to have been taken dawn to Probert’s cottaze by the
zaid John Thurtell, for the purpase of Lur}m" the szid William W f:"n:, and this de; n0-
nent saith, that tIu: second of such plates is entitled, ** Plate 2—The scene of the
murder in {_nll s-hill-lane,” in which a person, mtended, as this deponent believes, to
mean the said John Thurteil,is represented as drageing the Ledy of & dead man, intended,
as this deponent believes, to represent the said William Weare, through the hedge,
whilst the horse and gig, intended, as this deponent believes, to represent the liorse and
gig mentioned in the evidence before the coroner te be the same in which the said John
Thurtell left London, and represented to be standing in the said lane, called Gill’s-hill-
lane, close by the person intended to represent the smi Johin Thurtell 3 and this devo-
nent, John Helme, for himself saith, thac he hath perused the Aforning Chronicle pub-

lished on the 10th of November last, in which there is an ancedote represented as being
related by the said John Thurtell, of himself, in these words (that is to say) “ He

(meaning the said Thurtell) was with tlie English at the storming of St. Sebastian, and
when they entered the town, he (1meaning the said John Thurtell) saw a' Palish officer
in the I'rench service leaning against the wall, seemingly done up with wounds and hard
work. 1 (meaning the said Tohn Thurteli) thought by the leck of him, he continued,
that hie was 3 Nob, and must have some biunt about him, so I just tucked vp my sw o
in his ribs and settled bim, and found a hundred and fur:jr doublocns in the |1£r-.]- et—a
good Looty was'nt it Jce.’ turning to Hune, who assented with a loud laugh, and
another fag-end of a song ;" the relation of which said anecdote is, in this deponent’s
judgment, calculated to create a prejudice against the =aid John "Thurtell, and to induce
the reader to indulge an idea of the cnpnl:i.li..j of the said John Thurtell of uammiu'.:'g
murder. And this deponept saith, that he hath perused the Rlorning Chronicle, pub-
lished on the 11th dav of ‘Jmemher last, in which thereis the paragraph, entitled ©* The
murder of W, Weam, Fsq."” and in which said paragraph it is stated, that * A curious
scene was exhibited in Manchester-buildings on Saturday last, in econsequence of Jolinzon
the messenger of the commissioners of bankruptcy breaking into the premises lately
occupied there by .Y, Thurtell. Nearly 200 persons were assembled, and an entrance
being obtained, there was a diligent search made for any property which might be there
deposited. ll.erf: was very little furniture in the house ; but there were several parcels
of goods, glass, quart pets, &c. found, which no doubr had Deen obramed under false
pretences ; but the value, hewever, was not more than 504 Among other things found
in the p-aﬂuur, were a pair of immense dumb-bells, weighing eight or nine pounds each.

These were the weapons with which John Thurtell had intendéd to have murdered

Mr. Woods, his rival in the affections of Miss Noyes.”” And this deponent further suith,

that he hath perused the Morning Clronicle of the 13th of November, and hath ex-

tracted the following passage from an article therein, headed ¢ Murder of Mr, Weare: —

James Slack, a dealer in hardware, has also been examined ; he lives in Long-acre, and it

appears thu it was from him the spade was purchased for the purpose of dlggmg the grave

in which the body of the intended victit was to have been buried. Mr, Slack’s descrip-
tion of the person to whom he sold the spade, exactly corrésponds with the appearance

- of Hunt before he shaved off his whiskers. The purchase tock place on the Thursday

before the murder, so that it would seem clear, that not only the murder and the
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mannet of its perpetration, were the sulject of a settled plan, but that the mede of
disposing of the body bad also been decidedly fixed, Connecting these facts with the
meeting of all the parties at Tetsall's before the dreadful deed was committed, they
excite the strongzest gensations of horror, and lead to other suﬂplc:lnm of a painful nature.
We yesterday heard that Leman, the notorious gambler, to whem it is attributed that
lie offered Jehn Thurtell three humlre{i pounds to put Weare out of ‘the way, had sur=
rendered himself to the police at Paris, for the purpose of being sent home.”” And this
deponent further, saith, that in the said last-mentioned paper, there are circumstances
detailed relative to the said charge against John Thurtell, and ameng which it is stated,
that % on: Wednesday morning early, a Mr, John Thurtell was taken vp at the Coach
:md Horses, in Conduit-street, Bond-street, under a warrant from the magistrates at
[atford.  In the room occupied by John Thurtell, a lirge and smail pistol were E}uml,
and some clothes, which were marked. and in some ;\h:ﬂs almost soaked,in blocd 1™ and,
in addition, it was stated, that * Mvr. FHunt, one of the persons who had 'heen apprehended,
had been induced to {Iimluse the particulars of the suspected transaction, when it turned
out, according to his confession, that John Thurtell, one of the priconers, had on.the
Friday evening in question murdered a person of the name of Weare at the spot in Gill's-
hill-Jane, where the two men had beenseeking in the hedge 3 that the body of the mur-
dered man was first of all on Friday evening disposed of in a pond in the grounds belpnging
to the house occupied by Probert, and lay there till Monday, when it was removed to a
pond two miles distant, and there thrown in and left.”” And in the same article it is
further stated, that * on the person of John Thurtell was found a pistol, the fellow of
the one ]i;Lf.-EI up in the lane. In his waistcoat pocket were ten swan-shot, a pen-
knife, and a pistol key. The pen-knife was identified by Mr. Rexworthy as the pro-
perty af the deceased, and he saw it in his pessession on the Friday when Mr, Weara
left Londen, Mr. Ruthven, the officer,also produced on the Corener's Incuest a muslin
handkerchief marked with blnml, a black waistcoat marked with blood, as if & bloody
hand bad been thrust into one of the pockets of u coat, which was marked with blood
in several places, all of which were found on Johin Ilrune!l or in his possessicn, In
Mr. Probert’s stable, a torn and bloody shirt were found on Thursday, with the initials
of the deceased, and it was of the szame make ns a shirt found at John Thurtell's lodzings.
The gig, which was hired for Johin Thurtell and himself by Hunt on Monday, and
which was used to convey the dead body, was cbserved, when cariicd home, to be
stained with blood. Mrs, Probert is understood to have deposed, that she saw from the
window of her room Hunt helding a candle, and Jehn Thurell drawing 2 corpse along
the ground ; that she J:1e-n:‘! the conversation between her husband, Thurtell, and Hunt,
about tlmnng the money.” And it is further stated in the said list-mentioned pa
that * before leaving London on the Friday evening, it appeared that ‘Thurtell and ]-Iur,t
had agreed that the latter should be put down by l*rﬂlzc rt at a certain pluce called Philli-
more sﬁludﬂe, which aceordingly tecok place, and that Probert then drove on to his own
house. Here he met John Thurtell, by whose directions he went back for Hunt, and
brought him back to the cottage in the gig. The presumption therefore is, that the
murder and the whole scheme for carrying it into efifect was planned (and was to be
executed) by Thurtell and Hunt conjointly. Owing, however, to Hunt being later than
the appointed time, which again was owing to stopping and drinking on the road,
Thurtell performed the whole deed himself. From the state of *IH: body there is reason
to believe that the first assaule was firing 2 pistol at Mr. Weare’s head, and the cheek-
bone turned the ball aside ; that afterw ards his skull was fractured by repeated punches
with the mugzzle of a Plhtﬂl ; and that, finally, his throat was cut when Le was l:,rmg on
and grasping his assailant. After he was murdered, Thurtell drzgged the corpse through
hedge, and left it. lying there till the arrival of l’ro!:er: and Hunt, when all the tkree
went down the lane, and removed it, carrying it and throwing it into the pond, close to
Probert’s house. On Menday nizht John Thurtell and Hunt went down to Probert's
again, and with his assistance the body was raken out of the pond, put into a gig,
carried away a distance of nearly two miles, and thrown into the plice where it was
found.”' And this deponent further saith, that he hath perused the Murning Chronicle
published on the 14th of November last, and that he read therein an amr:Ie entitled
# Murder of Mr, Weare,” and from Whlch said article this depenent made the t'ul'Em'.'m-r
extract :—* It is remarkable that Mr, Weare's watch, which John Thurtell exhibited
to his associates on the night of the murder, has not yet l:een discovered, althourh the
most diligent search has been made for it in all directions.”  And this deponent further
saith, that be hath perused the Morning Chronicle puhlnsucd on the 12th of Navember
Jast, and from an article, entitled Mnr{.er of Mr, Weare,” he has made the following
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axtract :—* Evidence has been obtained which carries Mr, Weare fiom his own
chambers to Cumberland-street, New-road. In Cumberland-street he is met by a tall
man (believed to be John Thurtell}, who assists him in removing his things to a_house
which it is presumed was the same taken in the name of Brown. He is here lost till
shortly after seven o'clock, when two men are met driving in a gig very fast towards
Elstree, near the ninth mile-stone on the Edgware-road., One of these men is recog-
nised to be John Thurtell : the other there is every reason to believe was Weare.” And
this deponent saith, he hath been informed, and helieves, that above 7,000 copies of the
said journil, called The Times, and 3,000 of the said journal, called the Morning Chronicle
are respectively printed dai'y. And this deponent further saith, that having seen in
circulation, and stuck vp in different parts of London, publications, appearing to this
deponent to be similar to a certain play-bill produced and shown to this deponent at the
time of swearing this, his affidavit, and marked with the letter (A); and on one of these
having teen delivered to this deponent, he, this deponent, thereupon proceeded to the
Surrey Theatre, in the county of Surrey, and this deponent examined the said exhibit
marked A with a similar paper and advertisement stuck up against the portico of the said
theatre, and he saith, that the said exhibit A, is a counterpart or duplicate thereof; and
this deponent saith, he hath been informed, and believes, that the said entertainment
or performance announced in the said exhibit was performed on Monday evening last,
the 17th day of November instant ; and this deponent, Francis 1. Fenton, saith, that
he, this deponent, went on the evening of the same 17th day of November, to witness
the performance of the said spectacle, called The Gamblers, for the purpose of seeing the
gircumstances and nature thereof ; and on entering the said theatre, bought of one of
the persons in the avenues of the said theatre, whose employment appeared to be to sell
the play-bills of performance at the said theatre, a smaller play-bill or advertisement to
the same effect as the said exhibit (A}, And this deponent saith, that the incidents in
the said spectacle or entertainment are very similar to, and indeed parallel with, the
occurrences detailed in the evidence given before the Coroner, on the inqguest on the
~ body of the said William Weare, except that the scenic representation appears to ex-
culpate one of the supposed murderers at the expense of the other two; and this depo-
ment is confident that one of the persons in the meledrama or exhibition is intended to
represent the said John Thurtell ; and this deponent saith that there was a crowded
audience during the said performance, who appeared to be much excited, and expressed
great and peculiar applause when the officers seized the person, who, as this deponent
believes, was intended to represent the said John Thurtell ; and saith, that the said en-
tertainment or performance is evidently calculated to prejudice the public mind with
regard to the trial about to take place of the said John Thurtell, for murder. And this
deponent, F. T. Fenton, saith, that an application was made in the Court of King's
Bench, for leave to file a criminal information against the proprietor of the said theatre
for a misdemeanor, in exhibiting the said performance, called * The Gamblers,” founded
on affidavit, setting forth the facts immediately above deposed to by this deponent, and
the said Court thereupon granted a rule to show cause why such eriminal information
should not be filed against him, which rule the said Court afterwards made absolute.
And this deponent, John Helme, further saith, that he, this deponent, has been in-
formed, and verily believes, that upwards of 10,000 copies of thz book or publication
hereunto annexed, marked B, have recently been sold and distributed, and that upwards
of 5,000 copies of the maid work have been sold and circulated in the county of Hert-
ford ; and thereupen this deponent, by the direction of the said Francis T. Fenton, on
Saturday, the 22d of November last, went to the printing-office and shop of Joseph
Edgerley, No. 76, Fleet-street, London, printer and publisher, in which said office and
shop the said Joseph Edgerley then did and still doth carry on the business of printer and
publisher and seller of books, and as such printer and publisher hath printed, published,
and sold a great number of the books and publications similar to that hereunto annexed
and marked B, and thereupon this deponent on the same day purchased of a young man
in the said printing-office and shop, who is a brother of the said Joseph Edgerley, and
also his apprentice as such printer, as this deponent is informed and verily believes, the
book, publication, and narrative, hereunto annexed, marked B, and paid him for the same
one shilling ; and which said book, publication, and narrative, this deponent verily be-
lieves the said young man was authorized by the said Joseph Edgerley to sell for him, in
the way of his said business of printer and publisher ; and the said young man at the
same time, in the said printing=office and shop, told this deponent, that the said Joseph
Edgerley had sold at the said printing-office, upwards of 5,000 copies of the said work 3
and that he did not know how many were sent into Hertfordshire to be sold there ; and
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the whole of which information this deponent verily believes to be true; and this
deponent further saith, that he at the same time observed in the said printing-office a
reat number of hand-hills or advertisements similar to that hereunto annexed, marked
; and the said young man, in the said printing-office, on the same day, gave and deli-
vered to this deponent the same hand-bill cr advertisement hereunto annexed, marked
C, and which was, and is, as this deponent is informed and verily believes, printed by the
said Joseph Edgerley, as an advertisement of the said hook or publication, a copy whereof,
marked A, is hereunto annexed ; and this deponent further saith, that he did, on the
24th day of November last, purchase two more copies of the said work, marked A, and
precisely corresponding with the same, in the said printing-office and shop of the said
J. Edgerley, of a youth there, who, this deponent verily believes, was authorized by the
said J. Edgerley to sell the same ; and which youth gave this deponent the said twe
last-mentioned copies, and also gave this deponent two other hand-bills or advertisements,
similar to the said advertisement hereunto annexed, marked C. And this deponent
further saith, that he did, on the said 22d day of November inst, purchase another copy
of the said work, which is also hereunto annexed, marked with the letter D, of a shop-
man of Messrs. Wm. Sherwood and Thomas Jones, in their shop, No. 20, Paternoster-
row, in the said city, in which said shop this deponent further saith, that the said Wm.
Sherwood and Thomas Jones at that time and ever since, did exercise and carry on the
trade and business of booksellers.  And this deponent saith, that it appears by the title-page
of the said books respectively, that the said Joseph Edgerley is the printer and publisher
thereof; and this deponent verily believes he was and is the printer and publisher thereof 3
and that the said work was sold by the said W. Sherwood and Thos. Jones, at their said
shopin Paternoster-row. And this deponent further saith, that he did, on the said 22d day
of November instant, purchase a copy of another book or publication hereunto annexed,
marked with the letter E. of the shopman of Messrs, William Sherwood and Thomas
Jones, at and in their said shop in Paternoster-row. And this deponent saith, that it
appears by the title-page of the said last-mentioned publication, marked E, that Messrs,
Sherwood, Jones, and Co. are the publishers thereof ; and this deponent verily believes
that the said William Sherwood and Thomas Jones are the publishers thereof.  And this
deponent further saith, that he purchased the said bock hereunto annexed, marked D
and E, in the said shop of the said William Sherwood and Thomas Jones, in the usual
course of their business, and that he verily believes that the said William Sherwood and
Thomas Jones fully authorized their said shopman to sell the said books, marked D and
E, to any person who should propose to buy;the same. And this deponent further saith,
that he hath been informed, and verily believes, that 3,000 copies of the said last-men=
tioned book or publication, marked E, have been printed and distributed. And this de~
ponent further saith, that he hath partly perused the books and advertisements hereunto
annexed and marked respectively with the letters B, C, D) and E, and that in each of the
said works are contained statements, not upon ocath, the plain deduction from which is, that
the said John Thurtell, who so stands committed, as aforesaid, was guilty of the murder,
of which he so stands charged ; and also that he had intended to murder one Mr. Woods
and one Mr. Beaumont, in the said annexed books mentiored, and hath been in other
respects a person of infamous character ; and to the best of this deponent’s judgment the
said publications respectively are calculated to create a very strong prejudice in the publie
mind, and to prevent the said John Thurtell from having a fair trial for the oftence for
which he so stands committed, as aforesaid. And this deponent saith, that an application was
made to the Court of King's Bench for a rule to file a criminal information against the
said Joseph Edgerle;r, William Sherwood, and "Thomas Jones, for a misdemeanor, in puh=
lishing the said books and advertisements, and the said Court granted a rule nisi to show
cause why such criminal information should not be filed, and on the said defendants
showing cause against such rule, the said Court made an order, a copy of which is here-
unto annexed, marked with the letter F. And these deponents, Francis Tarrant Fenton
and John Allen Adamthwaite, for themselves say, that on the 2ith day of November last,
they, these deponents, went to Gill's. hill cottage, in the parish of Aldenham, in the said
county of Hertford, and there purchased the exhibit hereunto annexed, marked with the
letter G.  And these deponents say, that the person who sold the said book, marked G,
to these _ﬂannents, informed these deponents that he had sold about ten thousand copies
'?fthﬂ said book ar Gill’s-hill cottage aforesaid, which information these deponents be-
lieved to be true; and this deponent saith, that on Tuesday, the Ist day of December
nst. he, this deponent; saw a copy of the said book, marked G, exposed 1o sale in a
bookseller’s shop in the town of Hertford ; and this deponent, George Jay, saith, that
he did on the —— day of November last, go to Gill's-hill cottage atoresaid, and there
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purchased a copy of the said book marked G, and was informed. by the person who sold
the same, that about 10,000 copies of the said book had been mlﬂ at Gill's-hill cottage
aforesaid, which information this deponent believes to be true ; and these deponents,
John Allen Adamthwaite, George Jay, and Francis Tarrant Fenton, say, that at Gill's-
hill cottage they respectively saw a hand.bill, or advertiscment, of which the said exhibit
is o duplicare, stuck up against the stable belonging to the said cotrage.

Mr. Adndrews then rose. The court had heard the allegations, and was now
able to appreciate the effects which might have been produced in dispara
ment of that purity and entire impartiality ef intention and conduct which
ihe law expected from those to whom it intrusted the execution of its sacred
purposes. Here it was plain that those purposes had been assailed, the
righteous intent of the i::.w defeated, __m‘nF the interests of public justice
grassly ‘endangered by representations calculated to lead to the most unjust
consequences.  And this, too, in a country where it was the boast and glory
of the people that the administration of justice was more pure and impartial
in all 1ts offices and functicns than in any other on the faceof the earth,
That this was so in the execution of all the duties connected with those offices,
Le knew ; and he had also the pleasure of knowing that one great example
was now in his view, of high judiclal oficers who would listen  to nothing,
who refused to have any undersianding for anv matters, connected with the
trial of criminals, excepting such as came in judicial form before the tribunals.
Still, though it was not possible for the enlightened mind of his Lordship,
tried and established as 1t was in right views and babits of searching and
judging, to be affected by such practices as those recited in the afhidavit, it
avas not impossible that the minds of common men should have been affected
by them. Iiis Lordship’s good sense and excellent discernment were safe;
but it must be well known that with commoner men, engaged in less con-
sequential pursuiis, upon an extraordinary case like the present, when all
were greedy of whatever information they could obtain, and every one formed
some opinion upon the information received, from whatever sources derived,
that first impressions once taken, it was next to iropossible to root them out.
He said this m the outset, to meet the remark inade by the court, and to show,
that however bis Lordship’s comprehensive knowledge might secure him
from that danger, the same inference could not be drawa with respect to men
of inferior note, of lower education and less judgment, and much more strongly
did his arzument bear upon the public at large, He reminded the court of
what had occurred yesterday, when he had cccasion to represent that since
the 24th of Octuber, the day on which the terrible circumstance occurred
which gave rise to the present trizls, not ence or twice, but day after day,
things had been published, which, by the request of the magisirates, ought
not to have gone forth—those magistrates continually, but vamly, entrEﬂtl_nE
and requiring of every man seen with a pen in his hand, either not to publis
what was witnessed, or at least to publish every thing fairly. The press had
been tecming, not mere lf with publications of hmts;ud_cmmmita}uccs, such
as the law was supposed to countenance (though for his part he very much
doubited whether the law did warrant the privilege claimed and exercised),
but those facts and circumstances accompauied with comments, reflections,
and criticisms ; all going to fill up the outline of that skeleton, if he might so
speak, of original matter of evidence, and so in the main to prejudge the
great question, which the humanity of the law had reserved for the highest
tribunals—namely, Is the prisoner guilty or not guilty? 1t was a maxim in
this country, that not only must justice be easily obtained, but justice must
also Le speedily obtained ; and as a proof how strongly that principle inhered
in British jurisprudence, they were now sitting under a new regulation, which
the Legislature had devised 1n order to the more speedy attainment of justice.
Tt had fallen to him, notwithstanding, in this country mere eminently fa-
voured than all others with the means of spem‘uly effecting the just purposes

of law, and while acknowledging that superiority and glorying in jt, to show,
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that aceording to the ordinary construction of men’s minds, according ta the
constitution of our common nature, those who wonld I;wfg,l,a?:t_rj the cause
could not come to it, were it now 1o take place, with wnblassed and unpreju-
dicéd minds. He bad before admitted, that so far from the enlightened
mind of the presiding Judge being within this danger, his Lordshipwould have
as great difficulty in rooting out the sound principles which usually guided
him. The difficulty with others was in rooting out the first impression,
thotigh it was of injurious tendency. This was so well ascertained, that in a
recent instance, one Judge, of very great excellence in his rank, had, on ac-
count of general and injurious prepossession, granted the delay required on
that very account. Had he not then, good grounds for the application now
submitted?  Having shown that of 10,000 copies of a work most ingeniously
contrived ana got up, 5,000 had been circulated in Hertford county ; that the
books had been brought home to the very doors of those men who belonged
to the classes from wlﬁich the jury in all likelibood would be taken ; and that
the eontents were caleulated to fill the minds of all those classes with disgust
and prepossessions against the prisoners at the bar.  Was human nature not
the same in different parts of the same county ?—was it altered, and if so, how
and where and at what time had the change been worked? When had the
lmlalic mind been disenthralled from that power which the press so dangerously
teld over it?° Was it not in the memory of all present, that a case occurred
in which delay had been allowed on account ol prepossession and prejudice?
Was not that deemed a sufficient reason for granting delay? Tad he not
furnished the court with grounds as .~atmnpi as any which bad been laid before
the court on that occasion, for granting delay ?

Mr. Justice Park. Till when do you ask it? »

Mr. Andrews would come to that point directly. He required that the
trial of this indictment should be put oft till the next assizes ; or if that could
not be granted, for such time as his Lordship, in his excellent judgment
should deem sufficient to remove those prejudices, which, as he had :?huwn,
made it impossible at present to obtain an impartial trial. It was for his
Lordship, and riot for bim, to determine what length of time would be neces-
sary for the attainment of that cbject. He implored particular attention to
the situation of the unfortunate men—shut out from any commupication
with their legal advisers from the time of their commitment until the 20th
day of November, and the press teeming with publications in their prejndice

+the whole time. He knew nothing, nor did he presume to scan the motives
of the magistrates in making that order.  As they were honourable men, he
had a rizht to suppose that their reasons were good ; and, at any rate, he was
convinced that they acted conscientiously, in not suffering legal advisers to
confer with the prisoners. e himself could not understand what reasuns
there could be for preventing any man, imprisoned for any charge, from
enjoying the most unrestrained communication with his advisers and friends.
But it was of more impurtance to observe what had been the opinion of the
Judges upon the subject, when it came to their knowledge. Tmmediately on
hearing of it, they sent down their mandanas, commanding the restoration of
the suspended rights of the prisuners, being persuaded, in their superior judg-
ments, that the suspension of those rights was dangerous to the interests of
Jjustice, and in the highest degree prejudicial to the means which the Prisoners
ought to have to prepare for their defence.  Not only had they suffered from
premature and partial publications in pamphlets and newspapers, and this
suspension of their just and legal rights ; but play-bills and infamous placards
were seen upon the walls of London, blazoned with the most glaring and
attractive characters, calculated to excite curiosity in the readers, :mdg then
to fill them with horror and disgust towards the very men now put on their
trial. And this was mpost part.icu?l:rly effected in the town and neighbourhood
of Hertford——close to the hall of justice, where the attempts ég, pollute her
sanctuary were most of all active. 'Pﬁnpmmmns were bespoke 1a the very
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precinets from which the jury must be taken, in a manner which put it ou
of their power to come to the trial with pure and unbiassed minds. ¢ Dloow

Mr. Justice Park assured the counsel that he had done all in his power to
prevent the effects of any such prejudice, by causing the jury to be sclected
trom the most distant parts of the county. -

Mr, dAndrews was convinced that every thing in his Lordship’s power to do
had been done, so that these trials might be really impartial: but he would,
with - the fullest respect for his Lordship’s endeavours venture to ‘ask, with
what effect? - Could his Lordship judge of that which it would be impossible
to find out with exactness? Could he ascertain to the satisfaction of his own
mind to what extent the prejudices had reached? Could he be sure,inacase
of this extraordinary nature, concerning which all persons were hungry after
information, that the statements which bad been furnished had not carried
prepossessions into the minds of some of those who were called upon to decide
the f‘iu:stiun of guilt or innocenee?  One of tie ablest men that ever lived,
whether considered as a statesman or a philosopher, found oceasion to say,
“ Let a story which is fulse and ineredible be repeated every day for a year, in
the ears of a man who at first refuses to give credit to it, and by the end of
the time he will believe it.”  Apply this maxim of the great Burke to the
ordinary oceurrences and events of life—apply it to this most remarkable
vecurrerice, and how fearful the consequences! One man, a little better
read in the statements, or a little more conceited as to his knowledge: of
them, meets the company in the evening, and fills his inquisitive and more
1iznorant neighbour with fearful apprehensions. These were the grounds of his
application for delay—there wust be time given to root out the present pre-
I:uh'*:f_‘E.‘:'-]:UIIE- and lively disgust raised against the prisoners, before they could
e justly tried. Was he to be asked for instances in which such delay had
been granted, there had been one occurrence of the kind lately at York, in
which the Judge now presiding in the other court, had thought that the
%munds which he now alleged were so important as to justify postponement.

le had proved enough, in showing that undue courses had been taken in re-
gard to the prisoners, and that there was probability that the poison of misre-
presentation had crept into the minds of those who were to pass their verdict
upon their lives.

Mr. Justice Park =aid, that if the learned counsel meant to assimilate the
case at York with the present, he was entirely mistaken in it. The case was
no more like this than any other case which could be mentioned.  In the
York case the most flagrant and direct attempts were made upon the persons
who composed the jury. Bills were printed and handed about the neigh=
hourheod, bespeaking the condemnation of the prisoners ; the streets were
filled with cries to the same effect—such as, “ Make way for the witnesses
against William Mead,” and others as bad, which tended to the most declared
and open perversion of justice.

Mr. Andrews justified his statement by the contents of the reports made of
that case. - L 1l

Mr. Justice Park said, that he could hear of no reports against the autho-
rity of the Judge's notes, which he had read over attentively, : '_

Mr. Andrews said, that he must, with all humility, contend, at least, that
the case showed that prejudicial publications and statements were considered
to be a good ground for the postponement of a trial.  But why need he cite
cases?  Was there ever a case which resembled this, either as to the degree
of public sensation, or the power used by the press in raising and excitingiv?
This was the ground for asking—not but that any juror empannelled mm
be as pure as his Lordship, una, according to the lights of his understanding
and his general capaeity, be prepared to decide as honestly ; but their interior
education, the nature of their circumstances, and every thing that belonged
to their condition, aided in preventing them from rooting out the prejudices
and eelings which the publications must have imparted to their minds, < He
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would appeal t  the court, to hearwhat would be the danger of postponement.
Conld the ends of justice be either compromised or defeated 7 Was the pre-
cedent to-be deemed so dangerous as to require that the application should
be refused? He apprebended not—he apprehended that the gravest duty of
a judge was to administer justice with an c?ual hand, without feeling too much
interest for the prisoner to prevent him from fully considering the interests
of the publics .~ What did he ask but delay, and that only for two short
months? . Coulil the public inconvenience be so great as to justify refusal ?
Could the public miﬁ-::]l?lit:f to be apprehended be a sufficient reason? e was
convinced  this.coulidl not be; because, but for the additional assize which
had been appointed for the general interests of justice, the month of March'
would have been the proper time for these trials. Then look at the situation
of the prisoners: let it be considered how unfortunate they were, besides
being ameng the early instances which fell within the new regulation, in the
setting of such a stream of prejudicial statements against them. He could
not doubt the wisdom of the Legislature mn appointing the third assize; buvit
must be owned, that in this particular case, attended with these extraordinary
circumstances, that which had been designed, and wisely =o, for the interests
of justice, was likely to operate harshly upon them. What other argument
could be brought against his apphication?  “ Why,” it might be said, * do it
now, and you may put any trial off by proving that the facts have been pre-
viously published in the newspapers.” He apprehended that such a case
would not vecur ; he expected that the stage and the press would never he
put in action in the same manner again, to the detriment of public justice.
He expected this consegquence from the proceedings of to-tlay, especially if
the court should assent to the reasons whicly he had adduced.” As it was, he
apprebended that the comments which would be made by his Lordship upon
this most dangerous practice, together with all the various declarations which
were likely to be elicited from other quarters, wounld so operate, that no such
injustice would ever be done again. He hoped that he had shown sufficicnt
grounds for granting the delay which had been asked. -

Mr. Guraey then put in a short affidavit from Mr. Nicholson, the under-
sheriff, denying the expressions attrbuoted to him in the affidavit, and admit-
ting others, which, though but hypothetically, might be supposed to lead to a
harsh conclusion upon Thurtell’s case. ;

Mpr. Andrews thanked his learned friend for the opportunity of showing the
effects which had been wronght, when a gentleman like the under-shenfi, a
man of law, with considerable professional experience, and great knowledze
of the world, could suffer from them. He, beinz a minister of justice and a
legal agent, found the doors of his mind so locked up by prejudice, that he
éould by no means again open them to the operation of contrary conviction,
hut felt himself compelled to pronounce upon the guilt of the prisoner before
he had been hrought to trial.

Mr. Plett spoke in the same argument. It was not enough to show that
inthe case of one or two persons likely to be called upon the jury, there bad
been no prejudice lodged ; nor was it enough that ene or two persons should
feel satisfied that no prejudice had been worked; the public mind, in 'the
general sense of that expression, must be satisfied that the prisoners were
brought 1o a really impartial trial. . To show this was impossible; after the
going forth of garbled stalements, and the publication of heated and prejudi-
cial allusions. - The time which had heen asked was inconsiderable—only
three short months; the object was of the deepest importance to secure tha

urity of justice.. One exemplary instance of the power of these prepossessions

att been but now: furnished to them. He cared not, for his argument,
whether the conclusions of ‘the under-sheriff were hypothetical oronot. Ig
plainly evinced what was to be expected from minds less experienced aml
refined, and therefore less worthy to be trusted. ' Still, he had-a higher an-
thority than that case afforded him, to show the power and extent of the
prejudice, His Lordship had found it necessary, in the exerciseof his great
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Y. sugment, 10 collecta jury from other and more distant parts of the cotnty.
That wasthe strongest argument which could be urged in favour of the apph-
cation.  There was fear in the mind of the Judge that the prisoners would
not,without that precaution, have a fair trial. ' What had the legal advisers of
the prisoners doue to counteract this prejudice?  They had done all in their
power—all which the Jaw empowered them to do, to expose and punish all
the parties engaged in this mode of counteracting the due administration of
Jjustice. From the time when they had cognizance of these transactions, and
from the time when they had access to their client, but eight days of the
term remained unexpired. During those eight days, counsel had been oceu-
pied in filing eriminal informations against the offending parties, against the
ublic press, against the theatres. Now see the advantage of this suspension.
ublic justice will have time to act; another térm will allow the counsel for
the prisoners to undo, as far as possible, the mischief which at present ope-
rates. It is true that under any circumstances, and almost at any time, a
Erfjﬂdi.(:e must exist against the prisoners from what has already occurred ;
ut still, if a reasonable time be allowed for the counteraction of what has
been done, the punishment of the parties who have impeded the course of
public justice will have some weizht in securing an impartial feeling. The
strong arm of the law will have i# force—the intervening time will have had
its weight, and prejudices will have subsided. He did not mean to say that
those who necessarily incurred the imputation of those prejudices, were cul-
able ; indeed, if culpability could be ascribed to them, he knew not where
e could stop in casting the imputation. What individual in the county—
what individual in the kingdom, he might add—had not read, and reading
had not felt, the operations of the statements which had been so injuriously
disseminated ? 1n that very town, of one publication alone, no less than
5,000 l:uHies could be proved to have been circulated : how many mure of
others, all tending to the same excitement, it was impossible to say. In fact,
there was no jury in the kingdom which could now be impannelled, that it
would not be dangerous for the tpri&;ﬂners to appear before; he meant dan-
gerous, from the natural effect of the excitement which had been so unfortu-
nately excited. He did not mean to insinuate that there was any certainty
of an unfair trial, but merely that there was a danger of it. Under such cir-
cumstances, he called upon his Lordship to secure to the prisoner the fair
trial to which, as a British subject, he was entitled. He was not aware that
he could offer any further remarks in addition to those so ably charged by his
learned friend (Mr. Andrews); but it did appear to him, that he could not sit
down without most seriously calling his Lordship’s attention to the situation
in which the prisoners stood. His Lordship, indeed, felt that strongly when
he made the just and true remark in his charge to the grand jury yesterday.
It was not alone the jurors to whom that remark aﬁplied; in fact, there was
not an individual in the county, nay in the whole kimgdom, to whom it had
not reference. He was the more anxious to press these ubservations upon
the court, from the particular nature of the indictment: his Lordship knew,
that this was a case from which, if conviction followed, all mercy was shut
out ; the result was not only easy of anticipation, but solemnly and irrevocably
scribed by the law—eertain execution must speedily follow upon conviction.
Eethe same proportion that the danger of the prisoners was imminent, did
~he ecall upon the court to pause and weigh well the prejudice under which
they suffered. What he asked was not alone on account of the prisoners,
but on account of the public. The administration of the law must not enly
be firm, but also calm and dignified. Of what value then, could any verdict
be, which must be tinctured with prejudice? Tt could tend to no publicad-
vantage, but to quite the reverse. e implored, then, the court to put the
grisuners upon their trial when they could be assured of having an unpreju-
iced jury, as least one unbiassed as far as the nature of the case permitted ;
such 4 jury as, in conclusion, he humbly submitted, the prisoners could not
easenably expect to have at the present moment. ©
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Mr. Chitty followed on the same side. He commenced by impressing
strongly upon the court, the violent effect of the public excitement which
had taken place in this case. That excitement was, from the very nature
of 1ts operation, general.  'Who could draw a line in society, which was to
set limits to the poisoned effect of the publieations which had gone forth?
Who could say where that poison ceased to flow, or where it had not tainted ?
Then bow, he asked, were the prisoners to have that constitutional mode of
trial to which by law they were entitled? The jury empannelled for such a
trial ought to come prepared very differently for the performance of their
duties. When he alluded to the prejudice which so unfortunately prevailed,
and asked the postponement of the trial, he did not mean to say that the trial
ought not to be speedy ; all he desired was, that it should t lace when
the minds of men were able, coolly, and dispassionately to try the indictment,
Criminal informations had already been granted against those who had pre-
Judiced the public mind against the prisoners. On what principle did these
eriminal informations proceed !, Upon no other than the probable influence
which necessarily arose out of the acts which these informations impugned.
This was distinetly avowed in a judgment pronounced in the case of the
“ King v, Field.” It was the statement of evidence given before a coroner’s
Jjury, and where no malicious motive could be imputed to the party publish-
g such statement; and where, in fact, those who published it du]ibemu:l:r,
cautioned their readers to exercise their own cool judgment, and not be led
away by a hasty and too implicit perusal.

Mr. Justice Park. What do you read, Mr. Chitty?

Mr. Chatéy. My Lord, I was reading, or about to read, the remarks of
Judges of the Court of King's Bench, upon the case to which I referred, and
particularly what fell from Chiet Justice Abbot.

Mr. Justice Park. You were not here yesterday, indeed you could not well
have been, when I stated to the grand jury my most decided opinion, that
the publication of evidence before trial, of that which must afterwards come
officially before a jury, and especially publishing with comments, was a high
misdemeanor, punishable by fine and imprisonment. I think these were
my words.

Mr. Chitty resumed. He knew well, he said, that such were his lordship’s
sentiments, and that his upright and reasoning mind would reject the in-
fluence of such ex parle impressions ; but he also knew, that with the public
at large the transition from the inflammation of passion to the coolness of rea-
son was gradual. Besides, one half the jury empannelled on the present
occasion, might not have heard one word of his lordship’s charge, and conse-

uently lost the benefit of his humane and just admonition. It was, there-

ore, upon prin_u:'ilple that he urged the protection of his client from the weight
ﬂfflrejmiice which encompassed him. He did not mean to argue the mere ille-
gality of such publications, but to call the attention of the court to the prin-
ciple upon which they were reprehended. Mr. Justice Bayley, also, in the
case to which he had alluded, enlarged upon the great importance of secur-
ing 10 a prisoner a trial without prejudice—free from er purte influence, and
a decision solely founded upon what shall be heard upon his trial. The chief
Justice indeed, upon some occasion, entered pretty largely upon the neces-
sary effect of these ex purte statements, and said, that l.'\'t'.r{ man, who for a
moment reflected upon the operation of his own mind, when acted upon in
this manner, must be instantly struck with the natural effect they produced,
and then, as a probable uence, struck with their mischievous tendency,
Still mere mischievous must these statements be, when circulated with com-
ments, The excitement of prejudice was therefore the principle upon which
criminal informations of the nature he alluded to were grounded. He would
state another case, to shew the unfeeling and unmanly tendency of getting at
conclusions by such basty and irregular strides. It was a case in which a
man’s own counsel felt it his duggm move for the postponement of his tria.
rather than be wnstrumental to ereation of an undue prejudiee, altheuga
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Jolli 4th Term Heports, 285, The case there was an information, whi
had been granted against Mr. Jolliffe, for a misdemeanor, while exercising.
his functions as a magistrate, There was an affidavit, that three days before
trial, the defendant gave the individual three or four printed papers for distri-
bation, which were ealeulated to create an impression favourable to the inter~
pretration of his conduct, and to affix an imputation upon the prosecutor.  In
that case Mr. Jolliffe’s own counsel applied for a postponement of the trial,
and Lord Kenyon entirely concurred in the propriety of the grounds which
were urged ‘on the occasion. But how highly aggravated was the present
case! On the 2d of this very month, in the town in which the judges were at
the present moment sitting, publications violently prejudicial to the prisoners
had been disseminated. If, therefore, instead of the precedents being many
and with him, there had not been any, this he would say was the case which
ought to make such a precedent. No upright Judge could hesitate to admit
such a precedent.

Mr. Justice Park. What is that case in Burrows?

Mr. Chitty said, there were several cases in point, where the prejudice was
much less than it appeared respecting the prisoners at the bar. There were
herp publications on the 2d of December, which were circulated with great
activity throughout the county ; 10,000 at least might be mentioned; and con-
sidering that such publications were lent from hand to hand, it was fair to
infer that these 10,000 publications had had upwards of 40,000 readers. How
could a fair jury be empannelled under such a wide-spreading excitement.

Mr. Justice Park, Consider this—suppose the trial were Fut oft for a
month, what reason have you to suppose that this prejudice will cease?

Mr. Chitty said that theireffect would be diminished by the gradual opera-,
tionof time: the public mind would recover and improve by reflection—a
Jury would appeal to their own fair and unbiassed feelings. Indeed, be was
convinced that the present jury would rejoice at a postponement, which
would make their verdict more satisfactory. 1t he could put the question to
their own breasts, he knew their answer would be—* For God's sake let there
be no supposition prevail against us: let us not put public justice in peril,
by trying a fellow-creature while such a feeling is afloat,” The danger arose

ways—1st, to the prisoner, lest he might be sacrificed to passion: and
2dly, to the public justice of the country, lest a jury might withhold a verdict

of conviction to escape the chance of having their motives suspected. A
short: delay would obviate this serious evil—there would then be the re-
action as well as the action of the public mind. Such was the case in the
trial of +* the King v. Mead,” of all the particulars of which I bave the fullest
recollection.

Mr. Justice Purk, T thought that case was trici at York. ik

Mr. Chitty replied that it was, but some motions were subsequently made
inhie Court of King's Bench, in which he was concerned with Mr. Jones,
and 'he was therefore acquainted with the whele case. In that case, Mr.
Justice Holroyd most unquestionably admitted and enfurced the broad prin-
ciple for which he was now contendingz, and said, * that although mn was
maost important, that charges of a eriminal nature should be tried as s ily
as the interests of public justice permirted, vet <till he thoughtit highly im-,
portant that judges should attend to what would secure to the party accused a
fair and ‘impartial trial: not, indeed, that a corrupt motive might not be.
assigned, but that the excitement of passion should be avoided in the certain
administration of justice. Tt was important that a verdict should not enly be
Justy but satisfactory to the public mind: how was such satisfaction 1o be
assured, unless the motive for the verdict were ss clear as day?!” Lord Coke
had also ably und tealy said, < that it 'did not follow though 3 trial was long
sostpaned, justice ‘wis delayed.” In the present case the most abominable
exettement had been practised.  Not only were the parties held out to the
world as. direotly insplicated i o croel and deliberate murder, but motives

*‘“‘Eﬁ" judica was favourable to himself. It was the case of * e King and,
e,
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wer directly, imputed to them for their conduct, and they were.descnibed as
beir base conspirators. The vilest fabrications were made to destroy before
trizthe character of one of the prisoners (Thurtell). A false and infamous
anclote was circulated of his having, while an officer engaged in the service
of Is country, killed a foe at the siege of St, Sebastian, while yielding and
sining under the agony of a mortal wound. Was not such an anecdote cal-
cuted to arouse against the prisoner the vehement indiguation of every

Brish heart? (Here Mr. Chiy evinced an emotion, which for the mement

affited his uttcrancu[.f Then, again, came the deliberate and infamous story:

of is having provided an air-gun to assassinate Mr. Barber Beaumont ; and
duib-bells o murder Mr. Woods,

At this moment the court was interrupted by the rushing into the gallery
of r or five persons.

ir. Justice II,’m'k ordered them instantly to withdraw, or else he would
covmit them ; and if he adjourned this commission, he assured them, their
imrisonment would last a month, The intruders were with some difficulty
epted,

Ir. 8‘4&&.{{;; resumed, and recurred to the danger of these inflammatory pub-
litions,  No man could, he said, calculate upon the extent of the mischief
wich they had caused. While under their excitement, no man could act
sely as a juror on this trial; and when such was the fact, what danger arose
fim a short postponement, to allow passion and prejudice comparatively to
cuside? The prosecutions which had been instituted in the Court of King's
tnch would correct much of the mischief now in operation, and give a salu-
'y lesson to the public. The novelty of the occurrence would wear off—
iz influence of the day would be mitigated, and the excitement of crowded
adiences by scenic exhibitions would pass away. Ife implored the court,

- the sake of public justice, as well as in mercy to the prisoners, to yield to
s solicitation,

Mr. Gurney said that he was not at all interested in the success or failure
- the motion which had been made by his learned friends. He appeared
1 this occasion only as an assistant, whose duty it was te promote, calmly
ad dispassicnately, the administration of justice. His learned friends who
ere concerned for the })risuucrs had moved for a postpenement of the trial,
hich motion was founded on three grounds, The first of these grounds was,
iat the prisoner Thurtell could not now come to trial fully prepared, because
ifficient time, “and a proper opportunity for arranging his defence, had not
een afforded him, To this zllegation a plain statement of the eircumstances
ould give a full and suflicicut answer. The prisoner was committed for-
vial on the 1st of November, and it was not until the 12th that any applica-
wn was made for professional assistance. On the 13th he was visited by

r. Jay; and on the 14th, an application was made for the admission of .
nother professional gentleman, which was refused. On the 19th, a motion
vas made in the Court of King's Bench, fora rule to show cause why Mr.

Fenton, the prisoner’s attorney, should not have free access to him. The -

ourt immediately granted 2 mandamus, directed to the magistrates of Hert-

‘ord, and calling on them to assign their reasons for the refusal complained

of. 'The instant the application to the court became known to the magis-

trates, and even befure they had acquired that knowledge, complete access
was given to Thurtell’s attorney. Let it not then be supposed that the same
means of defence were not vouchsafed to him as would have been given to
any other individual under the same circurstances. Another ground of com-
plaint was, that one of the magistrates had attended at the gaol for the pur-
lmﬁc of enabling a witness to view the prisoner, for the purpose of identifying
i ; and also, that it was proposed that the depositions should be read over
to the prisoner, to which proposition a decided objection was taken. . Now he
would say, that a more unfounded or improper complaint could not have been
m'.-.dﬂ--ﬁ:}ﬁt, because it was beneficial for the prisoner that he should be maoe

acouainted with the whole charge that was Lrought against him; and next,
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because it was essential to the ends of public justice that he'should be identifiec.
The conduct of the magistrates was dictated by a kind and humane feeling.

Mr. Justice Park, without meaning to anticipate what the bearing of 1
learned counsel's argument might be, must say, that it was extremely im-
proper, on the part of the magistrates, to act thus. Doubtless their conduct
was kind and well intentioned ; but it was certainly wrong.

Mpy. Gurney proceeded. He now came to the third ground—namely, the
ill effect which the various publications on this subject were likely to produce.
He entirely agreed in what had fallen from his learned friends with respect
to the nmature of the publications which had issued from the press on this
oceasion, and which had been so properly commented on by his Lordship.
It was impossible that such publications could leave the minds of those who
read them in the same calm and quiet state in which they would have been
had those publications not gone forth; and he coincided in the opinion of
his learned friends, when they observed that care should be taken, not only to
administer justice, but to administer it in the most satisfactory manner. His
Lordship knew it was probable that he might be called on to sit in judgment
on this case, and theretore he had abstained from perusing those publications,
But he (Mr. Gurney) was bound by no such restraint. He had read those
publications, and he had read them with the greatest pain; for he well knew
that it was impossible that such productions could issue from the public press
without creating an effervescence in the public mind which might possibly
defeat justice, but which, beyond all doubt, must render its admimstration
less satisfactory than it would have otherwise been. He recollected the case
of ““'The King v. Fleet,” which had been referred to by his learned friends;
and the court stated at the close of the case, that it was fitting that the pub-
lications which were there complained of should be laid before the law officers
of the crown. If that had been done, which was perhaps called for on that
occasion, probably they would not have seen those publications on which he
was'now amimadverting, There was no doubt whatever that the publication
of depositions before coroners, and especially before magistrates, which were
calculated to give an undue bias to the public mind, was, as the learned Judge
had said, “a high misdemeanor.” Such publications could not be too
strongly characterized. They were mischievous and impraper. He felt
shame and sorrow when he found that an audience of Englishmen had wit-
nessed a dramatic entertainment founded vpon the late melancholy events.
He regretted that the audience did not put down that performance at once hy
unanimous consent. He was concerned when he reflected that those who
had brought forward so revolting a subject were not driven from the stage.
He wondered how any persons dared to insult public feeling, and to outrage
public morals, by so disgusting an exhibition, at the very moment when the
parties accused were about to be put on their trial. He admitted that the
public feeling had been strongly excited in various ways; and the question
was, whether that excitation had sufficiently subsided, so that the prisoners
might safely proceed to trial. The latest publication on this subject which
was noticed in the affidavits was that of the 16th day of November, Whether
any publications had occurred since that period, his Lordship could not
officially know; neither could he know, supposing publications to have taken
place, what their peculiar character was—whether they were of one descri
tion or of another. It was not for him to give an opinion on this subject ; it
was his duty to leave the matter entirely to the decision of his Lordship, If
his Lordship thought that the public feeling was sufficiently subsided, so that
a jury could come to the consideration uf the evidence with calmness and
temperance (by the exercise of which qualities alone could they do jusuceg,
ne would not postpone the trial ; but if his Lordship felt that the agitationof
the public mind had not so subsided, if he thought that the gentlemen em-
pannelled on the jury would act under any prepossession, however created,
ne knew that his Lordship would defer the trial for such a period as he, in
his wisdom, might deem fit, His learned triend (Mr, Chitty) had adverted
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o a case, where the counsel for the prosccution not merely consented, but
prayed for a postponement of the trial. That was a case where one «of the
individuals concerned had been guilty of sending forth publications which
tended to obstruct the course of justice. 1f those who had instructed him
had been guilty of the publications which were complained of in this case, he
certainly should not have waited until his learned friends had ealled for its
postponement ; he would have certainly called for it himself. His Lordship
was the guardian of public justice; and he felt perfectly assured that he
would administer it purely, without prejudice or bias, His Lordship would
feel that there were parties to be tried for a very grave offence, and he was
well assured his Lordship would give them all the protection which was due
to them. As far as regarded himself, he would not attempt to take away any
part of that protection. Ile should say nothing to aggravate their situation.
All he wished for was, that justice should be administered, and satisfactorily
administered. He now left the matter in the hands of his Lordship, whose
decision, be what it might, would, he was confident, further the ends of justice,
with respect both to the prisoners and to the public.

Mr. Andrews, in teply, observed, that the learned gentlcman was not
opposed to him, but was, in fact, an advocate in his cause. IHe had not
attempted to struggle against the weight of facts which he (Mr. Andrews) had
stated to the court; but had at once admitted that the publications in ques-
tion had created a very strong feeling—had given rise to poweiful excite-
ment—and he therefore censured them in the strongest possible terms. It
was inseparable from our nature, that pullications of this character should
excite ‘strong sensations, and cause a powerful emotion in the public mind;
and when the dates of those productions were looked to, he would only eall
on the learned Judge to ask of himself, whether the operation which they
must have had on the minds of society in geveral, could have ceased and
subsided at the present moment? It his Lordship had any doubt upon this
point, he would call on him to look at the crowds which beset the doors of
the courts—to view the members that thronged the galleries, and who also
filled the body of the court, so as to render 1t difficult for those professional
gentlemen who were engaged in the cause to perform their duties with ease
and satisfaction. e had the learned Judge's own high authority, delivered -
in terms ‘which he would not attempt to amend, that * those who dared to
publish. those polluted accounts were, beyond all doubt, guilty of a mis-
demeanor, and subject to fine and imprisonment.” When his Lordship
admitted that, and when he (Mr. Andrews) stated that they eontinued pub-
lishing such accounts down to this day, then he held that his Lordship’s
opinion must coincide with his own. e contended that those were mis-
chievous publications, and were likely to lead to most mischievous effects.
Why was the publishing these accounts treated as a misdemeanor? Because it
tﬂmi'::d to mislead the public mind. In this case, confessions had been pub-
lished that never were made; and which, even if made, should not have
publicly appeared there with the name of Thurtell or Hunt signed to them.
Had such documents been introduced to the court, his Lordship would not
have allowed them to be read. Why were such publications sent forth
amongst the public? Was it to advance the ends of justice? Noj; it was for
the dirty, paltry gain that belonged to thoese productions which every Sunday
and every daily paper sent forth so unsparingly. If he could not procure a
delay of three or four months, he should gladly receive any postponement
which his Lordship’s charity, consistently with his duty, might incline him
to grant. He appealed to his Lordship’s justice, and to his werciful exercise
of the power with which he was invested. Happily, he felt that he had, the
pleasure of addressing a Judge equally venerated for his moral and religious
teelings as; for his extensive legal knowledze and great ability, . He confi-
dently asked for this delay, because he was convinced that it would answer the
ends of justice. To promote those ends had been his Lordship’s constant and
anxious wish; and a compliance with the request now made by bimself and

L
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his learned friends, would raise still higler the exalted character which his
Lordship had ever maintained. :

Mr. Justice Park said, this application had been made on long affidavits,
and was formed on two digtinet grounds. The one was, that sufficient time
had not been given for preparation.  This, however, was not the fact; for
more time bad really been given than was usually afforded. They a'l must
recollect one of the most airocious cases of murder ever perpetrated in this
country, where tlie offence was committed on Monday, and the culprit was
executed on the Monday following. It was not stated in the affidavits, that
any one witness could not be procured, or that proper assistance could not be
commanded, on account of the shortness of the time, and therefore he could
not on that ground accede to the application.  With respect to the arcuments
of the learned gentlemen who had addressed him on behalf of the prisoners,
he must say, whatever might ultimately come of this metion, that he thought
the cases quoted did not at all apply to the present matter. The proceeding
in the case of * the King and Fleet,” was merely that which every man who
had read a law book, or who was connected with the inns of court, must at
once recognise to be established law, The application was against a printer,
for doing that whiclh was now complained of—namely, puﬁlishing certain
prejudicial statements, and the court acceded to it.  Again, there were the
cases of “ the King v. Follett,” ¢ the King v. Grey and another,” which was
tried before Mr. Justice Holroyd ; in every one of which cases, it was to be
ohserved, the guilt of the publication and dispersion of the obnoxious papers
was brought home to individuals connected with the prosecution, In Fol-
lett's case, an attempt was made to prejudice the minds of the jury azainst
the defendant. The same might be observed in the “King v. Ray;” and
with respect to the * King v. Meade,” which was tried before Mr. Justice
Holroyd. The circumstance to which that learned judge's observations ap-
plied was, that the publications, horrible as they undoubtedly were, were
clearly brought home to the prosecutors. He endeavoured to pervert the
course of justice by publishing placards in the city of York, and by insertin
gross libels in the newspapers.  In these productions, he asserted that the
sovernment was oppressive; that the judges of the land felt no disposition to
do justice ; and that every part of our establishment was corrupt. In short,
a greater body of infamous charges he never saw brought forward than was
contained in that case. It wasa case of a witness for the crown who was
defended by government; and all these ii}uh]il}ﬂtiuhs were issued by the pro-
secutor to corrupt and prevent the due administration of justice. Therefore
it was a case wholly {]i&zrent from the present, since it was not pretended
that those by whom this prosecution was instituted were at all connected
with the puhlir:aliuns complained nf:. IHe must herfa take !e;ave to say, with-
out meaning to reflect on any individual, that he did not think it was a very
wise thing to bring all those papers immediately under the observation of
those who were ]ill?;ely to compose the jury. If their minds were strongly
excited by those publications a month ago, surely they were calculated to
make a deep impression now, and therefore ought not to have been again
forced into notice. He had said yesterday, and he would repeat it to-day,
that nothing could be more disgraceful than publications of this nature.
The trial by jury was the great palladium of public liberty : it ought to be

tected, and nothing should be tolerated that tended in any degree to
weaken or impair it. &t[f, on account of the pruriency of the public mind, or
if from the desire of gain, publications of thns mischievous description were
to be sent out to the worﬁl on all occasions, however grave or important,
justice would, in the end, be defeated. There was a circumstance of consi-
derable importance attached to this case, which he could not pass over. If
the trial were put off, the prosecutors would be subjected to an enormous
expense ; for he observed the names of no less than 55 witnesses endorsed on
the bill, who had been brought here ata very great expense. Still, however,
he would say, that no idea of expense, that noapprehension of judicial lahour
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should interfere to the prejudice of men who were placed in such an awful
situation. e had no appetite to try this cause, but'still he ‘would take care
not to shift the burden from his own shoulders to the shoulders of others;
and if he put oft the case now, he certainly would himself try it at a future
day. He perceived very plainly, that the same difficulty which was now
urged might be urged with [t[tl'di furce at the next assizes, | It might be
stated then, as it had this day been stated, that those improper publications
had been disseminated through the country, and it might Le asserted that a
new jury were likely to be intected with the same prejudices, the existence of
which was dreaded at present. All he had to say and to hope was, that those
who presided over the country, for the guardianship of judicial justice, he
meant the government, would use their most stienuous efforts to prevent
that horrible delay of justice which was productive of so much mischief.
Considering the greatness of the delay, he would not put off the trial till the
next assizes. 1f those people were innocent, as he fervently hoped they
were, why should there be such a delay of justice? “Why should these spe-
cial commissions be appointed at this unusual season of the year, but for the
purpose of ariiving more speedily at justice?  Soine of the causes which oc-
curred were very proper for a special commission.  Indeed, it there were no
other cause to try but the present, it would very well justify such a proceed-
ing. He hoped and trusted that something would be done to prevent the
evils which he had yesterday alluded to as arising from publications similar
to those which bad been recently brought under the notice of the court.
Such publications might injure the accusers in a way which he would not
state, and they might likewise inflict injury on the aceuged. This, however,
he would observe, that in divulging to the aceused all that might be said and
urged against him, you imparted to him a very considerable advantage.
What, however, he lamented was, that by allowing such a course of proceed-
ing, justice was impeded ; justice, it not defeated, was retarded, and there-
fore it ought not to be tolerated. He trusted that those who had erred,
doubtless without intention, on this occasion, would consider the eruelty of
such conduct towards individuals, and reflect on the evil they were conmmit-
ting against society, by adopting a system, the tendency of which was to
paralyze the eflorts of justice. Having said thus much, he would now
adjourn this commission to Tuesday, the 6th of January next ; the prisoners
at the bar most clearly understanding, that he would not, when their trial
came on, lister to any grounds, similar to those advanced this day, tor the
purpose of procuring a farther postpenement, 1If they attempted to put off
this trial again, it must be on new and distinct grounds.  The court 15 now
adjourned to eight o'clock in the morning of the 6th of Junuary next, then to
meet in this place.

The court was about to break up, when, we believe, Mr. Andrews spoke to
his Lordship in a very low tone.

Mr. Justice Park thanked the learned gentleman for having reminded him
of a point which he had omitted. 1t had been supposed that that which
passed in a court of justice was not an unlair subject for publication. But
where an affidavit of the description of that which had been just laid before
the court was produced, repeating all those yeports and rumours that were
complained of, and which had formed the subject of inquiry and discussion
during the morning, it was to be hoped that it would not for the present find
its way beyond those walls. He trusted that the feelings of humanity, of
kindness, and of tenderness, towards the accused, would induce every one
who was within the sound of his voice, to disclaim and to withhold such a
publication.

The prisoners were then removed from the bar, and the court adjourned.
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ADJOURNED ASSIZE, HERTFORD.

WEDNESDAY, JANUARY 7, 1824,

Tue interest excited by the expected trials of the parties charged with the
murder of Mr. Weare, so far from having been lessencd by delay, seems to
have been greatly increased.  In fact, the town of Hertford was infinitely
more crowded than on the former cceasions, when the parties were put to
the bar. At an early hour on Monday afternoon, the roads leading to the
town were thronged with vehicles ot all sorts, which continued to arrive to
a very late hour, and the same bustle was renewed the next morning.
Inquiries of all sorts were made as to the mode of obtaining admission to
the court, and premiums to a considerable amount were offered for the cer-
tainty of such an advantage. The whole arrangzement of the court, how-
ever, beinz under the supervision of the sherilf, these inducements were
without effect, and all those who were not provided with tickets were left to
take their chance with those who, by an early attendance, had to seck en-
trance to the galleries. -

In the course of Monday evening the counscl engaged in the case arrived ;
namely, Messrs.” Gurney, Bolland, and Droderick, for the prosecution;
Messrs. Chitty and Andrews for Thurtell; Messrs, Williams and Phillips
for Probert; and Mr. Thessiger for IIunt. Each party had long consulta-
tions with the respective solicitors by whom they were employed, in the
course of the nighr, and again early this morning. The solicitors also had
long interviews with their respective clients in the gaol. Thurtell was still
unmoved, while Hunt was manifestly a good deal depressed. Probert was
placid, and seemed determined to sulmit to the ordezl he had to go through
calmly, and with as little agitation as his feelings could permit,

OPENING THE COURT.

As early as four o'cleck this morning the streets in the immediate neigh-
bourhood of the court-house were thronged to excess, but frem the darkness
which prevailed, it was impossible to distinguish one person from the other,
except by the voice. Watchmen were stationed inside the area next the
public _door of ingress, to prevent unfair or lmproper obtrusion. © They
walked up and down with their lanterns, and this was the only lizht afforded
till day broka.  Strict orders were given that no persen should be admitted
till seven o'clock. Shortly before that hour, Magistrates and their friends,
and such as had been provided with tickets, bezan to arrive. They obtained
entrance by a private door ; but such was the overwhelming pressure of in-
dividuals anxzious to get in at all bazards, that the utmost exertions of the
constables became necessary to prevent the court being completely filled
at this avenue. The same rush was made at the deor pointed out for
the ingress of the gentlemen of the press and the members of the jury.
All sorts of expedients were adopted to get in, and many ingenious strata-
gems were frustrated. Some asserted they were reporters, others that they
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were witnesses, and others magistrates ; but as those persons could not pro-
duce tickets, or any persons to vouch for their veracity, they were forced
back, thercby creating additional inconvenience to those who were regularly
privileged, many of whom were seriously bruised. Some few were success-
ful by passing as barristers’ clerks, and for once carrying the bags of their
friends in that character, The public were admitted to the galleries at the
time appointed, and the rush which was then made was really alarming,
Cries ot anguish burst from all quarters, but we did not hear of any parti-
cular injury beyond a few bruises. Every scat instantly found an occupant,
and the most expert manager of a theatre could not have packed his audi-
ence more compactly. The body of the court also presented a dense mass
of auditors, whiﬁ: the places set apart for the magistrates and the friends of
the high sheriff were likewise filled to an overflow. During the entrance of
these persons the greatest confusion prevailed, and disputes, arising from
resistance to those to whom the duty of preserving order in the court was
entrusted, were constantly arising.  On no former ocecasion, in fact, did we
witness a more extraordinary desire to be present at judicial proceedings, We
noticed, among others on the bench, Lord Errol, Lord Verulam, Lord Essex,
and Capt. Fitzclarence, There were only four ladies in court; two in the
gallery, and two close to the prisoners. ;

At half-past seven precisely, the officers of the sheriff arrived at the gaol
with a post-carriage, to conduct the prisoners to the court. The prisoners
had previously been shaved and dressed. Thurtell, as on the former oc-
casion, was placed inside the carriage, while Hunt sat on the box. They
had their irons en, but moved with ease. Thurtell was dressed in a dark
frock coat, drab ecloth walstcoat wnh gilt buttons, white corderoy breeches,
and black stock. Munt was attired in a shabby sait of black. The former
looked very well, but there was a gloomy cast on his countenance, while the
latter was pale and somewhat agitated. On their arrival at the court-house,
they were placed in the pound behind the dock, previous to being put to the
bar. They sat at a distance from cach other, and were visited by their re-
spective solicitors. Tnstead of eating a hearty breakfast, as when last up,
Thurtell took but a quarter of a round of toast, and then he seemed to eat
with difliculty. Hunt's appetite was equally bad. Neither of them spoke to
the other.  The prisoners’ irons were knocked off in this court ; and in con-
sefquence of sume difficulty arising while Thurtell’s irons were removing, a

iece of cloth being in the way, he exclaimed passiopately, “ Haven’t you a
cnife?” and on one being pruc]ucm!, he exclaimed, “ That'sthe way, 1like to
use a knife on such occasions,” or words to that effect. They were subse-
quently all conducted to the pound behind the dock. Thurtell had a desk
before him, on which was placed a volume of the Newgate Calendar, an Al-
manack, and some pens and paper, of which he made free use in the course
of the day. ;

Previous to the arrival of the Learned Judge, Br. Andrewsand Mr. Chitty,
Mr. Williams and Mr, Phillips, crossed the court, and procceded to the

risoners, and held a personal consultation with their clients. The object of
Efesssrs. Williams and Phillips’ interview was, we understand, to recommend
to Probert, in any evidence he might be called upon to give, to tell the whole
truth, and every thing he knew tuuchinz the crime imputed to him and his
associates: for if he should take a different course, he was still liable to be
himself indicted and tried—the condition of his being a witniess for the crown
being, that he should make a candid and correet statement of all that came
within his knowledge. ' Prabert promised to abide by this advice, and the
counsel shortly afterwards returned Into court. :

The witnesses who had arrived the preceding night, were now brought fo
the court-house, and placed in a room by themselves. Thomas Thurtell
came down in the care of Bishop, the Turnkey of Newgate, and one of his
assistants ; he was removed, as before, by a writ nfﬁnbcr:s Corpus. DMrs.
Probert was accompanied by a friend, and on being brought into the passage
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of the court, she was greatly affected, and cried with much bitterness ; when
she subsequently heard that her husband had been removed from the bar,
she became more calm.

At eight o’clock precisely, Mr. Justice Park arrived, and with some diffi-
culty was, from the dense crowd on the Bench, enabled to take his seat. As
soon as his Lordship was seated, he gave public notice to the auditory, that
such persons as had seats must be seated, and those who had not must leave
the court, In order to prevent pressure and the stagnation of the air.

Mr. Knapp, the Clerk of the Arraigns, then ordered Mr. Wilsen, the
gaoler, to place the prisoners at the bar.

Mr. Wilson and his assistants withdrew. [A considerable time elapsed be-
fore the prisoners appeared.]

Mr. Knapp desired to know the cause of the delay?

One of the Under Sherifi’s assistants informed the court, that the pri-
soners were having their irons removed.

A delay of at least ten minutes then ensued. The bustle and noise which
had prevailed from the first opening of the court had not yet subsided.  In
this interval, Mr. Jay and Mr. Fenton, the attornevs for the prisoner Thurtell,
having left their client afier the consultation above-mentioned, were strug-
gling to find their way through the crowd, for the purpose of obtaining places
near the prisoner’s counsel, and having reached the pomt intended, and there
being great noise and confusion in the effort;

Mr. Justice Park inguired who were the persons thus increasing the dis-
turbance ?

Mr. Fenton and Mr. Jay respectfully intimated that they were the attor-
neys mn the case.

Mr. Justice Park, with considerable warmth, said, ¢ Nonsense ; it is only
Just to make a fuss; you ought to be here at seven o'clock in the morning.”

Mr. Jay respectiully suggested, that himself and Mr. Fenton had occasion
to communicate with their client.

Mr. Justice Park. You ought to be here early in the morning. It is non-
sense—only just to make a fuss.

Messrs. Jay and Fenton not being able to find acceramodation, and upon
the learned Judge waving his hand, they withdrew to the space between the
dock and the seats allotted to counsel.

The noise, bustle, and confusion still prevailing,

Mr. Justice Park said, If those who have nothing to do with the proceed-
ings will feel for the responsibility of those who have, they will make way.

Several persons occupying the seats appropriated to counsel were ordered
to make way, and some geutlemen at the bar, who do not usually attend the
Home Circuit, having been attracted by curiosity to hear the trial, were
accommodated with seats.  Messrs. Jay and Fenton still remained standing
in the body of the court.

APPLICATION TO POSTPONE THE TRIAL OF
JOSEPH HUNT.

As soon as the prisoners were placed at the bar,

Mr. Thessiger rose, and informed the learned Judgze, that preparatory to
the arraignment of the prisoners, he had an application to make, founded on
affidavit; the affidavit was not sworn, but it would be ready in a few
moments. .

Mr. Justice Park. To what subject does your aplplicatiun relate; is itas to
any thing arising before the last occasion we were here? : Ik

Mr. Thessiger said his application was to postpone the trial of his client
Joseph Hunt.

~Mr. Justice Park. On the former occasion, when a motion was made to
postpone this trial, 1 laid down a rule that 1 would not entertain any further
application for postponement. :
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Mr. Thessiger reminded his Lordship that be bad not been heard at all on
that occasion. '

Mr. Justice Park. Does your affidavit state any matters of fact?

Mr. Thessizer said that his affidavit, when sworn, would be submitted to
the court, and fully explain the nature of the application he was about to
make.

Mr. Justice Park. Why was not the affidavit sworn before? I have been
in this town since yesterday evening, and the affidavit might have beensworn
at my lodzings.

Mr. Thessiger. My Lord, it could not be sworn until your Lordship came
into court, my client being a prisoner.

Mr. Justice Park. That's true ; 1 beg pardon.

During this discussion, Mr. Harmer was employed in engrossing two
affidavits, one to be made by Hunt, and the other by Mr. Noel, the solicitor.

Mr. Gurney. Perhaps Mr. Thessiger will have the goodness, whilst the
affidavits are swearing, just to state the nature of the motion which he pro-
poses to found upon them. :

Mr. Thessiger. The nature of the application I am to make is, that the
trial of Joseph Hunt may be put off, in order to enable him to apply in ano-
ther quarter, upon the promises of favour which'have been held out to him by
the magistrates,

Mr. Justice Park. Will that point be acceded to by the counsel for the
crown ?

Mr. Gurney. I certainly cannot accede to such a proposition.

Mr. Justice Park. But is this a sort of motion which can be entertained
after plea pleaded ?

Mr. Thessiger reminded his Lordship, that on the former occasion he hae
declared that he would not entertain a motion to put off the trial until tne

arties had pleaded. This was a motion to put oft the trial of his client, ana

e apprehended that this was the only proper period at which such an appli-
cation could be entertained. For this proposition, he was fortified by an ex-
press authority.

Mr. Justice Park. State your authority.

Mr. Thessiger cited the case of the King v. Rudd, Leach's crown cases; in
which Mr. Justice Aston said that the motion could enly come before the
court upon an application to put oft the trial, in order to give the prisoner
time to apply elsewhere.

Mr. Justice Park. I have read that case with great attention, and have com-
muned with other persons of my own order upon it, and I don't find that it
was not a inotion made before plea pleaded. Now, whenever a prisoner’s
plea is pleaded and recorded (and here the prisoner’s plea is upon the record),
I apprehend it is impossible to entertain an application of the nature sug-
gested. The plea being on the record, I dare not order it to be taken off, and
therefore you must now go to the crown to attain the object in view. After
the trial, it may still be competent to the prisoner to apply to the crown.

Mr. Thessiger. Unquestionably, my Lord, but still—

Mr. Justice Park. 1 will hear the facts.

Mr. Thessiger dropt some expression, importing that the trial was
hastened on.

Mr. Justice Park. Don't say that. You stated that you had a motion to
make ; you cught to have been prepared before.

Mr. Thessiger. Ican't explain why we were not prepared before.

Mr. Justice Park. I only mention_that the expression hastened on is net
quite correct.

Mr. Thessiger. Iam sure I meant to impute nothing to your Lordship.

Mr. Justice Park. Let the affidavits be read.

The following was then read :— J

“ HerTPORDSHIRE.—The King v, Joseph Hunt on a charge of murder.—
Joseph Hunt, the above-named defendant, maketh ocath and saith, that on
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the morning of Wednesday, the 20th of October last, he was taken into cus-
tody, at his lodgings in King-strect, Golden-square, by Ruthven and Upson,
two police-officers, and conveyed by them, first to Bow-street and afterwards
to Watford, in the county of Herts; and this deponent further saith, that
when he arrived at the latter place, an investigation was going on before
Robert Clutterbuck and J, F. Mason, Esquires, assisted by Mr. Noel, a soli-
citor, respecting a murder then supposed to have been recently committed in
that ncig[;hc-urlmud; and this deponent saith, that during the journey the
officers endeavoured to draw him into conversation, and frequently interro-
gated and importuned him as to his knowledge of the supposed murder ; and
immediately on his arrival at Watford, he was conveyed into the room where
the before-mentioned magistrates and Mr. Noel were assembled, when Mr.
Noel, addressing this deponent, said, ¢ Mr. Hunt, whatever you know of
this murder, for God’s sake tell, in the presence of these magistrates, and
in all probebility you will be admitted as King's evidence.” And this de-
ponent saith, that fearing he might be involved in difficulty, it he made a
disclosure without a full promise of indemnity, he declined making any con-
fession or acknowledgment on the vague promise thus held out to him, and
told Mr. Neel and the magistrates that he knew nothing of the business.
Whereupon Mr. Noel said, ¢ It is clear, Mr. Hunt, that Mr. Weare has
been murdered, and we only want to find where the body is; and if you
know, for God’s sake tellus, and you will be safe” But as this deponent
still denied all knowledge of the circumstance, both the magistrates, Mr,
Clutterbuck and Mr. Mason, said, ¢ Mr. Hunt, you had better retire and
consider the offer made to you, and recollect your perilous situation.” And
this deponent further saith, that he was then taken into another room, and
while there with Ruthven and Upson, Mr. Noel came to him, and, in their
presence, acain interrogated him most minutely, evidently with a view to
obtain a confession; but not succeeding in bis object by this mode of impor-
tunity, both he and the officers most earnestly advised the deponent, for the
sake of his wife and mother, to save himselt' by making a disclosure; and
Mr. Noel expressly said, that the magistrates had given him a positive as-
surance, and had authorized him so to inform this deponent, that 1f he would
tell where the body was to be found, his life should be spared. And this
deponent saith, that Upson then said, ¢ Hunt, you have a mother? Depo-
nent answered, ¢ Yes, he had.” ¢ And a wife also?’ Deponent told him
he had. Ile then asked, ‘ Do you love them?!" Deponent replied, ¢ Yes,
very dearly.’ ¢Then,” said he, ¢ for their sakes, do not risk suffering a
terrible death, but give your evidence immediately ; for if you delay, Probert
or the other may disclose, and then you will be too late, and nothing can
save you.” And this deponent saith, that this mention of hus family creatly
affected him, and Mr. Neel perceiving that this deponent’s resolution was
shaken, repeated the observations and arguments of the officer, and said,
¢ Mr. Hunt, you have now a chance; for Ged’s sake, and the sake of your
family, avail yourself of the offer which is now made to you: for I am
authorized to say that the magistrates will not only admit you a witness
for the crown, but will take care that you are not treated like the other
prisoners; you will merely be confined until the trial to give your
evidence, and then discharged.” And this deponent saith, that having
his feelings worked upon in the manner above described, and fully
relying on the assurances made him of his.being admitted as a witness
for the erown, he consented to make the desired confession. Mr. Noel then
asked this deponent if he knew where the body was deposited. Deponent
answered ¢ Yes, he did; and that he could show the spot, although he could
not name the place;’ whereupon Mr. Noel struck his hand upon the table,
and exclaimed, ¢ That's all we want;” and shaking me by the hand, said,
¢ I am very glad, Hunt, you have taken our advice and saved your own life.
Now come before the magistrates and tell us what you know.” And this
deponent further saith, that he was then taken into the rcom where the
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magistrates were, and Mr. Noel, addressing them, said ¢ Gentlemen, T any
happy to tell you Mr. Hunt is ready to tell you every thing he knows. T
have already informed him that you will admit him as an evidence, but it
may be more satisfactory to him to hear it from yourselves hefore he bégins
his statement ;' and both the magistrates thereupon informed this deponent
that he might safely disclose to them all he knew, and that he should be
received as a witness for the crown.  Mr. Noel then said, ¢ Mr. Hunt, I hope
you are perfectly satisfied with the magistrates’ decision. Now take a seat,
and let us know all about it.” And the magistrate asked this deponent to
take some refreshment before he commenced ; and some brandy and water
was brought to him. And this deponent further saith, that he immediately

mceedet% to relate, in as circumstantial a manner as the exhausted state of

15 mind enabled him, all the facts that had come within his knowledge
relating to the offence in question ; and after his narrative was concluded, he
was leftin charge of the officers until the morning should be turther advanced,
when he was to accompany them to point out the place where the body was
secreted. And this deponent further saith, that as his statement was not
commenced until long after midmght, and he had been many hours previ-
ously suffering great anxiety and perturbation, he accidentally omitted to
mention many circumstances which had taken place, but as soon as they
occurred to his recollection he sent for Mr. Noel and communicated them to
him. And this deponent further saith, that he went with the officers and
Mr. Noel and showed them where the body was deposited ; and it was in
consequence of this deponent’s information alone, that the corpse was disco-
vered. And this deponent further saith, that he was afterwards taken before
the magistrates, when the additional facts which he had communicated to
Mr. Noel and the officers were mentioned, and these were, as this deponent
believes, added to his former statement ; and deponent was, on this occasion,
told, that, as in the hurry and confusion of the night, he had most probably
omitted many facts which he might afterwards recollect, he had only, when
any thing occurred to his memory, to mention it in a letter addressed to the
magistrates, and it should be imumediately attended to. And Mr. Clutter-
buck gave directions that deponent should be treated with Kindness during
his confinement, and provided with every thing necessary for his support.
And this deponent saith, that he was accordingly treated most kindly in his
way to gaol, and likewise during his stay at St. Albans. And this deponent
saith, that he was afterwards brought before the coroner, when the inquest
was holding on the bedy of the deceased, and on that occasion several of the
magistrates were present, who, aware that this deponent had been positively
promised and virtually admitted a witness for the crown, pressed the coroner
to examine this deponent on oath, but the coroner, although he took this
deponent’s statement, declined administering the oath to him.”

The affidavit of Mr. John Noel, Gent., Atiorney-at-law, of Great Ormond-
street, Queen-square, was then read. It stated, that the deponent had been
on terms of intimacy with the late Mr. William Weare ; that, upon hearing
a I:fmrt of a suspicion that Mr. Weare was murdered, he went down to Wat-
ford, and found an investigation going on before the Magistrates, relating to
the supposed murder; that Mr. Clutterbuck and Mr. Mason, who were cne
gaged in the investigation, readily accepted deponent’s assistance therein, and
after being engaged for many hours in ascertaining the circumstances of the
case, and 1n endeavouring to find the body, without effect, it was deemed ne-
cessary and advisable to make an overture to the prisoner Hunt, to induce
him to discover it, and make a full and voluntary confession ; that deponent,
with the sanction and by the direction of the said Magistrates, communicated
the offer to Hunt, that if he would make a full disclosure (provided he had
no hand in the actual commission of the murder) of all the circumstances of
the murder, he would be received as a witness for the crown; that previous
to Hunt's confession, he (Mr. Noel) assured the prisoner, with the approba-
tion of the magistrates, that if he would give any evidence, or make any dis«

F
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closure as to the place wnere the body was concealed, he would be entitled
to a merciful consideration ; that it was the opinion of the magistrates, and
the firm belief of deponent, that unless Hunt had pointed out the budy of Mr.
Weare, it would never have been found; that nobody would have thought.
of examining or searching so insignificant a spot as that where it was con-
cealed, especially as it was at the distance of three miles amd a half from the
place where the murder was committed ; the opinion being, thatit had been
thrown into the Thames, and never would be recovered ; and that deponent.
told Hunt, when he was under examination before the coroner, that thers
would be no breach of faith towards him, and that the magistrates would
keep their promise.

Whilst this affidavit was reading, Mr. Rooke, the Coroner, who was in
court, said he could confirm part of Mr. Noel’s statement.

Mr. Harmer then took his instructions for an additional affidavit on the part
of Mr. Ruooke,

MII'. Thessiger applied for time until Mr, Rooke’s affidavit could be pre-

ared.
! Mr. Justice Park. I can makeno order about it.

Mr. Thessiger said he did not know until this moment that Mr. Rooks
could depose to any fact material to the motion,

Mr. Justice Park then asked Mr. Gurney if he had any answer to the affi-
davits just read?

Mr. Gurney said he was not prepared with any direct answer to these affi-
davits ; but having heard from rumour since the last assizes, that some such
application as this would be made, he had given directions that affidavits for
the crown should be prepared in anticipation of what would probably be ad-
duced for the prisoner. Affidavits had accordingly been prepared, and if his
Lordship was of opinion that the affidavits just read required any auswer, he
was ready to put in the affidavits alluded to.

Mr. Justice Park. If you think proper, in your discretion, to put in the
affidavits vou mention, [ will receive them. It is entirely in your own dis-
cretion. If you don’t think proper to read them, I shall give no direction at
all upon the subject.

At this moment the proceedings were interrupted by the introduction into
court of a person in custody of a sheriff’s officer, charged with making a noise
in the lobby leading to one of the galleries, From the sitting of the court the
greatest noise and confusion had prevailed outside, and Mr. Justice Park had
repeatedly given directions to the officers to bring any person inte court who
behaved disorderly.

The offender, whnse name was John Grozer, a shoemaker in Maidenhead-
street, Hertford, was (upon the complaint of the officer, which was denied by
the former) committed dpuring leasure.

Mr. Justice Park. Don’t let him be in hearing,

Mr. Gurney then put in the affidavits of Robert Clutterbuck, Esq., an
James F. Mason, Esq, the magistrates, which were read by Mr. Knapp.

They stated, that it having Teen reported to them on the 28th of October,
1823, that a murder had been suspected to have been committed in the
neighbourhood of Gill's-hill, they caused to be apprehended certain persons
suspected to be concerned in the said murder; that Jobn Thurtell, who now
stands charged as principal in the murder of Mr. William Weare; J
Hunt, who. now stands charged as being accessary in the said murder;
and William Probert, who lived at Gill's-hill, where the murder was sus-

ected to have been commiited, were brought before them, charged with

eing guilty of the said suspected murder ; that thereupon several witnesses
were brought before them to give evidence, and having given evidence, caused
them to believe that a murder had been committed on the body of William.
Weare, but after considerable inquiry and search, the body could not be
found ; that Mr. Noel was present during the greater part of the time such
witnesses were examined ; that they conceived that Mr, Noel was attending
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as the professional friend of the friends of the deceased; that on the 20th
October, after several witnesses were examined, and their depositions taken,
the said Joseph Hunt was alone interrogated by deponents, but on that occa-
sion nothing was said to him by them importing that if he made a voluntary
confession he would be received as a witness for the crown; that, on the
contrary, about the close of the examination on that day, the said Mr. Noel
stated to them, that the said Joseph Ilunt wished to make a full and free
confession, and give evidence for the crown ; that thereupon Mr, Noel went
out and presently returned, informing them that Joseph Hunt had made a
disclosure of the- parties concerned in the allezed murder; that deponents
said they were ready to hear, if the prisoner was willing to make such
disclosure ; that neither of deponents gave to Mr. Noel any authority to
inform the said Joseph Hunt that if he would merely discover where the
body was, application would ke made to the crown to admit him as King’s
evidence; and both deponents say, that upon the information of the said
Joseph Hunt, and declaring himseif' that he was willing to make a disclo-
sure of all he knew of the murder, he was admitted into deponents’ pre-
sence, and then informed by them, that, provided he made a full disclosure
of every thing he knew concerning the murder, application might be made
to the court at his trial to bave him admitted, but that these deponents eould
not give any assurance that his request would be granted; that the said
Joseph Hunt made certain confessions, and afterwards discovered the body
of Wilhham Weare ; but from eircumstances which bad since come to their
knowledze, they verily believed that in such confessions he did not make a
full disclosure of every thing he knew concerning the said murder; but, on
the contrary, such confession was materially defective and untrue.

Mr. Gurney then said, he must apprize the learned judge that the state-
meunts which were made by Hunt were not made on oath: even the state-
ment before the coroner was not so made, although Hunt had said the con-
trary in his aflidavit. Had the statement before the coroner been taken on
oath, it would have been returned by the corener with the other depositions.
Supposing it to have been so taken, he (Mr. Gi.) should not now desire it to
be read, in mercy to the prisoner, In the present stage of the proceedings,
he did not think it necessary to lay before the court other affidavits, for the
purpose of showing that Hunt had privately communicated facts to different
individuals, which he did not state either before the magistrates or the co-
-roner.

Mr. Justice Park. I certainly do not see the necessity of such aflidavits ;
and, if they were read, they would to a certain degree prejudice the prisoner,
which ought on every aceount to be avoided. 1 am aware of the difficulty,
the very great difliculty of avoiding prejudice in these cases; but this is an
evil in the present case, which i1s in some measure to be attributed to the
parties themselves. On the former occasion, when afhidavits were produced
to postpene the trial, to my utter astenishment, those very affidavits were at
that moment printed in a newspaper, although the prisoner’s counsel, in-
structed by the prisoner’s attorney, urged the court to prohibit the publica-
tion, I was then averse from the reading of those uffidavits, lest they
might be calculated to prejudice the prisoners, but a different course was
adopted. -If there be any thing stated in the affidavits at all tending to pre-
Judice the prisoner, I should prevent their being read.  Without stating any
specific fact, perhaps it will be sufficient for your purpose, Mr. Gurney, just
to state the oﬁject which you have in view by producing an additional affidavit,

Mr. Gurney. Itwould appear from the additional affidavit, that of the
facts stated privately by Hunt to other persens (which are very important,)
we do not find one word either in his account of the transaction before the
magistrates, or the coroner. The only ohject of the atlidavit would be to
confirm what is stated by the magistrates, on their information and belief,
that the prisoner did not make a full confessivn ; but I would rather forego
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something in a case of this Kind, than do any thing which could by possi-
bility create a prejudice.

Mr. Justice Park. Thatis the feeling of my mind. Would this answer
your purpose! I entertain so much respect for Mr. Thessizer, and what I
say to him I would say to the prisoner’s other legal adviser (Mr. Harmer,)
that if they both think proper they may look at Mr. Gurney's affidavit, and
Eerhap.a that will answer their purpose. I wish to throw no unpleasant

urdens upon either of them, but I think that will be sufficient for them.

Mr. Thessiger said he was certainly anxious to be informed, when and
under what circumstances the private conversations alluded to took place.

Mr. Gurney said he would show bis learned {riend copies of the affidavits
alluded to.

The affidavit of Benjamin Ilooke, Esq. the coroner, being now completed
and sworn, was handed in and read. It stated that upon the inquest Lcl'ure
deponent, Mr. Clutterbuck, the magistrate, told Hunt there would be no
breach of faith in the promise made by him.

Copies of the affidavits of Mr. Rexworthy, and Upson, the Bow-street
ofticer, were then handed to prisoner’s counsel.

Mr. Gurney then asked the prisoner’s counsel if he had any objection to
his stating to the court the object of the affidavits now preduced ?

Mr. Thessiger replied that he had no objection.

Mr. G.—I have now shown my learned friend copies of Rexworthy's and
Upson's affidavits, and my learned friend has no objection to my stating that
which I am now about to state, which will be less prejudicial to the prisoner
than reading the affidavits themselves, and that is this :—Your lordship will
find, (having read the account of Hunt's evidence before the magistrates and
the coroner,) that he bhas not stated that he had any previous knowledge of
the murder being to be committed ; he makes himself, therefore, an acceszory
after the fact; that, upon the statement which your lordship now holds in
your hand, there are other things which are not included in either of these
accounts, which are very important, and which go to prove a crime of a dif-
ferent description. I believe I have, with as much delicacy as possible, for-
borne to state what would be prejudicial to the prisoner; but I must not for-
bear to state that which is essential, namely, that he did not, in either of those
ir:munts, swear that he did not make a full disclosure of that which he

inew.

Mr. Thessiger then addressed the bench in support of his original motion.
It was now the time to address his lordship upon the facts disclosed in the
affidavits now read ; but, if’ there was still existing in his lordship’s mind any
objection on the ground of the prisoners having pleaded before the application,
he must address himself to that point, to obviate that ehjection, in the first
instance, before he pressed upon his lordship the substantial grounds of the
application. He (Mr. T.) was not sufliciently prepared on the former oc-
casion to bring this question properly before the court on affidavit. It was
only a short tume before that he had been retained for the prisoner, and he
had therefore had no time 1o give any directions for the drawing up of the
requisite affidavits. Indeed, if the trial bad then taken place, he should
have been compelled to make this application upon very imperfect grounds.
As he was on that oceasion partly taken by surprise, he trusted that the delay
which had since taken place, owing to his lordship’s decision, postponing the
trial, would not be considered any objection to his present application. In-
deed, the present was the enly way in which he could bring the circumstances
detailed in his affidavit before the court. Ile felt that he was authorized by
the case which he had already cited, to move for a further delay of this trial.
Now_ the question of delay would depend, in this case, upon the right of the
magistrate to admit a prisoner who was an accomplice, and was willing to
make a disclosure, as evidence for the crown. le did not pretend to question
the law, which had been laid down in the case of the King v. Rudd, and very
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lately in a case which had come before his lordship—thata magiztrate had no
direct power to say that a party should be pardoned on giving evidence
against his associates; but he apprehended that indirectly they had such
ﬁowcr, and that the ordinary practice was to sanction any promise of pardon

eld out under such circumstances by the magistrate. That practice had
succeeded the application of torture, and had now prevailed for more than
150 years; and in all that time there had been only one case in which a
magistrate’s promise to a dpri.-,-uner had either been questioned or violated,
and that case was attended by such special circumstances as clearly took it
out of the generalrule. The affidavits which had just been read to his lord-
ship would inform him,that at the outset of this examination every thing was
in darkness; that it was absolutely necessary, to the commencement of this
investigation, that a certain fact should bedisclosed, and that every subsequent
point hinged upon it. The magistrates, naturally and laudably enough, were
anxious to arrive at that point.  On erdinary occasions, he knew it was not
usual to receive the evidence of an accomplice, unless he made a full and fair
disclosure of all the circumstances of guilt in which he had been implicated ;
but he apprehended that in a case of particular importance and atrocity, the
magistrate had indircetly, though not directly, a right of giving to the pri-
soper a promise of eventual safety on the disclosure of that particular fact on
which all the subsequent proceedings mustnaturally depend. There was no
person in that court who would question this point.

Mr. Justice Park. I, for one, question it, for I don’t know how it ap-
pears, and I hope the jury also will question it.

Mr. Thessizer, in continuation, said, it had been laid down by one of the
most distinguished judges that ever adorned the beuch, that no man could
be convicted of murder unless the body was found. If that principle was
correct, there was no case, perhaps, to which it was more strikingly appli-
cable than the present. But for the disclosure made by his unfortunate
client, by pointing out where the body was deposited, the present solemn
inquiry never could have beea instituted. It was sworn in the affidavits,
most distinctly, that until that disclosure every body remained ignorant of
the place where the body was concealed. e would, therefore, take upon
himself to say, that, but for that disclosure, his lordship and the jury would
not have been assembled on the present oceasion. If, then, his client had
been induced to communicate so essential a fact, under a promise, however
defective in point of authority, on the part of those who made it, still it en-
titled him, in the hour of peril, to the merciful protection of the law. Sup-

nsing the magistrates, without even the colour of authority, bad induced
iim to confess, upon the hope of merey, still it was sufficient to protect him
from prosecution. Supposing the condition had been a full disclosure of
every particular, still, it the prisoner had communicated only a part of the
transaction, the mercy of the crown ought to be extended to him. In this
situation his client now stood; a solemn promise had been held out, that if
he would only disclose where the body was to be found, he should be admit-
ted as a witness for the crown. Admitting, for the sake of argument, that
the magistrates had acted incautiously and imprudently in giving such a
pledge, vet the interests of public justice, and a respect to public opinion,
required that pledge should now be held sacred.

Ir. Justice Park interposed, and said he could not listen to this latter

topic. “ I have heard enough alrcady,” his lordship said, “ of public fame
about this matter.”
. Mr. Thessiger said, in continuation, that certainly when public opinion was
inflamed by undue excitement, he should not urge such a topic on such an
occasion ; but when reason assumed its sway, and the voice of truth and
impartiality cried aloud, he humbly submitted that public feeling was not an
Improper topic to urge on such an vecasion.

Mr, Justice Park. Your arguments may be very properly addressed to the
crown ; but I, sitting here as a judge, cannot atsend to public opinion.
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am to act according to the law of the land, and the dictates of my conscience,
and am not to be driven from duty by pepular applause on the one hand, or
popular censure on the other.

Ir. Thessiger. Then I call upon your lordship, on reasons of public in-
terest, which you sit'there to protect.

Mr. Justice Park. Certainly, I hope so.

Mr. Thessiger then said, he would ask his lordship whether, considerin
how important it was, that persons who had been concerned in guilt shm:]é:l
be indueed to give evidence azainst their accomplices, and consulering how
difficult it was in some cases to attain public justice without their aid, was it
not of the greatest importance to hold out to them the example of keeping
faith without regzard to peculiar circumstanees or temporary expedients ? Diﬁ
not public interest require that the magistracy should not have their discre-
tion calied in question, or their conduct fettered by restrictions, by inquiries
whether they bad properly or improperly exercised their powers ? The public
interest demanded that the magistrates should be permitted to act with
promptitude in sudden emergencies; and if the court refused the present
application, the refusal must necessarily imply a stigma upon the conduct of
these magistrates, who would thereby be deemed to have acted incautiously,
improperly, and irregularly. - He trusted he had urged the topics which he
thought it necessary to press on behalf of his client, with proper decency and
respect to the court. e felt himself bovnd to speak with warmth ‘as to what
he must consider a breach of faith towards his unhappy client, who, against
the solemn pramise held out to him, now stood on the verge of the most
awtul trial te which a human being eould be exposed. These were the ob-
servaticns he hatd to urge, and he waited with impatience, but with confi-
dence, tor his lordship’s decision.

Mr. Gurney was rising to reply to the motion, when

Mr. Justice Park interposed, and said, I am most clearly of opinion, that
although this application has been urged with great vehemence and propriety,
and with all tl}mt respect that is due to the eourt, there is no gruund for
granting it. The argument addressed to me is more applicable 1 another
quarter thian to this court. A great deal of what has been said, might be
Fup(:rly the ground for an application to his majesty for his royal mercy, but

see no reason for putting ofi the trial, and indeed putting off the trial would
not be necessary for that purpose. It is not necessary that a person should
be out of eustody in order to enable him to apply for mercy to the throne.
The trial has already been put off exactly one month, during the whole of
which time, all the facts which have been disclosed to-day were within the
knowledge of the prisoner and his legal advisers. The application, therefore,
might have been made to the erown, and if his majesty was so pleased, he
might have granted him a free pardon. Butno such application having been
made, itis not now competent to me to entertain the motion now submitted.
If maintainable at all, it must be urged in another quarter. 1 beg it may
be understood (and I do not put it on the ground that the motion is made
after plea pleaded,) that I refuse this application solely on the ground that I
have no authority to yield to it. The case of the King v. Rudd is not an
authority for the present motion, as far as I understand it ; because it does
not appear from the report of that case, that the party had pleaded before the
motion was made; but at the same time it will be remembered, that Mrs.
Rudd had supposed that there were promises of favouroffered to her, although,
in fact, there was no such promise held cut. With respect to the discretion
exercised by the magistrates, there can be no deubt that those respectahle per-
sons acted from the purestand best of motives, and I find no fault with any
thing they have done ; I won’t say they have acted incautiously ; they have
acted according to their best lights and information; but I say positively
that magistrates, as these country magistrates, have no right to exercise
those powers which belong to a judge of assize, and therefore their authority
= this respee 1was exceeact. But 1 11 ¢very we llknown ana tne conauct o f
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magistrates themselves shows that they have no such authority, for other-
wise, why are applications constantly made at every assizes for the leave of
the court that accomplices maif eo belore the grand jury to give evidence?
Why, because the magistrates below have no such authority. Indeed, the
conduct of the mazistrates in this instance, shows that they did not consider
themselves as pussessing such power, for they have taken the examination of
this man, not upon oath. If they meant to admit him as King's evidence,
and if they had pewer so to do, they should have taken his testimony on
oath ; but that is not their conduct in this instance. I am of opinion, there-
fore, that [ ought not to postpone this trial. The circumstances disclosed in
" these affidavits may afford a strong arzument in support of an application to
the throne, where L have no doubt they will have their due effect; but I dare
not listen to an application which it 1s out of my power to grant. This is
notan application to me, but to the throne, and as to putting off the trial, the
prisoner could derive no more advantage than he has already enjoyed by the
postponement that has already taken place for a period of one month,
during which he had an opportunity of applying to the crown. I do not
yield t:li- the application that has now been made; and, therefore, let the trial
TOCCed.
e The prisoner Thurtell. My Lord, I wish my solicitors to sit nearmy counsel.

The Court. Certainly, I have ordered it so long ago.

Mr. Fenton was then, with some difficulty, enabled to approach his coun-
sel. DMr. Jay stood in front of the dock.

Mr. Wilson (the governor of ilie gaol). Is Probert to be kept in the dock,
my Lord? Mr. Gurney. Yes, he is, for the present.

The prisoners were then put to the bar, and Mr. Knapp, the clerk of ar-
raigns, apprized them in the usual form of their power of challenge, and that
the time of exercising it was when each juror was called in his place, and
before he was sworn.

The proclamation of silence being made, the list of the crown jury was
called for; but owing to the pressure of the crowd in every avenue to the
court, some delay arose in the assembling of the jurors in the box.

The prisoners appeared to pay strict attention to what was said, and bowed
respectfully.

., The panel was then called over, and, after several peremptory challenges
Pn the part of the prisoner Thurtell, and two peremptory challenges on the
yart of the Crown, the following Gentlemen were sworn on :

THE JURY.

Jonx Browx, of Wynyard, Gent. Foreman.
Tromas Buck, Brazier, of Bishop's Stortford.
RecivaLp JExwings, Maltster, . . . ditto.
Ricuaro Pryor, Gent. ..........ditto,
Geonce Stankins, Gent. ... .....ditto.
Cuarvres Fox, Gent. of Hitchin,

Joun Russevrr, Shoemaker. . ditto.

Tunomas CuockLEy, Gent. of Stevenage.
Wirrram Favineck, Gent., . . . ditto.

Jonx Horewerr, Tanner, of Chipping Barnet.
SaMvEL Pritcuarp, Yeoman, of Bramfield.
WirtLiam Kimprox, Yeoman, of Barkway.

Mr. Knapp then charged the Jury on the indictmentagainst the prisoners,
Thurtell and Hunt, and stated that it was as follows :—

“Hertrorpsuire To Wit.—The Jurors of our Lord the King, upon theip
oath, present, that John Thurtell, late of the parish of ﬁ-]c]enﬁam, in the
county of Hertford, labourer, not having the fear of Gon before his eyes, but:
E:nam%| moved and seduced by the instigation of the Devil, on the 24th day of
October, in the year of our Lord, 1823, with force and arms, in the parisi: of
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Aldenham aforesaid, in the county of Hertford aforesaid, im and upon Wils
liam Weare, in the peace of God and our said Lord the King, then and there
being, feloniously, wilfully, and of his malice aforethought, did ‘make an
assault, and that the said John Thurtell, with a certain pistol of the value of
10s., which he the said John Thurtell in his right hand then and there held, -
the said William Weare, in or upon the left side of the head of him the said
William Weare, then and there feloniously, wilfully, and of his malice afore-
thought, did strike, force, and penetrate ; and that the said John Thurtell, by
such striking, thrusting, forcing, and penetrating the pistol aforesaid, in, upon,
and into the left side of the head of him, the said Wi]liiam Weare as aforesaid,
then and there feloniously, and of his malice aforethought, did give unto hinx
the said William Weare, in and upon the left side of the head of him the said -
William Weare, one mortal fracture, of the depth of two inches, and of the
width of one inch, of which said mortal fracture the said William Weare did-
then and there die. And so the Jurors, on their oaths, aforesaid, do say,
that the said John Thurtell, him, the said William Weare, in manner and
form aforesaid, feloniously, wilfully, and of his malice aforethought, did kill -
and murder, against the peace of our said Lord the King, his Crown and
dignity ; and the Jurors atoresaid, upon their oath aforesaid, do further pre-
sent that Joseph Hunt, late of the parish of Aldenham, in the County of
Hertford aforesaid, not having the fear of God before his eyes, but bemng
moved and seduced by the instigation of the Devil, before the felony an
murder was committed by the said John Thurtell, in manner and form afore-
said, that is to say, on the same day and in the year aforesaid, with force
and arms, at the parish of St. Geurge, Hanover-square, in the eounty of Mid-
dlesex, aforesaid, him, the said John Thurtell, to do and commit the felony
and murder aforesaid, in manner and form aforesaid, maliciously, feloniously,
voluntarily, and of his malice aforethought, did stir up and move, abet, pro-
cure, command, hire, counsel, and direct, against the peace of our said Lord
the King, his Crown and dignity. _ ‘
Secoxp Count.—And the jurors aforesaid, upon their oaths aforesaid, do
further present, that the said John Thurtell, heretofore, *oat is to say, on the
same day and in the year aforesaid, with force and arms, in the parish of
Aldenham, in the county of Hertford aforesaid, in and upon William Weare, -
in the peace of Gop and our said lord the King, and there being, felonisu
wilfully, and of his malice aforethought, did make an assault; and that u.
said John Thurtell, with a certain pistol of the value of ten shillings, whick
he the =aid Jobn Thurtell held in his right hand, then and there, to wit, at
the parish of Aldenham, in the county of Hertford aforesaid, had and held
the said William Weare in, upon, and into the left side of the head of bim
the said William Weare, then and there, to wit, at the parish of Aldenham,
in the county of Hertford aforesaid, feloniously, wilfully, and of his malice -
aforethought, did strike, thrust, foree, and penetrate; and that the said John |
Thurtell, by the said last-mentioned striking, thrusting, forcing, and pene- -
trating the pistol last aforesaid, in, upon, and into the left side of the h!:al_ti of
him the said William Weare, as last aforesaid, then and there, to wit, m the
arish of Aldenham, in the county of Hertford aforesaid, feloniously, :mf-_
?ull:,r, and of his malice aforethought, did give unto him the said Wﬂl_:am_
Weare, in and upon the left side of the hea of the said William Weare, one
mortal fracture of the depth of two inches, and of the width of one inch ; and
that the said John Thurtell, with a certain_Knife of the value of sixpence,
which the said John Thurtell then and there, to wit, at the parish of Alden-
ham, in the county of Hertford aforesaid, n his r ight hand had and ]-1"1“9_‘- LR
said William Weare in and -upon the left side of the neck  of  him the sal
William' Weare, ‘then and there, to wit, at the parish of Aldenham, .in the.
county of Hertford aforesaid, feloniously, wilfully, and nt.ll-usl.-malm;r- afore=
thought, did strike, wound, cut, and penetrate, and that the said J;{'j?h&ﬂ?ﬂ!' |
tell, by such striking, wounding, cutting, and penetrating, t}%:s}al:_ Y 11‘? iﬁx
Weare, in and upon the left side of the neck of him the said William Weare,
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then and there to wit, at the said parish of Aldenham, in the county of Hert-
furd aforesaid, feloniously, wilfully, and of his malice aforethought, did give
unte him the said Wilbam Weare, in and upon the lelt sule of the neck of
him the said William W eare, oue murtal weund o the l!rplh ol uhe il!r:h, of
the widih ef une inch,and o the iength ¢fiwa inches, of which said lasi-men-
tioted mornal fractine, of which sad ortal woumd e =ad Willion Weare
didd then and there, w wit, at the paiizh o Aldenhan, i ke county ol Hert-
ford aturesaid, die.  And =0 the jurors atoresaul, upon their vath aturesaid
do say, that the said John Thurtell, him the said Wiilhiam Weare, in manner
and form last aforesaid, feloniously, wilfully, and of his malice afore-
thought, then and there, to wit, at the parish of Aldenham, in the county of
Heriford, did kill and murder, against the peace of our suid lord the King, his
crown and dignity.  And the _}ururﬁ atoresaid, upon their oath aforesaul, do
further present that the said Joseph Hunt before the last-mentioned felony
and murder was committed by the said Jobn Thurtell in the marner and
form last mentioned, that is to sav, en the same day in the year aforesaid,
with force and arms, at the parish of St. George's, Hanover-square, 1n the
county of Middlescx, to wit, at the parish of Aldenham aforesaid, in the
county of Hertford aforesaid, him the said John Thurtell to do and commit
the 1Eluny and murder last aforesaid, in manner and form last aforesaid,
maliciously, feloniously, voluntarily, and of his malice afurethought, did stir
up, move, abet, procure, command, hire, counsel, and direct against the
eace of our said lord the King, his crown and dignity.”

Mr. Knapp then further charged the jury on the coroner's inquisition with
the prisoners, John Thurtell, charged as guilty of the murder of William
Weare ; and Joseph Hunt and William Probert, charged as accessaries of the
said murder befure the fact.

ACQUITTAL OT PROBERT.

Mr. Gurney rose and stated that it was not his intention to offer any evidence
against the prisoner Probeit, who was arraigned on the Coroner’s Inguisition.

Myr. Justice Park then briefly informed the Jury, that as it was not the inten-
tion of the counsel for the Crown to offer any evidence against the prisoner
Probert, they wounld, of course, find a verdict of acquittal.

The Jury having acquitted him accordingly, the prisoner Probert was then re-
moved from the bar.

Mr. Justice Park then stated, that as it was the wish of the prisoners that all
the witneszes for the prosecution should he separately examined, all the wit-
nesses now present would of course leave the cowrt. Mr. Justice Park added,
it was unnecessary for the medical gentlemen to leave the court.

Mr. Broderick, as junior counsel for the Crown, then shortly recapitulated
the heads of the indictment.

Mr. Gurney opened the case. They were now, he said, assembled for the
trial of the two prisoners at the bar, atter a month's delay, which the court had
ordered. It had been obtained on the ground of the great excitement of the
public which had shortly before taken place, and had not then subsided. It was
on the tormer occasion thought by his Lovdship that it would conduce to the
more satistactory dispensation of justice, to allow the operation of a short delay
to suffer passing events to subside, some of which were of a melancholy cha-
racter, and capable of producing a prejudicial effect. The jury had now as
sembled afier the delay which had taken place, and prepared to proceed to this
trial in that calm and temperate state of mind to enable them to administer
Justice with perfect satistaction to their own minds, as well as to their country,
It was of great importance to society that a eriminal should be punished, in order
that crime should be repressed ; but there was one thing of more importance,
and that was, the protection of innocence. That was the great salutary prin-
ciple consecrated by the laws of England, which was its distingnishing feature
above the code of other nations; for of little interest would it be to any man to
say he belonged to a country invested with every charm which could make life
and property agreeable, if his safety and his property were uet shielded by the

G e
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powerful barviers of the law. In England they had happily those great secu-
vities, They had in the first instance the preliminary inquiry before a ma-
gistraey, such a magistracy as no other country enjoyed. They had next the
inguiry before a grand jury; and lastly, the assistance, in a court like the pre-
sent, of the highest legal authorities, to hear the evidence on the one part and
the other; and, with the assistance of a jury composed as they were, to pro-
nounce finally upon the guilt or innocence of the accused. It was the pecaliar
province of the jury to decide upon the guestion of guilt or innocence ; and they
were bound to forget, if ever they had heard, statements probably erroneons,
certainly unanthentic. Above all, they were bound to come to the gquestion with
the most dispassionate feeling. The crime with which the prisoners stood
charged, was, undoubtedly, one of the most enormous magnitude ; its perpetra-
tion had been attended with no common ferocity. It was imputed to one of the
parties, that he had actually committed the murder; and to the other, that he
had assisted with his previons counsel and concert, and co-operated in the pro-
motion of the premeditated act. But in proportion to the great enormity of the
crime onght to he the strength of the proof’; and he did not mean to ask of
them to pronounce a verdict of guilty, unless on such evidence as left no ra-
tional doubt on their minds of the fact. He repeated, that when they conzidered
the nature of the case, and the violent aggravation with which it was attended,
they were bound to call for very strong proof to convince them that any man
was capable of so dreadful an atrocity; for if the evidence he had to adduce were
substantiated and believed, one of the prisoners at the bar had been guilty, not
only of the crime of murder in all its naked atrocity, but of the murder of a man
with whom he had been living in habits of acquaintance, if not of intimacy. It
was said (whether true or not, he knew not), thatthe deceased had provoked one
of the prisoners, by doing him some wrong at play ; and that the other had never
been injured by the man whose death he had concerted to aid ininflicting. These
persons, under the specions pretences of friendship, had invited the deceased to
accompany them upon a short country excursion ; but they had invited him into
their company to deprive him on the same night of his life. It was emphatically
said, that murder was a crime to be perpetrated in darkness. The hour of night
was mostly chosen as the opportune time for its infliction ; because it was in that
moment of solilude thought thatne human eye could see, no ear hear the struggles
of the dying : darkness rendered detection more difficult. It was theretore the
peculiar feature of crimes of this kind that their proof often depended upon cir-
cumstantial evidence, which, however, was frequently found to convey, by its
character and combination, a demonstration as conclusive as any which could
arise from the operation of positive testimony. There was another species of
evidence, which was sometimes of necessity resorted to in cases of this nature—
he meant the evidence of accomplices in the crime. It was not always within
the power of a prosecutor to forego the evidence of an accomplice, nor even to
get that species of testimony, withont compounding in some measure with ac-
knowledged guilt, Upon a very full and anxious consideration of the whole
of this case, those who conducted the prosecution had maturely decided upon
the admission of an accomplice into their evidence. The deceased, whose
murder was the suigect of the present inquiry, was the late Mr. William Weare
—a man, it was said, addicted to play, and, as had been suggested, connected
with gaming-houses. Whether he was the best, or the least estimable indivi
dual in society, was no part of their present consideration. The prisoner at the
bar, John Thurtell, had been his acquaintance, and in some practices of play
biad, it was said, been wronged by him, and deprived of a large sum of money.
The other prisoner, Hunt, was described as being a public singer, and also
known to Mr. Weare, but not, as he believed, in habits of friendship. FProbert,
who was admitted as an accomplice, had been in trade a spirit-dealer, and
rented a cottage in Gill’s-hili-lane, near Elstree. It was situate in a by-lane,
ining out of the London-road to St. Alban’s, and two or three miles beyond
ilstree. The cottage of Probert was, it would appear, selected from its seclu-
sion, as the fit spot for the perpetration of the murder, Probert was himself
much engaged in London, and his wife generally resided at the eottage, which
was a small one, and pretty fully oceupied in the accommodation of Mrs.
Prruha_rt, her. sister, (Miss Noyes,) some childven of Thomas Thurtell’s, (the
Rmnner'a brother,) and a maid and boy servant, It should seem, from what
ad taken place, that_the degeased had been invited by John ’i'lllu'tlll, to
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this_place to enjoy a dat{ or two’s shooting. It wounld be proved that the pri-
soner Thurtell met the deceased at a billiard-room, kept by one Rexworthy, on
the Thursday night (that previous to the murder). They were joined there by
lfljnt. On the forenoon of the Friday, he (deceased) was with Rexworthy at
the same place, and said he was going for a day’s shooting into the country.
Weare went from the billiard-rooms hetween three and fonr o’clock to his cham-
bers in Lyon’s inn, where he partook of a chop dinner, and afterwards packed up,
in a green carpet bag, some clothes, anda mere change of linen, such as a journey
for the time he had specified might require.  He also took with him when he leit
his chambers, in a hackney-coach, which the laundress had called, a double-bar-
relled gun, and a backgammon box, dice, &c.  He lefthis chambers in this man-
ner betore four o’clock, and drove first to Charing-cross, and afterwards to Mad .
dox-street, Hanover-square ; from thence he proceeded to the New-road, where he
went out of the coach, and returned after some time,accompanied by another per-
son, and teok his things away, Undoubtedly the deceased left town on that even-
ing with the expectation of reacliing Gill’s-hill cottage ; but it had been previously
determined by his companions, that he should never reach that spot alive. He
would here beg to state a few of the circumstances which had ocemrred antece-
dent to the commission of the erime. Thomas and John Thurtell were desirous
of some temporary eoncealment, owing to their inability to provide the bail re-
quisite to meet some charge of misdemeanor, and Probert had procured for
them a vetreat at Tetsall’s, the sign of the Coach and Horses, in Conduit-street,
where they remained for two or three weeks previous to the murder. On the
morning of Friday, the 24th of October, two men, answering in every respect
to the description of John Thurtell and Hunt, went to a pawnbroker’s in Mary-
le-bone, and purchased a pair of pocket-pistols. In the middle of the same
day, Hunt hired a gig, and afterwards a horse, under the pretence of going to
Dartford in Kent ; he also inquired where he conld purchase a sack and a rope,
and was directed to a place over Westminster-bridge, whieh, he was told, was
on his road into Kent, Somewhere, however, it would be found that he did
procure a sack and cord, and he met the same afternoon, at Tetsall’s, Thomas
Thurtell and Noyes. They were all assembled together at the Coach and Horses
in Conduit-street. When he made use of the names of the two last individuals,
he begged distinetly to be understood as saying, that he had no reason to believe
that either Thomas Thurtell and Noyes were privy to the guilty purpose of the
prisoners, Some conversation took place at the time between the parties, and
Hunt was heard to ask Probert if he would be in what they (Hunt and John
Thurtell) were about. Thurtell drove off from Tetsall’s between four and five
o’clock to take up a friend, as he said to Probert,  to be killed as he travelled
with Lim ;” an expression which Probert said at the time he believed to have
been a piece of idle bravado. He requested Probert to bring down Hunt in his
own gig. In the course of that evening, the prisoner Thurtell is seen in a gig,
with a horse of a very remarkable colour, He was a sort of iron grey, with a
white face and white legs—very particular marks for identity., He was first
seen by a patrole near Edgeware ; beyond that part of the road he was seen by
the landlord ; but from that time of the evening wntil his arrival at Probert’s
cottage on the same night, they had no direct evidence to trace him. Probert,
according to Thurtell’s request, drove Hunt down in his gig, and, having a bet-
ter horse, on the road they overtook Thurtell and Weare in the gig, and passed
them without notice. They stopped afterwards at some public-house on the
roaid to drink grog, where they believe Thurtell must have passed them unper.
ceived, Probert drove Hunt until they reached Phillimore-lodge, where he
Hunt) got out, as he said by Thurtell’s desire, to wait for him. Probert from
thence drove alone to Gill’s-hill cottage, in the lane near which he met Thurtell,
on foot, alone. Thurtell inquired, Where was Hunt, had he been left hehind ? he
then arjdmi? that he had done the business without his assistance, and had
Killed his man, At his desire, Probert returned to bring Hunt to the spot,
when he (Probert) went to Hunt for that purpose. When they met, he told
Hunt what had happered. *° Why it was to be done here,” said Hunt (point-
ing to nearer Phillimore-lodge), admitting his privity, and that he had got
out to assist in the commission of the deed. When Thurtell rebnked Hunt
for his absence; * Why, (said the latter,) you had the tools.” ¢ They
were no ,  replied Thurtell; *¢ the pistols were no better tham po
guns, _l'.lgrutd at his cheek, and it glanced off”—that Weare ran out otP tg;
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gig, tried for -merey; and offered to return the money he had robbed him of
—tliat he{Thurtell) pursued him up the lane when he jumped eut of the gig.
Finding the pistol unavailing, he attempted to reach him by cutting the pen-
knife across his throat, and ultimately finished him by driving the barrel of the
pistol into his head, and turning it in his brains, after he had penetrated the
torehead. . Such was the manner in which Thurtell deseribed he had disposed
of the deceased, and they wonld hear from Probert what he said on the occa-
sion. A gig was about that time heard to drive very quickly past Probert’s
cottage. The servants expected their master, and thought he had arrived ; but
he did not make his appearance. Five minutes after that period, certain per-
sons, who would be called in evidence, and who happened to be in the road,
distinetly heard the report of a gun er pistol, which was followed by voices, as
it in contention. Violent groans were next heard, which, however, became
fainter and fainter, and then died away altogether. The spot where the report
of the pistol and the sound of groans were heard, was Gill’s-hill-lane, and near
it was sitnated the cottage of Probert. They had now, therefore, to keep in
mind, that Thurtell arrived at about nine o’clock in the evening at Probert’s
cottage, having set off from Conduit-street at five o'clock ; and though he had
been seen on the road in company with another person in the gig, yet it ap-
peared that he arrived at the cottagealone, having in his possession the double-
barrelled gun, the green carpet-bag, and the backgammon-board, which Mr,
Weare took away with him. He gave his horse to the boy, and the horse ap-
peared to be in a cool state, which corroborated the fact that he had stopped a
good while on his way. = He left Conduit-street, it should be observed, at five,
and arrived at the cottage at nine—a distance which, under ordinary circum-
stances, would not have occupied much more than an hour. The boy inguired
after Probert and Hunt, and was told that they would soon be at the cottage.
At length, a second gig arrived, and those two persons were in it. They rode,
while Thurtell, who went to meet them, walked with them. The boy having
cleaned his master’s horse, then performed the same office for the horse of
Thurtell, which oceupied a good deal of time. Probert went into the house,
Neither Thurtell nor Hunt was expected by Mrs. Probert. With Thurtell she
was acquainted ; but Hunt was a stranger, and was formally introduced to her.
They then supped on some pork chops, which Hunt had brought down with
him from London. They then went out, as Probert said, to vizit Mr. Nicholls,
a neighbour of his ; but their real object was to go down to the place where the
body of Weare was deposited. Thurtell took them to the spot down the lane,
and the body was dragged through the hedge into the adjoining field. The body
was, as he had previously described it to be, enclosed in a sack. They then et-
fectually rifled the deceased man, Thurtell having informed his companions,
that he had, in the first instance, taken the fourth part ot his property. They
then went back to the cottage. It ought to be stated, that Thuvtell, be-
fore he went out, placed a large sponge in the gig; and when he returned
from this expedition, he went to the stable and sponged himself with
great care. He endeavoured to remove the spots of blood, many of which
were distinctly seen by Probert’s boy; and certainly such marks would
be observable on the person of any one who had been engaged in such a trans-
action. In the conrse of the evening Thurtell produced a gold watch, without
a chain, which occasioned several remarks. He also displayed a gold eurb
chain, which might be used for a watch, when doubled; or, when singled,
might be worn round a lady’'s neck. On producing the chain, it was remarked
that it was more fit for a lady than a gentleman; on which Thurtell pressed it
on Mrs. Probert, and made her accept of it. An offer was afterwards made
that a bed should be given to Thurtell and Hunt, which was to be accomplished
by Miss Noyes giving up her bed, and sleeping with the children. ' This was
refused, Thurtell and Hunt observing, that they would rather sit up. . Miss
Noyes, therefore, retired to her own bed. Something, however, occurred,
which raised suspicion in the mind of Mrs. Probert; and, indeed, it was
scareely possible, if it were at all possible, for persons who had been engaged
in a transaction of this kind, to aveid some disorder of mind—some absence
of thought that was calculated to excite suspicion. In eonsequence of ob-
serving those feeiings, Mrs. Probert did mot go' to bed, or undress herself,
She went to the window and looked out, and saw that Probert, Hunt, and
Shurtell, were in the garden, It would pe’ proved that they went down to
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the body, and, finding it'too lieavy to be removed, one ot the horzes was taken
from the stable. The body was them thrown aeross the horsey amd' stones
having been put into the sack, the body, with the sack thus rendered weighty
' by the stones, was thrown into the pond. DMrs. Probert distinetly saw some-
thing heavy drawn across the gardem where Thurtell was.'! The parties then
returned to the house ; and Mys, Probert, whose fears and suspicions were
now most powerfully excited, went down stairs and listened behind the par-
lour door. The parties now proceeded to share the booty; and Thurtell di-
vided with them to the amount of 6l. each. The purse, the pocket-book, and
certaim papers which might lead to detection, were carefully burned. They
remained up late; and Probert, when he went to bed, was surpriscd to find
that his wite was not asleep. Hunt and Thurtell still continned to sit up in
the parlony. The next morning, as carly as six o'clock, Hont and Thurtell
were both seen ont, and in the lane together. Some men who were at work
there, observed them, as they called it, ** grabbing” for something in the
hedge,  They were spoken to by these men, and as persons thus accosted
must say something, Thurtell observed, ** that it was a very bad road, and
that he had nearly been capsised there last night.,” The men said, ** I hope
youw were not hurt.”  Thurtell answered, * Oh no, the gig was not upset,”
and they then went away, These men, thinking something might have been
lost on the spot, seavched after Hunt and Thartell were gone. Inone place,
they found a gunantity of blood, further on they discovered a bloody knife, and
next they found a bloody pistol—one of the identical pair which he would
shiow were purchased by Hunt. That pistol bore upon it the marks of blood
and of honman brains. The spot was afterwards still farther examined, and
more blood was discovered, which had been concealed by branches and leaves,
50 that no doubt could be entertained that the murder had been committed in
this particular place. On the following morning, Saturday, the 25th of October,
Thurtell and Hunt left Probert’s cottage in the zig which Hunt had come down
in, carrying away with them the gun, the carpet-bag, and the backgammon-
board, belonging to Mr., Weare. These articles were taken to Hunt's lodgings,
where they were atterwards found.  When Hunt arrived in town on Saturday,
he appeared to be unusually gay. He sgaid, * We Tuorpin lads can do the
trick. I am able to drink wine now, and I will drink nothing but wine.”” = He
seemed to be very much elevated at the recollection of some suecesstul exploit.
I't was observed, that Thurtell's hands were very much scratched, and some re-
mark having been made on the subject, he stated, * that they had been out net-
ting partridges, and that his hands got seratched in that oceupation.” Onsome
other points, he gave similarly evasive answers. On Sunday, Jolin Thartell,
Thomas Thurtell, Noyes, and Hunt, spent the day at Probert’s cottage.~ Hunt
went down dressed in a manger so very shabby, as to excite observation. But
in the conrse of the day he went up stairs, and attired himself in very handsome
elothes. There was very little doubt that those were the clothes of the deceased
Mr. Weare. He had now to call the attention of the jury to a very remarkable
eircumstance, On the Saturday Hunt had a new spade sent to his lodgings,
which he took down to the eottage on Sunday., When he got near Probert's
garden, he told that individual, ** that he had brought it down to dig a hole to
bury the body in.”” On that evening, Probert did really visit Mr, Nicholls ;
and the latter said to him, ** that some persons had heard the report of a gun
or pistol in the lane, on Friday evening ; but he supposed it was some foolish
joke.” Probert, on his return, stated this to Thurtell and Hunt, and the in-
formation appeared to alarm the former, who said, ** he feared he should be
hanged."” - The intelligence, however, inspirved them all with a strong desive to
coneceal the body effectually.  Probert wished it to be removed trom his pond ;
for, had it been found there, he knew it would be important evidence against
himself. ' He declared that he would not suffer it to remain there ; and Thur-
tell and Hunt promised to come down on the Monday, and remove it. On DMon-
day, Thurtell and Hunt went out in the gig, and in turtherance of that scene of
villany which they meditated, they took with them Probert's boy, They car-
ried him to various places, and finally lodged the boy at My, Tetsall’s; in Con-
duit-street, . On the evening of that same Mouday, Hunt and Thurtell came
down to the cottage.  Hunt engaged Mrs. Probert in conversation, while
Thurtell and' Probert took the body out of the pond, put it into Thurtell's
gig, and -thew gave notice to Hunt that the gig was ready, In this manner
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they carried away the body that night; but where they took it te, Probert
did not know, It appeared, however, that the body was carried te a
pond near Elstree, at a considerable distance from FProbert's cottage,
and there sunk, as it had before been in Probert's pond, in a sack con-
taining a considerable quantity of stones. Hunt and Thurtell then went to
London ; and the appearance of the gig the next morning clearly told the way
in which it had been unsed over night ; a quantity of blood and muod being quite
perceptible at the bottom. The parties heard that the report of the pistol in
the lane on the Friday evening, and the discovery of the blood in the field, had
led to great alarm amongst the magistracy. Inqguiry was set on foot, and
Thurtell, Hunt, and Probert were at length apprebended. It was foond that
Hunt had adopted a peculiar mode for the purpose of concealing his identity ;
for when he was hiring the gig, and doing various other acts connected with
this atrocious proceeding, he wore \fei?' long whiskers; but on the Monday
after the murder, he had them taken off'; and they all knew that nothing could
possibly alter the appearance of a man more than the taking away of large
bushy whiskers. Strict inguiries were made by the magistrates, but nothing
was ascertained to prove to a certainty who was murdered. The body was,
however, found on the Thursday, Hunt having given evidence as to the place
where the body was deposited. The evidence which Hunt gave, and which
led to the finding of the body, he would use : but no other fact coming out of
his mouth, save that, would he advert to, He was entitled, in point of law,
to make use of that. * If a person tells me, under any promise of merey,
where stolen goods are to be found, and on searching I find them, I am en-
titled to adduce the fuct of finding against the eriminal party : and for this rea-
son—hecause persons may, from hope or fear, be induced to state what is not
true. But the finding proves the trath; and on that point I have a right to
proceed.” The fact only of the disclosure by Hunt, in consequence of which
the body was discovered, was he permitted to make use of ; and to that alone,
s0 far as Hunt's confession went, he would confine himself, But by reference
to his conversations with others, and to varions cirenmstances not adverted to
by him, hie was convinced that he should be enabled to establish a perfect and
complete chain of evidence. He had now stated the principal part of the
facts which it would be his daty to lay before the jury. Some of them, they
must chserve, would depend on the evidence of an accomplice ; for Probert,
though not an accomplice before the murder, was eonfessedly privy to a certain
part of the transaction—to the concealment of the body—to the concealment,
consequently, af the murder. He must be looked upon as a bad, a very bad
man. He was presented to the jury in that character. What good man could
ever lend himself, in the remotest degree, to so revolting a transaction? An
accomplice must always be, in a greater or less extent, a base man. The jury
would therefore receive the evidence of Probert with extreme caution ; and
they wonld mark, with peculiar attention, how far his evidence was confirmed
by testimony that could not be impeached. But e would adduce such witnesses
in confirmation of Probert’s statement—he wounld so confirm him in every point,
as to build up his testimony with a degree of strength and consistency which
conld not be shaken, much less overturned. He wonld prove by other witnesses
besides Probert, that Thurtell set out with a companion from London, who did
not arrive at the ostensible end of his journey; he wounld prove that he had
brought the property of that companion to Probert’s house, the double-bar-
reiled gun, the backzammeon-board, and the green carpet-bag ; he would prove,
that some time before he arrived at the cottage, the report of a gun or pistol
was heard in Gill’s-hill-lane, not far from the cottage ; he would prove that his
clothes were in a bloody state ; and that, when he was apprehended, even on
the Wednesday after the murder, be had not been able to efface all the marks
from his apparel. Besides all this, they would find, that in his pocket, when
apprehended, there was a penkunite which was positively sworn to as having
belonged to Mr. Weare, and also the fellow-pistol of that which was found
adjoining the place where the murder was committed,—the pair having been
purchased in Mary-le-bone-street by Hunt. These circumstances brought the
case clearly home to Thurtell. Nextas to Hunt. He was churged as an accom-
plice before the fact. It was evident that he advised ﬂ!l&l];mce&ﬂiﬂg- For
what purpose, but to advise, did ke proceed to the cottage? He was a stranger
to Murs, Probert and her family § he was not expected at the cottages There

-



ﬂ[" I1 ad'l‘
h‘ﬂﬂ*-lh ot bos sains
: Jeizauy 901 JEan

5:&;1:'.; y_nn- o e, arew. md.
ﬂw&#l b, - T weodlal ek
ol LD, f*hrwmkim,a cmil 1&:1
*iuﬁ'_llq Wi tﬁ = AP ST, e, vilemd
3 l:g\u By u ilust ;.-merthmrﬁmhuw
' Ln: thﬂﬂ ﬂ# RO r,ﬂ. el E. it e ﬁﬂﬂ&};ﬁlwﬁﬂ

:ﬁ:p vy 1!4]3#: Aunsbis 3

’i‘ shatiagqst iver ghod wily sty |
0 501D b P R T & TR R m ‘t‘h‘:”g i by oihait ot of bat-
 utiog i hotritus pem St o tawﬁn -u!'-'?ﬂnw 1 gvEe

3 oo ald |

. pgoram o aqum it Fabod. s iy godtse sl st 10 ot adsm ol
“.' -'n.qﬂ_ I,mm b l._a:ﬂﬂm*tﬁrmnlutﬂ -2l af arm ehoog galata. :}uliw i

BAT-4il] 30T s s hineg DTS 9t Yehisup mﬁmfﬁn Hﬂ-ﬂﬂl ainlips of bobild ©
:qg} ;lﬂﬁ!f EUATS a.luhﬂ;:bm itk Aget v mdal itk uam: —-lmh 4
* ri L2 mg,l T aaion tedh nn'l -.imrxw#w u!h a andl e
to Faumupasnos ni Ak vl =:-1umw:p:!a wls W Ji::m mma 1 ﬁ@m‘a
' -4@ Al pdai ot hatinedig sl sriaoaril 48w b

¢ an-}nﬁ.ma 4 IREN nuw#ﬂsm y S g6 ast on q
: b?h%ﬂg'ﬁ ﬂ!}nﬂ?ﬁ#ﬁ“ﬂ“ Htier o b SR o v{-,-uu:!smvnm b

u:kmu» i llﬁ'],dmea il Hisode skgadt bionivooyesw 3!1‘,,‘]]#1.-%1[%
qmﬂlmm. wod Lo ot ponalais Yo migda salgno

%, T T L DR t*; ‘mﬁmiﬂ Blaww 41 doidw ;ig&"i }'

tifimo a0 s 05 Ao daikres bty $osp wpsby buer  avianda Aesn !

vy i 0,38 "’f“""a i i‘ﬁ‘ iﬁﬁﬂﬁ‘*

_ 0 Fots it aeo SRRl “ Y




drewn during the Trial.

Reprecertation of the CCURT-HOUSRE,

1"]“" ||I|||||I|

: ||r IIII|I|IIH1| "] |||




49

was not for him, as there was for Thurtell, an apolagy for his visit. He hired
a gig, and he procured a sack—the jury knew to what end and purpose. They
would also bear in mind, that the gun, travelling-bag, and backgammon-board,
were foumd in his lodging. These constituted a part of the plunder of Mr.
Weare, and could enly be possessed by a person participating in this crime,
Besides, there was placed abont the neck of Probert's wife, a chain, which had
belonged to Mr. Wearve, and round the neck of the murdered man there was
found a shawl, which belonged to Thurtell, buat which had been seen in the
hands of Hont. In giving this summary of the case, he had not stated every
cirenmstance connected with it.  His great anxiety was, not to state that
which he did not firmly believe wonld be borne out by evidence. One circum-
stance he had omitted, which he felt it necessary to lay before the jury, 1t
was, that a watch was seen in the possession of Thurtell, which he would show
belonged to Mr. Weare. After Thurtell was apprehended, and Hunt had said
something on the subject of this transaction, an officer asked Thurtell what he
had done with the watch? He answered that, ** when he was taken into cus-
tody, he put his hand behind him, and chucked it away.”” Thurtell also made
another disclosure. He said, when questioned, ** that other persons, near the
spot, were concerned in it, whom he torbore to mention.”  As to Thurtell, the
evidenee wounld, he believed, clearly prove him to have been the perpetrator of
the murder; and with respect to Hunt, it was equally elear that he was an
accessory before the tact. If, however, the jury felt any conscientions doubt,
the prisoner ought cevtainly to receive the benefit of it ; but where a case was
clearly and satisfactorily made out, they would perform fearlessly that duty
which they owed to heaven, and to the due administration of justice,

Thurtell, who had been most attentive during Mr. Gurney's speech, looked
steadfastly at the deor through which the witnesses were to enter He had
some short communication with Mr. Andrews, his counsel ; and soon after,
Mr. Justice Park baving withdrawn for a few moments, he ate a thin sand-
wich, which the governor of th - prison, Mr. Wilson, had provided. Both
pasoners conducted themselves with firmness, nor was there the slizhtest
change of manner in the deportment of Thurtel!, even in those parts of the
statement which detailed those horrible facts in which he was the presumed
agent.

[Our readers will find our annexed Plate a correct representation of the court during
these interesting proceedings; it was drawn ch the spot expressly for this edition.]

EVIDENCE FOR THE PROSECUTION

John Beeson, examined by Mr. Bolland ; T livein the parish of Aldenham ;
I went in search of a body with Ruthven and Upson, two Bow-street officers,
the prisoner Hunt was with us; we went to Aldenham and found the body
ina brook called Hill-slough, near Eistree ; Hunt puinted it out; the bouy
was concealed in a sack ; the head was. downwards in the sack ; there was a
rope fastened round the sack ; the length of the rope was two or three yards;
there was a stone tied to the end ; I was not present when the sack was
opened : it was carried to the Artichoke public-house, at Elstree ; the pond
was a quarter of a mile from Elstree; it was to the right hand side of the
road coming from Elstree towards Hadlett ; [ am acquainted with the roads
about Gill's-hill. There is a road branching oft towards Watford, with a
finger-post direction pointing that way. Pursuing that road, you pass a cot-
tage, where a person named Iunt lives ; the road divides, one leading to
Radlett, and the other to Mr. Probert’s cottageat Gill's-hill. A man ignorant
of the road might mistake his way. He might, however, return again on the
road to Probert's cottage, though he went by mistake to High Cross. 1t would
be a cirenitous passage. Lven if a person went to Radletr, he might turn te
the right and get to Probert's cottage, The roads are very bad ank very nar-
row. Lf a person met any thing in his way while driving, he must back out,
Travelling on from Radlett, he might get by Medbourne to Gill's-hill. A
man not knowing the road might mistake. These roads are hilly, and a per~
son, ordinarily speaking, must drive slowly,

&
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Cross-examined by Mr. Thessiger. forfHunt. Tt was on Thursday the 30th
of October, four persons, with the coachman, went to find the body; the
place where it was found was two miles from Gill's-hill. They searched in a
. ody, he meant all together. They searched nearly for five minutes, It was
ahout two minutes after the place had been pointed out. The body was found
nearly in the centre of the pond. It was possible for any person to place the
body in the pond without walking in. Two men might have swung the body
in. One man could not have done it. The weather was wet, and the Eund was
consequently full. None of those who found the body went into the water
because they had a ladder. 1 saw Mr. Hunt point out that pond as the place
where the body was. The pond altogether wasas larze as the table of the
court. There was a short ptece of the rope round the sack loose. The rope
was twisted round the sack in a careless manner. The handkerchief was out-
side of the sack, and the stones were concealed in it. ¥

Robert Field sworn, and examined by Mr. Broderick. T keep the Arti-
chake public-house in Elstree ; I remember a dead body being brought to
my house on a Thursday. 1T saw the body drawn out of the pond; it was
covered with a sack, and that was fastened by cords. The rope was bound
round the neck, the middle, and the feet, with a handkerchief tied to the end,
full of stones ; there were two or three yards of the rope superabundant.
That body was afterwards shown to Mr. Rexworthy, and he said it was the
body of William Weare.

John Upson, examined by Mr. Gurney. I am an officer of BDow-street; I
was present at the examination of the prisoners at Watford ; it was on a
Wednesday or Thursday ; 1 had a conversation with Thurtell after the hody
was found ; I went in search of the body. I went to the place where it was
found, by the direction of Hunt. We went first to one spot, and Hunt said
¢ thatis not the place.” We then went to another. We had a pole, and
tried without success. A man passed with a ladder, and Beeson went on
the ladder to drag. Hunt pointed with his finger and said the body was
further out. The hody was found, and taken on the ladder to the Artichoke.
I was not present when the body was examined.

William Rexworthy, examined by Mr. Bolland : —I keep a billiard-room,
at Spring-gardens, and knew the deceased (Mr. Weare) very well.

I saw the body at the Artichoke, at Elstree ; it was the body of Mr. Weare.
There was a mark of the muzzle of a pistol on the left side of the head, as
if it had been driven several times against it.

Cross-examined by Mr. Andrews. Mr. Rexworthy, could you, in the
state in which the hody was, say positively that it was the body of Mr.
Weare? I knew him as perfectly as if he were living; and I had known
him for fourteen years.

Did you see any blood on the body ? I did not. :

Now was it in a state to enable you to speak with certainty? I could
speak with certainty that it was the body of Mr. Weare.

Did you ever express yourself with any doubt as to its being the body of
Mr. Weare? 1 have no doubt at all ; 1 have not the least doubt about it.

I do not say what your present opinion is; but did you never express
yourself with doubt? I did not. '

You were always as confident as you are now? T was,

Richard Weare was then called in. (IHe had an air of grief and extreme
dejection.) - Examined by Mr. Bolland. I had a brother named William. He
had no other Christian name but William., I saw a corpse at the Artichoke
at Llstree, on a Friday; the day Mr. Rexworthy sawit. It was my brother’s
body. (Witness spoke in an agitated tone.)

Thomas Abel Ward, examined by Mr. Broderick. I am a surgeon at Wat-
ford, and examined a dead body lyinz at the Artichoke, near Elstree, on the
day of the inquest. I examined the head. It had several marks of violence
about the left temple, apparently occasioned by some round blunt instrument ;
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occasioned, I mean, by the forcing a pistol, for instance, nto the head. The
marks corresponded with the muzzle of a pistol which was produced.

By the court. They corresponded with a pistol which was produced before
the Coroner.

By Mr. Broderick. The wounds had penetrated the scalp ; near to them was
a fracture on the skull, several portions of the bone being broken off and
driven into the substance of the brain. If violently forced into the head, that
pistol would produce those appearances.

By the eourt. I mean that it would do so, by such forcing, without its being
fired oft.

By Mr. Broderick. The wounds round the fracture of the skull corresponded
with the muezle of the pistol produced. The wounds in question would oc-
casion death very quickly. I observed a mark on the right cheek, like that
of a gun-shot.

By the court. By gun-shot I mean the shot or ball of a pistol.

By Mr. Broderick. I did not trace the external wound further than undera
neath the integuments of the scalp. That was a wound which alone would
not, I should think, occasion death. There was a lacerated wound on each
side of the neck. There were three incised wounds altogether. Two of them
were on the right, and one on the left side of the neck. Of these, one was
immediately under the ear, and one somewhat further back. A knife would
have eftected them. The juzular vein on the left side was divided.

Cross-examined by Mr. Platt. On the left side of the head, you saw a
wound and fracture, which must have been cffected by a blunt instrument ?
Yes.

The instrument, by which this was produced, must have driven itself
through the skull? Yes.

If the instrument had not been driven by force into the skull, the mark of
the instrument must have been more apparent on the surface ! Yes.

What was the position of the wmnm‘ ! The fracture was above the temple,
Just above the anterior angle of the bone of the skull; the marks where there
were not fractures were above that: there were several of them,

Now is it possible that an instrument with a larger end than that pistol
that was produced, could have been introduced into the fracture? Yes.

And produced the same result? The same result, as far as the fracture
goes, could have been produced by a Jarger mnstrument; the marks which I
have said were above the fracture could not have been produced except by
such an instrument as the pistol ; they corresponded to the end of the muzzle.

Was the skin forced into the wound ? The skin was not forced into the
wound, though it was depressed by the blow that occasioned the fracture ;
that is to say, it was wounded, but not detached.

What was the size of the wound ? The orifice of the fracture was an inch
and an eighth or a quarter in length, and 7-8ths of an inch in width. I can
show how it was by drawing it.

Mr. Justice Park. Then !‘.TD, Sir.

Mr. Ward then drew on a sheet of paper a representation of the weund,
and produced from a small box the pieces of the skull which had been forced
into the wound, and which he had extracted and preserved. The drawing
and the pieces of bone were handed to the Bench, and then to the Jury. The
bones were returned to Mr. Ward, but he left the drawing,

Daoes this (the drawing) describe the external appearance of the wound?

Mr. Justice Park. Mr, Ward has made it plain ; this is the fracture of the
skull. You mean the fracture, Mr. Ward, and not the wound, do. you not ?
Yes, my Lord.

Mr. Platt continued his cross-examination,

Then the fleshy orifice was not cut out? The external skin was broken,
but not detached ; it was a contused wound.

~ What was the size of the orifice of this contused wound ? T really do not
understand you. There was no interval ; I could have brought up the inte-
guments, and closed them entirely, for no part had been detached. j
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But before it was so stretched ? There was no stretching ; the integuments
which covered the skull, a solid substance, had been bruised when forced
upon that solid substance which had been broken beneath it by the violence
of the blow. The integuments of the skull were not torn away, but were
rent in halves, as it were.

‘Would that drawing you have made denote the size of the aperture if it
had been drawn out? Itwould have been of considerable size, i could have
put my finger into it,

Mr. Justice Park. Mr. Platt, I think the case is very clear. The skull was
fractured ; the bone produced to us was driven into the brain, and the skin or
scalp was rent. I think, Mr. Ward, you have given your evidence very
clearly.
~ Mr. Platt. Was the rent of the integuments made in that kind of way,

that a larger instrument could have been forced through? Certainly.

The jugular vein was divided, which, if notstopped, would produce death,
wasit not! Yes :

Was any artery divided 7 No.

You could have judged that great hemorrhage had taken place? No.

Was there an appearance as 1t the wound that divided the jugular vein had
been inflicted on the living person?  There was every appearance as if it ha',
and nothing to show that 1t had not been inflicted on the living person.

Could you say,on your oath, that that wound could have been inflicted  ver
death? I think it possible,

Have you not tlllu means of judging whether a wound that appears on a
dead body has been inflicted duriug?iﬁ: or after death ? Not after a body has
been soaked in water three or four days; the indicia are not such limt 1
would trust them in such a case.

Then the body must have been altered by lying in the water? Yes.

Are not the features more altered in persons dying of hemorrhaee, so as to
make it more difficult to recognise them? Yes, when the hemurrhage is pro-
tracted. ;

Is the hemorrhage from the jugular vein protracted? The bleeding, in the
case of a wound of the jugular vein, is uncertain ; sometimes it is protracted,
sometimes not,

In this case the ju_gular vein was divided? Not entirely divided ; but the
wound was very considerable. i h

Suppose an individual had been bled to death, and laid for a week in a pond,
would it not in such a case have been more difficult for persons to dscertain
who that individual was? It would ; but 1 conceive; from the appearance of
the body I saw at Elstree, that it I had known the person in his life-time, I
should have recognised him then.

Re-examined by Mr. Broderick. What, in your epinion, was the cause of
death? The injury to the brain by the pistol.

Mr. Ruthven, the officer, called. He brought into the court with him a
large bag of carpetting full of various articles, a hat in a handkerchief, and a
dressing case. Sworn, and examined by Mr. Bolland. I am an officer of
Bow-street; I apprehended the prisoner, John Thurtell, the W cdnc:-id;l_'f after
the Friday of the supposed murder (the 20th Oct.), at Tetsall's, the sign of
the Coach-and-Horses, in Conduit-street, Bond-street, London, 1 found in
his coat pocket a pistol, not loaded. 1 found a pistol key and a kuife in his
waistcoat pocket, and a key which belonged to an air gun. 1 found a muslin_
handkerchief in a drawer close to the bed side: it appeared to be marked
with blood ; the marks were just the same then as lhe:,r are now. In a drawer
I found a shirt, stained with blood in each corner of the collar where they

roject above the neckcloth. I found a black xkerseymere waistcoat, with
miarks of blood on each pocket. I found this on his bed. T found also a
black coat, with marks of %lu-ud on both cuffs, and a mark on the left shoul-
der ; I found this coat on his bed; I found a hat [&mducud]; there is a mark
of blood now; there was one 'small mark on another part, 1 arrested Hunt
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at his ledgings, 19, King-street, Golden-square, the same day (Oct. 20). T
took no articles out of his lodgings on the Wednesday. On the Thursday
night I went again to his lodgings, and found a dressing box and a double-
barrelled gun, with the name of the maker, Manton [the gun was produced].
Under the bed T found this sponge [a large sponge was produced]. T found
a carpet bag [produced]; it was empty. I found a shooting jacket, a pair of
drab breeches, a pair of guiters or leggings, one pair of half and one pair of
Hessian boots, a cord, two waistcoats, two coloured handkerchiefs, three
shirts (two of the shirts were marked—one of them W. W., No. 1., the other
W.); one neckeloth, one collar, nighteap, clothes-bag, powder-flask, clothes-
brush, turnscrew, bullet-mould, and a comb. I have had all these things in
my possession ever since.

Cross-examined by Mr. Chitty. The door of Thurtell's room was open;
at least it was not fastened.

Any person could have come into the room? Yes.
The (rrawﬁrs in which you found the things were net locked? No.

So that any maid-servant er person about the house might have seen
them? A. The things were tied up. _

There were many people in the house; were there not? I do not
know ; it was a public house. There was another person in the same room
when I apprehended Thurtell ; Thurtell was in bed ; the person was sleeping
in another bed; Thurtell made no resistanca.

- In answer to Mr. Thessiger. I did not search Hunt's room on the Wednes-
day, when I apprehended him; I did not obtain these things by getting a
letter to his wife; his wife was not at home ; I broke the door open.

Henry Simmons, sworn. Examined by Mr. Broderick. I am the consta-
ble of Watford. [He produced a pocket pistol.] It was given me by Mr.
Nicholls of Battler's Green. It was stained as it is now, with the pan down.
Besides the blood, there was hair upon it: there is now. There was a piece
of tow in the muzzle, as there is now. T have a small knife. [He produced
it.] He had it from Mr. Nicholls. I have a red shawl handkerchief. [He
produced it.] I received it from Dr. Pidcock, the younger, on the 31st of
October. I have a gold curb watch chain. [Ie produced it in a b:}:lr.l_| I
received it from Mrs, Probert, on the 15th of Nov., in the evening. 1 re-
ceived a sack from Robert Field, landlord of the Artichoke. Hl’rmruces it.]
On the 24th of November, I received another from William Bulmer ; a piece
of a shirt I have, I received from Mr. Thos. Bates ; I received these various
articles in the presence of the magistrates, and have kept them ever since.

The various articles mentioned by this witness were l;landed by him to the
officer. The greatest anxiety was shown by the learned Judge, that the hair
and blood on the fatal pistol should not be disturbed before they were shown
to the jury. I received also, on the 30th of November, a part of a coat and a
handkerchief from George Jones. :

PROBERT’S EXAMINATION.

Probert was the next witness called. The mention of his name created a
great sensation. He was brought through the dock, and passed the pri-
soners. Thurtell scarcely looked at him; but to Hunt he was an object of
greater attention. He eyed him with earnestness, and during the first part
of his examination stood up in the dock.

Mr. Gurney addressed him and said—¢ Now, Probert, mind and tell me all
you know.”—Probert then deposed as follows :—

I occupied a cottage in Gill’s-hill-lane six months before October last; my
family consisted of Mrs. Probert, her two sisters (Misses Noyes), part of the
summer a servant maid and a boy; in the month.of October, only one Miss
Noves lived with us, In Oecteber also I had some children of Thomas Thur-
tell’s, two—none of my own, T.Thurtell is a brother of the prisoner’s. I have
been for some time past acquainted with the prisoner, John Thurtell ; he had

been down to my cottage often, sporting with me; he knew the road to my
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cottage, and all the roads thereabounts, well. Gill's-hill-lane, in which my cot-
tage was, was out of the high road to 8t. Alban’s, at Radlett ; my cottage was
about a quarter of a mile from the high voad. DMy regular way to my cottage
would be to go along the high road throngh Radlett ; there was a nearer way,
but that was my usual way, My cottage was fourteen miles and a guarter from
Tyburn tarnpike. In the latter end of October, the week in which this hap-
pened, the prisoner, John Thurtell, lodged at Tetsall’s, the Coach aud Horses,
in Conduit-street ; "1 homas Thurtell lodged there also. They were there every
day that week. On Friday the 24th, I dined at Tetsall's with John Thurtell
and Hunt ; Thomas Thurtell and Noyes were there also. Aiter dinner, Thurtell
said something to me about money. Four days previous to the 24th, I borrowed
10, from John Thurtell ; he then said, you must let me have it back on the
Thursday or Friday ; on the Thursday I saw him at Mr. Tetsall's, and he asked
me if I had got the 104 ; I told him I had not; I had not coilected any money.
He said, I told yon I should want it to day or to-morrow, else it will be 3001,
out of my pocket ; bat if’ you will let me have it to-morrow, it will answer the
same purpose. On the next day (Friday) I paid him 5. T borrowed 5l. of Mr.,
Tetsall; that was after dinner. He then said, I think I shall go down to yonr
cottage to-night; are you going down ¢ and asked me if I conld drive Hunt
down. I said ** yes.” He said, I expect a friend to meet me this evening a
little after five, aud if hie comes I shall o down. IFf I have an opportunity I
mean to do him, for e is a man that has robbed me of several hundreds. He
added, I have told Hunt where to stop. I shall want him about a mile and a
halt beyond Elstree. If I should not go down, give Hunt a pound—which 1
did. Hunt had just come in, and Thurtell said, ** There, Joe, there's a pound;
if Probert don't come, hire a horse, you know where to stop for me.” 1 do
not know that Hunt made any answer; I gave him twenty shillings in silver;
Thurtell left the Coach and Horses almost immediately, in a horse and chaise ;
it was a grey horse; I believe Hunt brought the horse and chaise ; Thurtell
left a little after five. I afterwards set off to go in my own gig; 1 took Hunt
with me. When I came te the middle of Oxtord-street, Hunt got out of the
gig to purchase a loin of pork, by my request, for supper. When we came to
the top of Oxford-street, Hunt said, ¢ This is the place Jack is to take up his
friend at.”” In our way down we overtock Thurtell, about four miles from
London. Hunt said to me, ** There they are ; drive by, and take no notice.”” IHe
added, *¢ It's all right; Jack has got him.”” There were two persons in the
gig—Thurtell and another ; 1 passed them and said nothing. I stopped at a

nblic-house called the Bald-faced Stag, about seven miles from London, two
miles short of Edgware. It was then, perhaps, a quarter to seven. When
Hunt said ““ It's all rvight,” I asked him what was his name ? Hunt replied,
¢ Yom are not to know his name ; you never saw him; yon know nothing of
him.” I got out at the Bald-faced Stag; I supplied the house with spirits.
Hunt walked on, and said, ** I'll not go in, because I have not returned the
horse-cloths I borrowed.” I stopped about twenty minntes; I then drove on,
and overtook Hunt abont a gnarter of a mile from Edgware, 1 took him up,
and we drove to Mr. Clarke’s, at Edgware. We had a glass of brandy and
water., I should think we did not stop ten minutes ; we went into the bar, We
stopped a little further in Edgware ; and bonght half a bushel of corn ; T was
out of corn at home; I put it in the gig. Hunt then said, * I wonder where
Thartell is ; hecan’thave passed us.” We then drove on to the Artichoke,kept by
Mr. Field. We got there within about 8 minutes of 8, Neither I ner Hunt got ont,
We had 4 or 5 glasses of brandy and water, waiting for the express purpose of
Thurtell coming up ; we thought we heard a horse and chaise, and started ; 1
think we stopped more than three quarters of an honr at Elstree. We went
abont a mile and a haif, to Mr. Phillimore’s Lodge, to wait for Thartell, Hunt
said, I shall wait here for John Thartell, and he got out on the road. 1 drove
on throngh Radlett, towards my own cottage; when I eame near my own cot-
tage, within about a hundred yards, I met John rl:'|llll‘tl:|.lj he was on foot; he
says ** Hallo! where’s Hunt?” I said I had left him waiting near Phillimore’s
Lodge for him; John Thartell said to that, ** Oh, [ don’t want him now, for
1 have done the trick ;*' he said he had kilied his friend that he had brounght
down with him ; he had ridded the country of a'villain, who had robbed him of
three or four hundred pounds?” I said, ** Good God! I hope you have nat
killed the man?” and he said * It’s of no eonsequence to you, you don’t know
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THE SCENE OF THE MURDER, with the Gig in the Lane.
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bim, nor you never saw him; do you go back aud fetch Hunt, you know best
where you left him!" I returned to the plaee where I left Hunt, and found
him near.the spot where I'left him. Thurteil did not go. I said to Hunt, when
I took him up, ** John Thurtell is at my housé—he has killed his friend ;*
and Hunt said, * thank God, I am out of it ; I am glad he has done it without
me; I can’t think where the devil he could pass; I never-saw him pass any-
where, but I'm glad I'm out of it.” He said, * This is the place we was to
have done it,”” (meaning near Phillimore’s lodge); I asked him who the man
was, and he said “ You don’t know him, and I shall not tell you ;" he said it was
a4 man that had robbed Jack of several hundred pounds, and they meant to
have it back again; by that time I had reached my own house ; John Thurtell
stood at the gate ; we drove into the yard ; Hunt says, ** Thurtell, where could
vou pass me ?” Thartell replied, ¢ It don’t matter where I passed you,I've done
the trick—-I have done it;” Thurtell said, what the devil did you let Probert
stop drinking at his c—d public houses for, when you knew what was to be
done:” Hunt said, ** I made sure yon were behind or else we should not have
stopped ;" I then took the loin of pork inte the kitchen dnd gave it to the
servant to cook for supper. I then went into the parlour and introduced Hunt
to Mrs. Probert; he had never been there before. Thurtell followed imme=
diately ; we had stopped in the yard a little time before we went in. Ireturned
to the parlour and told Mrs, 'robert we were going to Mr, Nicholson’s to get
leave for a day’s shooting ; before we went out Thurtell took a sack and a cord
with him. We then went down the lane, I carried the lantern; as we went
along Thurtell said, ¢ T began to think, Hunt, you wonld not come.” Hunt said,
“ We made sure vou were behind.” I walked foremost; ‘Thurtell said,
“ Probert, he is just beyond the second turning.” When he came to the second
turning he said, ¢ It’s a little further on.” He atlength said, ** This is the place.”
We then leoked about for a pistol and knife, but conld not find either; we got
over the hedge and there found the body lying ; the head was bound unp in a
shawl, I think a red one [here the shawl already produced, was shown to wit-
ness]; I can’t say that is the shawl. Thurtell searched the deceazed’s pockets,
an< tound a pocket-book containing three five ponnd notes, a memorandum
book, and some. silver. John Thurtell said, *¢ This is all he has got, I took
the watch and purse when I killed him.” The body was then put into a sack,
head foremost ; the sack came to the knees, and was tied with a cord ; it was
the sack John Thurtell had taken out of the gig; we then left the body there
and went towards heme. Thurtell said, ** When I first shot him he jumped
out of the gig and ran like the devil, singing out that * he would deliver all he
bad if I'd only spare his life.” "’

My, Justice Park. Do yvou know if John Thurtell has been in the sea service?

Witness. I don’t know, I think I have heard him say so.

My, Justice Park. We know that singing out means crying out.

Witness proceeded. John Thurtell said, * I jumped out of the gig and ran
after him ; I got him down, and began to cut his throat, as I thonght, close to
the jugular vein, but I could not stop his singing out; I then jammed the ’pi.ttul
into his head, I gave it a tarn round, and then I knew I had done him.” He
then said to Hunt, *° Joe, you ought to have been with me, for I thought at one
time he would have got the better of me. These d——d pistols are like spits,
they are of no use.” Hunt said, T shonld have thought one of those pistols
wonld have killed him dead, but you had plenty of tools with you;"” we then re-
turned to the house and supped. In the course of the evening, after supper,
John Thartell produced a handsome gold watch ; I think double cased ; it had
a zold chain. .

Myr. Justice Park. Was the chain attached to it?

Probert, It was, my Lord. = He took off the chain and offered to make Mrs,
Probert a present of it, saying it was more fit for a lady than a gentleman.
Mys. Probert refused for some time, but at length accepted of it. . He put the
wateh and seal in his pocket; we had no spare bed that night ; T asked when
they would go to bed. I said my sister would sleep with Thomas Thurtell’s
children, and that they could have her bed. They answered they would sleep
on the sofa. Hunt sang two or three songs after supper; he is a professional
singer. Mrs. Probert and Miss Noyes went to bed between twelve and one.
When they were gone, John Thurtell took out a pocket-book, a purse, and a
memorandum-book ; the purse contained sovereigns; I can’t say how many,
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He took 151 in notes from the pocket-book, and gave Hunt and myself a 54 note
and a sovereign each, saying—** that’s your share of the blunt,""" Therewere
several papers in the books; they and the purse and books were burnt; acarpet
bag was opened. Thurtell said it had belonged to the man he had murdered ;
it contained wearing apparel and shooting materials; they weére exdmined
and put in again ; I think two or three silk handkerchiefs were left ont;
there was also a backgammon-board, containing dice and eards} I also saw
a double-barrelled gun; it was taken out of a case and looked at; all the
things were taken away next day in a gig, by Thurtell and Hunt. = After this,
Thurtell said, * I mean to have Barber Beaumont and Woeds ;" Barber Beau-
mont is a director of a fire office with which John Thurtell had some dis-
ute; Woods is a young man in London who keeps company with Miss
oyes. It was a general eonversation, and I cannot recollect the parficulars ;
he might bave mentioned other names, but I can’t recollect thém. Thurtell
said to Hunt, “ We must now go out and fetch the body,and put itin the pond.”
1 said, ** By G—d, you shan’t put it in the pond, you'll be my ruin else.”” There
is a pond in my ground. Thurtell said, * Had it not been for the mistake of
Hunt I should have killed him in the other lane, and returned to town and in-
quired of his friends why he had not come.” First, only Thurtell and Hont went
ont; when they came back, Hunt said, * Probert, he is'too héavy, we can’t
carry him ; we have only brought him a little way.” Thurtell said, ¢ Will you
go with us? I'll put the bridle on my horse and tetch him.” 1 'went out 10 the
stable with him, and left Hunt waiting near the gate. Thurtell's horse was
brought out, and Thurtell and I went down and brought the body on the horse ;
Hunt did not go with us. We took the body to Mr. Wardle's field, near my
gate. Hunt took the horse back to the stable, and came back to- the garden,
and we dragged the body down the garden to the pond ; we put somestones in
the sack, and threw the body into the pond. The man’s feet were perhaps half a
foot above the water; John Thurtell got a cord, threw it round the feet, and
%:ve me the other end, and I dragged it into the centre of the pond, and it sunk.
e all three returned to the cottage, and I went to bed almost immediately. I
found my wife up ; next morning, I came down about nine o'clock, Thurtell
said, in presence of Hunt, that they had been down the lane; to look for the
pistol and knife, but neither could be found. They asked me to go down the
lane and seek them, in the course of the day ; which I promised to do. "When
I went down the lane, I saw a man at worI{ near the spot,so I took no notice.
That morning they went away after breakfast. On Sonday they came down
again ; and Thomas Thurtell and Mr. Noyes came also, Thomas Thurtell and
unt came in a gig, Hunt brought a new spade with him. He said it was
to dig a grave for the deceased that he bronght it. Hunt returned with
the gig atter setting down Thomas Thurtell, and brought John Thurtell and
NI?EE in the chaise. Hunt was very dirtily dressed when he came down,
and went up stairs to change. When he came down, he was well dressed
—in almost new clothes. Hunt said the clothes belonged to the deceased ;
he told me he had thrown a new spade over the hedge into my garden ; [
saw it afterwards; it was a new spade. John Thurtell and I walked to the
pond. He asked me if the body had risen? T said, no; and he said it would
lay there for amonth. Inthe afternoon Hewart called, and I went with him to
Mr, Nicholls’s. On my return, I told Thurtell and Hunt that Mr. Nicliolls had
told me that some one had fired a pistol or gun off in Gill’s-hill-lane on Friday
night, and that there were cries of murder, as though some one had been
killed. He said it was about eight o'clock, and added, ** I suppose it was done
by some of your friends to frighten each other.,” John Thurtell said,; ** then
I am booked.” T said, * T am afraid it's a bad job,'as Mr. Nicholls seems to know
all about it ; I am very sorry it ever happened here, as I fearit will he my ruin.”
Thurtell said, * never mind, Probert, they can do nothing with you.” I said
the body must be immediately taken out of my pond again. Thurtell said, *“ I'll
tell {::u what I’ll do, Probert ; after you are all gone to bed, Joeé and I will take
the body up and bury it.”” Hunt was present at this. 1 told them that would
be as bad, if they buried it in the garden. John Thurtell said, “ I’ll bury him
where you nor no one else can find him.” As John Thurtell was going into the
saﬂﬂur Hunt said, “ Probert, they can do nothing with you or me, even if they
o find it ont, as we were neither of us at the murder.” Thurtell and Hunt sat
up il that night ; I, Noyes, and Thomas Thurtell, went to bed, Thomas Thur-
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tell slept with lis children: Im the morwing, John Thurtell and Hunt zaid they
1 wentto dig'a grave, but the dogs were barking all night, and they thought some
~ ome wasabout the groand.  J. Thurtell said, * Joe and I will ‘come down to-
Hoonightoand’ take: him quite away, and that will be better for you altogether.”
Thomas Thurtell and Hunt, and my boy, Addis, went away in one chaize after
i1 beakfasty and John Thurtell, T, Noyes, and Miss Noyes in another. The boy
v5 was sent to town to be ont of the way. That evening J, Thurtell and Hunt
/1 eameagain in a gig about nine; they took supper; after sapper, J. Thortell
and 1 went to the stable; leaving Hunt talking to Mrs, Probert.  Thurtell said,
f Come, let’s get the body np; while Hunt is talking to Mrs. Probert, she will
not suspect.”  We went to the pond, and got the body up; we took it out of
‘the sack; and cut the clothes all off it.  We left the body naked on the grass,
and returned to the parlour ; we thenswent to the stables, and John Thurtell
went to his gig, and took out a new sack and some cord; we all three returned
‘to; the pond, and put the body head-foremost into the sack ;3 we all three car-
ried it to the lower garden gate; we left Hunt waiting with the body, while
Thurtell and ‘T went round the pond. I carried the bundle of clothes, and
threw it intothe gig; wethen put the horse to, and Thurtell said, ** we had better
leave the clothes here, Probert, there is not room for them. The clothes were
lefty and the body was put into the gig. 1 refused to assist them in settling the
body in the gig. They went away. I, next morning, burnt some of the clothes,
and threw the rest away in different places. I was taken into custody on the
Tuesday ‘evening after they went away. '~
Cross-examined by Mr. Andrews. T do not know who apprehended me.
When I was taken, I did not express any desire to become witness ; 1 cannot
say when 1 first expressed a desire to become a witness. It was after Hunt had
made a confession. I can’t say whether I was asked to become a witness be-
tore or after Hunt's comfession. I heard that Hunt had made a confession, but
. Lden’t recollect from whom. The first T heard of my becoming a wititess was
. when I was taken before the Grand Jury by Mr, Williams, to the best of my
recollection. Before that, [ expected that we were all to be tried ; I did not
- know what was to become of us; T did not know what was to be done to me.
I took no pains to become a witness before being taken hefore the Grand Jory ;
I have never seen Mrs. Probert since 1 lett my own honse when T was arvested;
L'don't know of my own knowledge that Mrs. Probert is now here ; T was told so
by My, Williams, my solicitor ; 1 have had no other solicitor in this transaction,
.. Hag not a Mr, Noelbeen your solicitor 1 am sorry to say that he has.
How loug did he act in that capacity 7 For a few mouths, in the year 1819,
Has he not acted as your solicitor since that period 2 Not that 1 recollect.
Had you no communication with him in 18232  Not that [ reeollect, but I cannot
swear that [ have not. :
You say you heard that some injury was intended to certain persons, and yet you
gave no alarm ? T did hear that at my cottage, but 1did not believe it.
# You must have believed it when you heard of the murder 3 and, when you saw the
dead body brought to your house, did not you give any alarm then? 1 did not.
You received the partics into your house after the transaction ? 1 did.
o« Yowsupped with them and breakfasted with them in company with your wife on
Ahe following morning 2 1 did.
.+ Were vou sober then 2 - Lwas, :
And yet you did not spurn them, and kick them from your house ? 1 did not.
¥ :gig.}'uu tell Mrs. Probert what had happened 21 did uwot.
~ Did not Mrs, Probert appear disturbed at what was going on?  She did.
© Did she not ask you any questions as to what was passing ? - She did.
PR you ot teéll her? 1 am not certain.
4 By the virtue of yont oath, Sit, did you not tell her what occurred on Friday night ?
Ihﬁ'ﬂnwar positively, but T might have told her something.
+ Didmot Mrs. Probert express iiessiness on the Saturday - She did.
s Did she not ingquire who Hunt was 2 No's she had heard of him often, though she
had net geen him. 500 song v 0o
_ .&E‘w]mt._ﬁn.ﬁ: did you come downan Saturday morning > Between eight and nine.
; ill YOU SWEAr, Upon your oithy that you did not come down at six o’clock on that
morning ? Certainly, 1 can swear that I did not.
Wil you sweaf it was after eight when you came down ? T will not ; but, to the
best of my recollection, it was between eighl and nine.
What did you do when you came down? 1 went to the stable, or perhaps into the

wﬁﬁi!ﬁn}ougudownlhclm'ﬂ I did not,
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What sort of hat did you wear on ﬂl-at occasion ? I think a black hat, such as I
generally wear.

Did you not wear a white hat? 1 can't say.'1 have two or three hats, and I some-
times wear a white one whcn at home, 2

Did you see your wife receive a gnll] chain from J. Thurtell 2 1 did.-

Did she wear it on the Saturday ? 1 did not see her wear it on the F'atuni‘a

Idid she, when she received lt, put it on herself, or did Thurtell put it on 2’ T can't
:.ld.tult]mt but I think she put it on herself I saw Thurtell rise when he pmgm:.ted
it to her

Did Mrs. Prohert express any uneasiness on the Sunday 2. I think she did. .

When Thurtell produced the sack and cord on Friday night, where was the boy?
I think in the Llh:]llc'n
. t“:’fhﬁﬂ: was the sack before Thurtell produced it? “Tdon’t Know; I u’c".-er saw it

elore

Will you swear you had not seen it before J. Thurtell said, “ Pl go and’ fetch the
cord and sack 2™ T will.

Did not the boy tell you where it was? No. i
Who was in the stable when the horse was taken out to fetch the bnﬂ:.r I dom't
recollect [

Where was the boy then? T think in bed 3 he slept in the room over lmne. i

Were you ever in difliculties before this ? 1 have. 501"

Were you ever in such a scrape as this before?  Never, 2

Had you never a charge of felony preferred against you before this? 1 had,

Where was that ?  In the King’s Bench prison. ;

What was the nature of that charge ? 1 was accused of taking some -ulru- f1-(:-mﬂ1e,
till of the man who kept the coffee-house, and who owed me 1001 at ‘the time. -

What was the consequence of that charge ? I was =ent for :i:x muuths to' ﬂm ]muae
of correction.

Was that the only charge of felony ever made againstyou ? ‘i-Lx, thc mﬂ:.r one,

Were you never in Hereford : - Yes 3 1 was born there. i

Were you never charged with sheep-stealing there 2. Never,

Well, |n-+:1lm|1- it was lamb-stealing ?  No, | was never charged with cnhcr. ;

anL, Sir, you know what I mean by charged; were you never acensed of sm:h a
crime there !  Never,

T'hen the accusation is guite new to you : L | 4 -

Then what was the charge against vou ? I had huu;.,ht some HI-.uus wlm:h wém
afterwards owned. -
Oh, then you were acensed as a receiver of stolen goods # l Wwas Iiﬂt. :

Were you not taken before a magistrate 2 No. n 1 (] &

Were the goods not taken away 2 They were not. } |

I understand you have passed much of your time in l:n-ﬂn? ihme been m the
King’s Bench prison, and in the Rules, between two and three years.

Mr. Justice Park. Were you L|1|]ru~c;-||c:!. in the King's Bench on eivil -nuts 3 'h?s
my Lond,

Mr. Andrews. Well; you have heen in the House of Corvection Emd in the ng 5
Bench prison; are these all? Yes,

Do you know Mr. Framstone ? [ do, AR

Now, sir, having given you that name, I ask you, on your oath wﬂf ou not coth-
mitted by tlmt hl.‘llﬂi.]ll.lll for refusing o answer u-rtam l.fn‘."'-tmlﬂ hel’nre the domi-
missioners of bankrupts? Yes; 1 was committed to the King's Bench prizon.

Mr. dustice Park. 1 1huughr vou were going to establish a néw hmprisomment: the
has already told us he has been in the King's Bench prisou: i ay i

In answer to otlier questions. he said, I never was a bankrupt but: once.
My debts then amounted to 14,0001, No dividend has beem paid under it.
Money has been received, but 1 E"Ii‘.lllﬂt help itif they spend it, I was brought
up before the commissioners six or seven times, and at the last time I was
discharged. I have not been living at GilP’s-hill cottage ever since ; I have
lived in the Strand, near C 1111ing4‘m55, where I have® carried on business
with my brother-in daw, We have no partnership. T never saw Thurtell's
horse before that night. It was a dark gray horse. It was in my stable two
nights, I had an nppm tunity then of seeing and knowing it. I am almost
sure that Hunt had & black hat on the Friday night. T have no«doubt of this
in my own mind, T was often told by Thurtell that Mr. Woods and Mr. B.
Beanmont were marked out for destruction ; he told me this at the Coek, tin
the Haymarket, I never thought it necessary to remonstrate with Thurtell,
for T thought he would not do it. I was obliged to intreduce Hunt to Mrs,
Probert. When Thurtell brought him to my house, Thurtell was making love
to Mrs, Probert’s sister ; but as it was never likely to come to any thing, I did
net thiok it necessary to interfere. I never mentioned his threats either to
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Mr. Woods or Mr. B, Beaumont ; for John. Thurtell was in the habit of talk-
ing upon such snbjects, and I thought it was only his idle bravado. Even after
the Friday, I did not think it-necessary to say any thing to him or to any one
else, for thew all my apxiety was to get'rid of the body: I never gave any
otherateount on oath than that I have now' given of the 5. received from
Thartell, . 1f L.ever gave any otlier ‘acconnt, it was by mistuke. No person
was present when the movey taken from the body was distributed bot we
three, Thurtell, Huat, and myself. I cannot tell the name of any person
who_was présent on the Friday, Saturday, or Sunday, hécanse no one was
present. ;;'“here was a cook in the house, but she did not come into the par-
lour. There was no playing at cards that I reeollect; there were cards, [
do not know nor believe that my wite called for cards on the Sunday night. I
never knew her play at cards in my life, No person played at cards on Sun-
day that I know of. I do not recollect any one suying that it was a bad ex-
ample for the children. Ihave lived in London eleven years, and have been
down in the country several times during that period. I eannot tell when was
the last time that Mr. Noel transacted business for me as my attornev. 1 will
not sweir that it was on the 24th of October, becanse I vannot recollect.

Cross-examined by My, Thessiger.—1 met the parties at Tet<all’s more than
a week ; had no partienlar conversation with Huat, unril the Friday night.
I had dined with him in company several times, and had known him wmore
than twelve months. It was 1 who imroduced Hum to Thuriell; perhaps
about six or seven months ago, at the Cock, in the Haymarket. I never re-
colleet inviting Hunt to Gill's-hill-cottage ; but ir 1 did, he never came.
He never was there before Friday, the 24th of October. The invitation
did mot then: proceécd from me. EBefore Thortell applied to me to drive
Hunt down, I had not, to my knowledge, given lim' any invitation, 1
did not at that time say there was no spare bed. When Thurtell asked
me to zive Hunt the 20s. in ecase of my wot going, I was not surprised,
Hunt puid for the pork purcnased in Oxfurd-streer, at my reque:t; I
believe I never re-paid him ; I think it only came to about 1s.Gd. ; 1 did not
apply for the remainder of my 20s, back again, I had borrowed 50, from Tet-
sall, and had al:o some money in my pocket, it was therefore of no conwsequence,
I conld have had 500 0f Tetsall it L bad wanted it. 1 said nothing more whén
Hunt told me to pass on, and not to take any notice of who was in the other
gig ; 1 don't recollect that I did.  The might was star-light; there was no
moon, Hunt had never been te Gill's-hill cottage before, hut had been to
St. Albans. Mr. Phillimore’s lodue is about ane wile and a half beyond Els-
tree, in the high-road. Haut, I believe, paid for the brandy and water we
had on the road. I paid for one glass, and Hunt the other four or five. [ paid
for the coim bonght at Edgeware. [ recollect there were two or three hand-
kerchiels, but I don't know where they are uwow. 1 burat the W, out of ene of
them, 1 did not tell this before, because I was not asked. 1 did say 10 Mr,
Fraoklin, ihe clergyman, and up to the day I went before the grand jury, that
Hunt and I were inueecnt of the murder I might bhave said neither of us
were guilty : itis very likely I did ;I cannot say. I did, perhaps, say to the
minister, Mr. Franklin, that neither Hunt nor I knew any thing of the murder
until after it was committed. 1 was convicted of felony, but the poblic was
sutisfied of my innocence. .

Re-examined by Mr. Garney., When I went to Mr, Nicholls’s house on Sun-
dayevening, T was out perhaps two hours; I cannot say exactly. When the
conversation which has been allnded to between Mr. Franklin and myself took
place, I:was a prisoner, and Hont also. - :

The Judge. -~ You say when you went up stairs, Mrs. Probert asked you
about-what she had scen, aud you told her it was netting. What led you to
say so? i O

{E'imn I went up stairs she was in a passion, and ready to cry. She said,
“ What have you been doing ? you have been counting money, burning paper,
and dragging something very heavy across the gronnds.” I then told her it
was netting which John Thurtell had bronght down. I said this for the pur-
pose of pacitying her. When I went up stairs I did not observe whether the
windows were open or shut. Mrs, Probert was dressed at this time. ,

Mrs. Probert was then called. She was genteelly dressed. She had a blue
pelisse, a Leghorn straw bonnet and green veil, By the desiye of his Lordship,
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she was accommodated with a seat, She spoke in a low tone, but Mr, Gurney
kindly repeated her answers alond. Her testimony was as follows:—I remem-
her the night of the 24th of Oectober, when Mr. John Thurtell and Mr. Hunt
came to Gill’s-hill Cottage, to have heard the sound of a gig passing my cottage.
It was about eight o’clock, I think. The bell of our cottage was rung nearly an
hour after. After that ring nobody eame in to our house. My husband came
home that night nearly at ten. I came down stairs, found Mr. Probert, John
Thurtell, and a stranger, in the parlour. My husband introduced that stranger
as Mr. Hunt to me. I saw John Thurtell take out a gold chain, which he
showed tome. It was a gold wateh chain with a great deal of work about it ;
it was such a chain as this, I think [the chain was shown her]. He offered to
make it a present to me; I refused it for some time, and at last he gave it to
me [she was shown the box and chain produced by the constable at Watford].
1 recollect giving that box and the chain to the constable, in the presence of the
magistrates, When I and Miss Neyes went up stairs, we left John Thurtell,
Hunt, and Mr. Probert in the room. I did not go to bed immediately; 1 went
from my room to the stairs to listen ; I leaned over the banisters. What I heard
in leaning over the banisters, was all in a whisper. What I heard at first was,
I thought, about trying on clothes. The first I heard was, * This, 1 think, will
fit you very well.” I heard a noise like a rustling of papers on the table; 1
Lieard also something like the noise of papers thrown in the fire, I afterwards
went up to my own chamber. Out of doors I saw something; I looked
from my window, and saw two gentlemen go from the parlour to the stable;
they led a horse out of the stable, and opened the yard gate and let the
horse out. Some time after that I heard something in the garden; I heard
something dragged, as it seemed, very heavily ; it appeared to me to come
from the stable to the garden; the garden is near the back gate; it was
dragged along the dark walk; I had a view of it, when they dragged it
out of the dark walk; it seemed very large and heavy; it was in a sack.
It was after this I heard the rustling of papers, and the conversation
1 have described. After the sack was dragged out of the dark walk, I had a
view of it until it was half way down the walk to the pond. I had a good view
of it so far. After this I heard a noise like a heap olpsmneu thrown into a pit,
I can’t describe it any other way; it was a hollow sound. I heard, besides
what I have before mentioned, some further conversation. The first I heard
was, I think, Hunt’s voice ; he said *“ let us take a 6l. note each.” I did not
hear Thurtell say any thing ; then—I am trying to recollect—I heard another
voice say, ** we must say there was a hare thrown up in the gig on the cushion
—we must tell the boy so in the morning.” T next heard a voice, I can’t
exactly say whose, “ we had better be off to town by four or five o’clock in the
morning;” and then I think John Thurtell it was, who said “ we had better not
go before eight or nine o’clock ;” and the parlour door then shut, I heard John
Thurtell say also (I think it was his voice), ** Holding shall be next.,” I rather
think it was Hunt who next spoke ; he asked, ** has he (Holding) got money ?"
John Thartell replied, *“ it is not money I want, it is revenge ; itis,” said John
Thurtell,  Holding who has ruined my friend here.,” 1 did not at first unders
stand who this friend was ; I believe it meant Mr. Probert, my husband. I can-
not say whether Holding had any thing to do in the transactions of my hus-
band’s bankruptey. ‘“It was Holding,” said J. Thurtell, * who roined my
friend here, and destroyed my peace of mind.” My husband came to bed
about halt-past one or two o’clock ; I believe it was ; I did not know exactly
the hour,

A short conversation then took place in a low tone, which was not heard in
the reporter’s box, between the Counsel for the prisoners, and the learned
Judge, and Mr. Gurney, as to whether it was proper to ask Mrs. Prebert
concerning any conversation that passed between her and her hushand,

Mr. Justice Park said to Mr. Gurney, “ All that you can ask, is, whether a
conversation took place, in which witness communicated to her hushand what
she had seen and heard.  You cannot ask what her husband said,”

Mr. Gurney then asked the witness—¢ When your hushand came to bed, did
you mention to him what you had seen and heard, according to the evidence
you have given?”’ « ;

The witness, Mrs, Probert, became apparently excessively agi kid
faintly lrlicula;:,m;  Must I answer” PP . ely agitated, anc
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Mr. Gurney. I do not want you to tell us what was said. -

Mr, Justice Park. Pray compose yourself, good woman; you need not be
alarmed,

Mrs. Probert. Must I answer questions concerning my husband? These
were, we believe, hier words ; but the low and faltering and hysterical manner
in which they were prononnced, rendered it difficult to catch them.

Mr. Gurney. No evidence you now give can prejudice your husband. He
has been this day put before ajury ofhis countrymen, and acquitted of this murder,

Mrs. Probert, in a sobbing, hysterical shriek, ** Oh, has he ! has he!"

Mr. Gurney repeated his gquestion.

Mrs. Probert. Oh, I'll answer anything! but has he been acquitted ? [The
agitation of the witness for some time was so excessive, that she was unable to
attend to the gquestions, She ejaculated at times a few unconnected words, in
a low sohbing tone. ]

Mr. Justice Park. Pray compose yourself, pray, good woman. Don't be
alarmed; we are not wanting you to say any thing against your husband, No-
thing will be drawn from you against your husband. Pray compose yourself';
pray do not be alarmed.

During this scene, Hunt turned round te the persons standing by him in
the doek, and smiled, as if in ineredulity of Mrs, Probert’s appearance of
feeling.

Thurtell did not change his countenance, but bent down a little, and took
snuff, drawing up his brows, and closing his lips firmly, with the expression of
face habitnal to him.

Mr. Gurney then repeated his question, and Mrs, Probert answered—Yes, T
did mention to him (my hasband) what T had seen and heard.

The next morning Hunt and Thurtell came and dined with us, and on the
Sunday, Thomas Noyes and T. Thurtell then al<o came. On the Monday night
J. Thurtell and Hunt came again ; it was past nine, 1 think, when they came.
They stayed to supper, and went away soon after.

Cross-examined by Mr. Platt. You affected surprise to hear that your hus-
band was acquitted. Now, did you not know that he was to be acquitted
previously to his giving evidence ¢ No [in a low tone]. -

. Did you not hear that he was to be acquitted of the charge, provided he gave
his testimony here truly © I don’t recollect that 1 was told so.

Can you say on your oath that yon were not told so? 1 don't know that
I was. -

There were two garden gates on the left-hand side of the road, going along
the lane; onec as you passed out of the lane into the stable-yard ; another gate,
leading to the garden, forms part of a high fence ; my bed-room window looked
towards the fence. I could look over the fence, so as to see the horse come
out of the door, and I think I could see the door-way of the stable itself;
it was a fine moon-light night.,. There was but one sitting-room in the
cottage over the parlour, the window of which looks to the garden; Ik
rather think the short man whom 1 saw dragging something heavy was
Hunt; it was at the landing-place of the floor where I slept that I lis-
tened ; all the conversation was carried on in whispers ; there was a great
deal of whispering which I did not hear; I could not distinctly hear
the whole of the conversation ; I thought I conld discover the different voices,
but cannot be positive ; my hushand whispered so low that I could not hear
him ; caunot take upon myself to say positively that he did whisper; my hus-
band gave me no money just before he was apprehended ; he did not give me
231. ; did not tell me what to say, if any body should come ; never saw Holding
in John Thurtell's company ; it was my husband who was acquainted with
Holding ; 1 and Miss Noyes retired to bed about twelve ; I was in my room a
little time before 1 went to the window ; a few minutes after I gnt wp stairs,
I saw the horse coming from the stable; I heard the parlour door opened a
few minutes after; | saw a short man with a light, and another go out fron the
parlour to the stable ; heard no noise in the stable ; cannot say whether the
light continned in the stable till I saw the horse; I heard no one go out before
that, but I think I heard some one go into the kitchen before ; we kept a store
of potatoes in the garden; there was a hole made for them, and they were
covered over. 1 went out into the garden on Saturday ; I did not go near the
pond ; cannot say whether the pond is so shallow that you may see the bottom ;
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seldom went to lock at the fish in the pand ; did not o ent'on Sunday or Monday ;
the walk on entering the garden is what I called the dark walk, and is surrounded
by shrubs. T heard the noise first in the dark walk ; it seemned as it something
leavy was being drageed along the dark part of the path, After I heard this
noise in the dark walk, I saw something dragged along the path leading to the
pond : I know the part where the apple-tree stands, and I know the part op-
posite to it; thisis the part of the pond farthest removed from the cottage; [
think it is a continuation of the path where I sawsomething lheavy dragged along;
I did not see my husband in the garden when I looked out of the window,

By Mr. Thessiger. I did not expect my husband home en the 24th October ;

was not prepared to receive the persons he hrought. My husband went away
on the ]II'EEE[]"H?; Monday morning; I never saw Hunt before ; he was intro-
duced by my huasband ; my hushand did not say he was the gentleman of whom
I had often heard him speak; there was singing on the Friday night ; Hunt
sung two songs; nobody else sung ; it was not by my husband’s desire or re-
quest that Hunt sung ; John Thurteil asked him to sing once, and I asked him
myself the second time ; I pressed him to sing ; we did not play cards on that
night ; Thurtell gave me the chain after supper, before the singing ; [ did not
attempt to return the ehain to him on Sunday, after I had seen all that passed
from the window ; there were cards on Sunday night; I did not introduce
them ; cannot exacily say who played ; Probert was gone at the time; I did
not play ; do not know whose cards they were; I will swear my hushand did
not join in the play; it is possible he might have come in before the play was
over: I did not hear either of the Thurtells remonstrate against it, and say it
was a bad example for the children ; Mr. Noyes came down on Sunday, and
stayed till Monday morning; 1 did not communicate to him what I had seen
and heard ; did not show Lim the gold chain at that time,

THOMAS THURTELL'S EXAMINATION.

Themas Thurtell was next called. [The moment he appeared in the witness
box, every eye wias turned towards his brother in the dock. The prisoner Thur-
tell looked upon him with the same apparent indifference with which he had
viewed the other witnesses. He took up his pen, and began to make arrange-
ments for continuing to take notes as before. The witness at first seemed
somewhat agitated, bat after a few minutes he regained his composure. ]

Examined by Mr. Gurney,—1 was at Tetsall’s on Friday, the 24th of Octe-
ber. Hunt and my brother John dined there. I remember that some time
after dinner Hunt was away for a time. I rather think he brought a sack with
him, and T think a gig to the door. He did not say any thing to my know-
ledge. The witness was desired to recollect himself, but he persisted in the
same answer, The horse in the gig was a grey horse. My brother went away
in the gig.

Here the witness begged the court to think of the distressing situation in
which stood.

Mr. Justice Park said the court felt every thing for the situation of the wit-
ness, bnt justice required that he should answer the questions put to him. No
donbt they would be put with every feeling for his sitnation,

The examination was then continued.

My brother went away in Probert’s gig.

By Mr. Gurney. Upon your cath did you not hear Hunt make some obser-
vations to Probert hetore dinner ?

There were some made, but I can’t now recollect what they were. I saw
some pistols, two large pistols, in the room. I think I heard Hunt say to Pro-
bert, “ Bill, will you be in it 2" or something to that effect. On the next day
I saw Hunt. Ie asked me if 1 wanted money ? I think he named 20L or some-
thing thereabout. He did not say how he came by such money. 1 saw some
considerable sum with him, and i"was surprised to see it with him, He said
they had been drawing game, or netting game.

Did he say what he meant /—~Did he explain?

The witness hesitated to answer,

Mr. Justice Park (to the witness.) I now feel it my duty, Sir, to eaution
you as to your answers, I have before me the statements you made in your
examination before the magistrates, and I cantion you to answer strictly to the
Questious propesed, The court considers your situation, but justice must be
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done. After this, I trust T shall not have occasion to say more or to exercise
the power with which I am invested. H

Thomas Thurtell said he could not remember every thing.

Examination continued., Hunt said, we Turpin lads ean do the trick, or some-
thing of that sort. There was something said aboot a bag,  Hunt said he had
been Killing ‘game, and Probert held the bag. (The witness showed consider-
able reluctance in giving this testimeny.) Hunt vsed the word murder in joke.
Hunt said we have been committing murder, or something of that sort in joke.
He said, * we have been committing murder tobe sure.” This was in answer Lo
a question from me 5 of course I asked them what they had beendoing. I went
to Probert’s cottage on Sunday. I walked as far as Maida Hill ; Hunt and my
brother theid took me up in a gig; I saw a spade in the gig; when I came to
Probert’s, Hunt asked me to throw the spade over the garden gate ; my brother
had got down and was walking with Noyes, whom we overtook. I said, with
regard to the spade, * had yon not better take it as far as the stable ! and he
said, No; I know what I am about ; and by his desire 1 threw it over. He
said, he did not wish Probert's wife to know it, or something of that kind.

€ross-examined by Mr. Thessiger. This conversation about Turpin-like lads
was after dinner. They had not been dvinking much wine. I was present at Gill’s-
hill cottage on Sunday night ; I recollect cards being introduced; we were all
present, I believe ; 1 will not be certain.— Witness stood down.

Thomas Noyes, sworn, and examined by Mr. Bolland. I am a wine-mer-
chant ; I know Mr, Tetsall, Thomas Thurtell, and the prisoners. On Friday
the 24th of October, I dined with them at Tetsall’s ; Mr. Probert borrowed
some money of Mr. Tetsall, for the purpose of paying it over to John Thurtell.
John Thurtell went away in a gig ; it was an iron-grey horse ; he was alone ;
Hunt and My, Probert also went away in Probert’s gig 3 I saw some of them
again on the Saturday morning at Tetsall’s 3 I saw John Thurtell, Hunt, and
Thomas Thurtell ; I went down to my brother-in-law’s cottage on Sunday ; I
walked, and the two Thurtells and Hunt overtook me in a gig; John Thurtell
alighted, and walked with me ; Thomas Thurtell went on with Hunt. 1 was
afterwards met by Thomas Thurtell in a gig at Brockley Hill. He came to meet
us in a gig. On the Sunday evening in question, at Gill’s-hill, cards were in-
troduced. John Thurtell, Thomas Thurtell, Hunt, and myself, played at whist,
Probert went out. We did not play the game out. Probert was absent a
quarter of an hour. On that night Thurtell and Hunt sat up. 1 left the cot-
tage on Monday, at past two ; my sister and John Thurtell were of the party.
The others went away in the morning.

Cross-examined by Mr, Chitty. When they played cards on the Sunday, John
Thurtell threw the cards up, and said he conld not play such cards, they ran
cross. There was nothing said about the children,

Miss Anne Noyes sworn, and examined by Mr. Broderick, She was at first a
good deal agitated, and was accommodated with a chair. I was at Mr. Probert’s
cottage on Friday, the 24th of October. About eight o’clock I heard a gig
Hdasslng. I heard a ring at the bell abont half-past nine; during the evening

r. John Thurtell, Hunt, and Mr. Probert, came into the room; Thurtell had
a black coat on.—[Here there was a tremendous outcry outside the Court. Mr.,
Justice Park, observing that no person moved to stop this noise, said he would
fine Mr. Hawkins 504, if he heard the noise repeated.]—I knew that Mr, Pro-
bert had a white hat, which was kept in the hall. Nome of the three had a
white hat that evening, They had a little brandy, and I rather think that John
Thurtell proposed to go to Mr. Nicholls’s to ask for a day’s shooting. They all
went, and returned about eleven ; when they came back, they mentioned that
Mr. Nicholls was not at home. They had supper; I did not sup with them. I
saw a gold watech that Mr. Thurtell had ; he took it out of his pocket; it had a
chain. It was a hunting watch. DMr. Thurtell took the chain off, and gave it
to Mrs. Probert ; he proposed that Mr. Probert should give it to her first; but
on Mr. Probert declining, he put it round her neck himself. The chain pro-
duced she believed to be the same ; there was some singing that night ; Mr.
Hunt sung ; soon after I went to bed, 1 did not come down the next morning
till after breakfast. I saw Hunt and Thurtell go out at half-past nine. On the
Sunday morning, Mr. John Thurtell, Thomas Thurtell, and Hunt, came down.
I believe Hunt’s dress was changed after he came to our house., When the
dress was changed he had on a black coat and waistcoat, and, I rather think, 2
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white handkorchief, . Mr. John Thurtell said, * How sniart Mr, Hunt'is dréssed,”
to-day,”  Hunt had rather large whiskers, During the day the word “ Turpin ™"
was used. John Thurtell said that Probert would not do for a Turpin.  There’
were cards played that evening. I saw Mr. Heward on Sunday. Mr. Probert
went out on the Sunday evening. I went up with Mr. Thurtell the next day.
I saw a knife in John Thurtell’s possession. [The knife produced by the consta-
ble was handed to the witness: it was the same found in the lnn&.'_[ The knife
she saw with John Thortell was very like this. ’ 9 2L

Cross-examined by Mr. Andrews. [ slept in a room very near where Probert"
slept;; I did not hear him get up that morning ; I have seen Mr. Probert in'a
white hat and a black hat; the hall was the passage leading into thre parlour’
from the kitchen; I did not see Probert go out on the Saturday; JohnjThur-
tell had been often at the cottage before ; he slept there several times, and did’
not always sleep on the sofa; I can swear he once slept nearly a week ‘at the
cottage ; he slept alone.

Cross-examined by Mr, Thessiger. I was present when Mr. Hunt was in--

troduced to Mrs. Probert; Mr. Probert did not say he was the singer he had"

often talked about; Mr. Probert did say that Mr. Hunt was a good singer;
this was before he sung after supper. -

Re-examined by Mr, Broderick, The passage which I described as the hall
leads to the staircase.

Charles Tetsall, examined by Mr. Bolland. T keep the Coachand Horses, in
Condnit-street. Since the 21st of October, Probert, Hunt, and Thurtell have
tfrequented my house. I recollect that on the 24th of October, the two Thurtells,
Hunt, and Probert, dined at my honse. Probert then asked me to lend him five
pounds. I dont know what he did withit. I did not see them go away, and
don’t know when they did go.

Cross-examined by Mr. Thessiger. The two Thurtells were introduced to me
by Probert, who told me that they were anxlous to keep out of the way.

Re-examined. Hunt's whiskers, about the 21st, were very large. 1 observed
that on the Monday after the 24th, they were shaved off. On the Sunday after
the Friday of the murder, I observed Hunt and Thurtell at my house. M.
John Thurtell was dressed in leather breeches, long gaiters, and drab waistcoat,
He went, with his shirt open, across the street to get shaved. I never saw him
in those clothes before, At that time Hunt was with him; he was dressed in
black, and very indifferently. They went away about half-past ten. I put into
the gig in which they went, a piece of beef. 1 saw a shovel in the gig.

By Mr. Thessiger. If Probert swore that he did not introduce the Thurtells
to'me, he swore falsely ; for he wanted me to be a bondsman for them.

Mr. Justice Park observed, that Probert had not sworn as the learned coun-
sel seemed to suppose.

William Rexworthy again called. I have known Wiiliam Weare for npwards
of sixteen years. He had the reputation of being a person of property. 1
always considered him such. He generally carried it next his skin. -~ He told
me s0, and I have seen him put his hand to his left side, and take large sums
from his flannel waistcoat. I have seen him and the Thurtells together. I saw
them three times together before the murder. The last time I saw them was the
Friday. The first time I saw them, there were three or four of' them togethery
John Thurtell came . to my house, and asked if Weare was there. 1 said not,

but showed them into another room, and was showing them a new billiard

table, when a knock came to the door, and Weare came in. This was . about
nine o'clock. I saw_ John Thurtell alone with him the evening. before the
murder. I did not hear any thing pass between them. Wihen they began to

talk T left the room. On Friday morning Weare called. upon me. at No. 6,

Spring Gardens, between one and two o’clock. . Weare left me, and'1 saw him
ng more that day. !

Cross-examined, I have two billiard rooms. They are much frequented. .
Persons come so earl Al ‘clock. . L h f; th fien,
LN early as eleven o'clock, = I see the same faces there often, as .

well those who play as those who look on. I saw the body when first it was |
taken out of the water, I also. saw it in the coffin, 1 .did not goto seeitre-
interred. I saw it before it was interred. 3 i

Re-examined by Mr. Bolland, = I know this knife well. « It baiﬂll.ged tothe

m?i‘ta;“d.!;!ﬁ.fé;_.(lt was found in the Jane.) ! s J951fe-9d ol W Jesidele
Ffﬁﬁﬁﬂ{fi}mmcd. There was a-particular mark on ity Itiwas ehipped by
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another knife. 1 onee had it for fourteen days in my possession. T know the'’
knite byrthe mark; and its being worn, If you open it you would seec it'is a
remarkable kuife, ' g

Mr. Andrew. I should say not, perhaps. ,

Witness. It is remarkably worn. 1 have no doubt whatever of it.

The knile was here-handed to the Jury.

Examined by the Court. I saw the legs when the body was taken ont of the
water., They were naked. When I saw it at the Artichoke laid out, the body
was naked.  This was after it was taken out of the water.

Mary Maloney, examined by Mr. Broderick. T was laundress to the late
M. Weare, of No. 2, Lyon's-inn. I remember Friday, 24th October, I went
into his room on that day, and saw his clothes and linen laid on the drawers.
Mr. Weare put them into his carpet bag., That (pointing to a bag) was his
hag. He put into it five linen shirts, six pair of stockings, a shooting jacket,
legzings, breeches, a pair of laced boots, and a pair of Wellingtons. He had
also a backgammon-board, which he put in, That backgammon-board (look-
ing at one produced) was Mr. Weare's. He dined at his chambers between
one and two o'clock, I did notexpect him to sleep in chambers that night, he-
canse he said he was going out of town till Tuesday. I went to the Spotted
Dog, Strand, about three o'clock, to get him a coach. It came by Clement’s-
church, along Holywell-street, to Lyon’s-inn. The horses’ heads were turned
to Chiaring-cress. He started alittle atter three o'clock. A double-barrel gun,
a little box, a carpet bag, and a three caped box coat were put into the coach.
Mr. Weare put in the gun himself. He had on a new olive-coloured coat. He
had a gold watch with him., That watch had a c¢hain to it. I know the chain.
1t was exactly like the one produced to me. Mr. Weare had a knife. That is
it. Mr. Weare's watch was a lady's watch, and was double cased with a gold
face. Mr. Weare wore a steel chain round his neck to secure it. [ saw the
coach drive oftf towards Charing-cross. The witness then identified several
articles of Mr. Weare's linen which were produced to her,

During the examination of this witness,a whistle was heard in the gallery re-
served for the magistrates. My, Justice Park looked up to it, and said * Can
those be magistrates acting in that way ¢

Thomas Carr, examined by Mr. Bolland. I drove a hackney charlot for Mr.
Beckett, in October last, for three weeks. I recollect taking up a gentleman
at Lyon's-inn iu that month. I did not take up more than one gentleman there
in that month. I was called from the Spotted Dog by a young woman. I drove
by her desire to Lyon’s-inn. A shortish gentleman got in there. A carpet bag
and a gun were putinto the carriage. The gentleman put in the gun, and the
girl the bag. I remember the week when this murder was committed. T can-
not say whether it was in that week, but it was about that time. I drove to
Charing-cross, and from that place to Maddox -street, where the gentleman got
out. He got in again, and he then ordered me to drive up Welbeck-street,
to the New-road, and along it to Comberland-street. He then got out again.
He came back to me with a tall gentleman in a rough coat. He paid me the
fare, and took out his things., The two gentlemen went down Cumberland-
street. It was then about half past four. Some of the lamps were lighted,
some not, for it was still day-light.

Thomas Wilson, examined by Mr. Broderick. I am a horse patrol, T wason
the Egdeware-road on the 24th of October. I do not know Jobhn Thurtell, I
met two persons in a gig drawn by a roan gray, between the 5th and Gth mile-
stone from Tyburn. They were driving at a very furious rate. I should know
the horse again, though not the men. I pointed out the horse in Mr, Probatt's
stable : it had a very white face. ~

By Mr. Andrews. The gig passed me quickly. It was about half-past six
or seven, but I had an opportunity of seeing it well. I described the horse as
a roan gray to Mr. Clutterbuck, Mr. Stafford, the clerk at Bow-street, and the
gentlemen in the secretary of state’s office. I observed the gig; it was of a
dark colour, but I cannot say what colour. I knew that the horse which I
saw was one which I was going to identify. I always said it was a roan horse,
and not an irou gray. B

James Shephard, examined by My. Broderick. I am liostler at Mr. Cross"s
stables, Whitcombe-street, where Huot came to hire a gig on a Friday, the
the week before I beard of Mr, Weare’s murder. He uaiﬁhe gig, which was
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dark green one, was going to Dartford. Tt was a roan horse, with rather a
whiter head than the body. The horse belonged to Probatt, the livery-
stable-keeper. Hunt asked me for a sack. On the Sunday he hired a bay
horse and a yellow gig, which he brought back on the middle of thie Monday.
He said he should want the same horse at three o'clock that he'had on the
Friday. He had it at half-past three o’clock (the roan horse), and retarned
-with it at three o’clock on the following morning. 1 looKed at the gig then;
both the horse and gig were very dirty, and there was a little blood at the
bottom of the gig, an% the whip was much used ; the thong was three parts
unravelled,.

Cross-examined. I cannot say that it was Hunt who brought home the

1£5.
.y 5;’31:-.njﬂm1irl Coxwell, examined Ly Mr, Belland., T am shopman to Benjamin
Hall, High-street, Marylebone. The pistols shown to me now are the same, 1
believe, which I sold to two men at three o’clock in the afternoon of the 24th of
October, for 1L 155 ; they were-marked 14 17s.  One of the men was a short
one, and the other taller ; but I cannot identify their persons. -

No cross-examination of this witness,

John Butler, examined by Mr. Broderick. T am hostler at the Bald-faced
Stag, half a mile from Edgeware, and was there on the 24th of October. 1
know Mr. Probert, and saw him there between 6 and 7 o’clock on that evening,
in a one-horse chaise, drawn by a bony horse. He stopped and baited his horse
for a very few minutes, and went on towards Edgeware.

William Clarke, examined by Mr. Bolland. I was landlord of the White
Lion, at Edgeware, and know John Thurtell, whom I saw about twenty or

thirty yards bevond the nine mile stone on the Edgeware-road ; he was then
driving very hard at the wrong side of the road, and he called ont—(Here the
witness used the ejaculation of whip-men who want to avoid contact on the
road.) T heard his voice in this manner; and his horse was light faced : a man
of short ** statue’” was in the gig with him. On my return to my own house, I
met Probert and Hunt, with a gig and a brown horse, at my own door. They
had some brandy and water, and we began to talk of Thurtell's private
business.

Mr. Bolland. That’s enongh, don’t say what that business was.

Witness resumed. Hunt alighted at that time, and took some brandy at my
bar: he also took out a mewspaper, and, talking of Thurtell, said, ** Look at
that.”” They then went away. On the Sanday after, I met Mr: John Thurtell
walking with Mr. Noyes. He looked ill ; 1 remarked it, and he hinted that it
was owing to the want of bail in the bankruptey business. Hunt had large
whizkers on when I met him on the 24th of October, but he had shaved them
off betore he was taken,

Cross-examined by Mr. Andrews., It was nearly dark at the time, I omly
saw one coach with the lamps lighted. I observed the chaise in which Thurtell

-was, merely because of its being on the wrong side of the road. It was between
the quarter and 20 minutes past seven o'clock when I met Probert’s gig, and
they stopped for a quarter of an hour,

David White, the son of a corn-chandler at Edgeware, examined by Mr. Bro-
derick, said—I remember Probert coming to my father’s house at seven o’clock,
on the evening of the 24th of October, and purchasing some heans and oats,

Cross-examined. He did not seem to be in a hurry to get away.

Stephen Probatt, examined by Mr. Broderick. I keep the White Lion Inn at
Charing-cross. The prisoner Hunt borrowed a horse from my son on the 24th
ef October, and had a bay horse on the Sunday ; but the horse which he bor-
rowed on the Friday was a roan horse, and he had it again on Monday. On
the Monday I changed a 5.. note for Hunt, for the hire of the horse and gig,
for which he paid 1L 55. A Mr. Reece was in my coffee-room; he rnmarie:d
that he was a snug sort of a man, and ought to get a knock in the head. Hunt
afterwards pulled out a pistol, and said, * This is a good fellow to do business.”
(Here a pistol was prodnced.) I cannot say that that was the pistol.” The
roan horse was now in Hertford, and had conspicuonsly a white face.

Cross-examined by Mr, Thessiger. I cannot say whether he seriously meant
that I should knock Mr. Reece on the head when he made the remark.

Robert Field recalled and examined by Mr. Bolland. I knew Mr, Probert
hefore October last, He came to wy house with another person on the 24th
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October, in a ene-horse chaise, I did not know that person then, but do now.
At my house they had five glasses of brandy and water in the gig. Probert
asked his friend to sing, saying * Give us a song.” He said he conld not ;
“ Give us a verse then,” said he. Hunt said he conld not. They stopped half
an hour or more. My house is abont 200 yards from Elstree, on the St. Albans
side. T saw the singing man on Monday with another mian, John Thurtell. I
saw them at my house about half-past five o'clock ; they remained a guarter of
an hoar walking about and conversing together. In about half an hour, or three
quarters, the horse was again put to, and they went away. I saw Hunt again
on the Tuesday following, at half-past three, in a one-horse chaise. He came
in the direction of London. T gave him a sack and shirt. They have been in
my possession from the time of the inguest.

Cross-examined by Mr. Platt.—It wanted eleven minutes to nine, when they
were going, by my watch, and I saw they were breaking up early. Coaches
pass my house frequently,

Richard Bingham was next called, but first—

Mary Maloney was recalled, and requested to stand by and attend to this
witness.

Richard Bingham examined by Mr. Broderick. I am hostler at the White
Lion ; abeut twelve o'clock in the day, two gentlemen came to the White Lion.
Oune had whiskers that came down to his mouth—was of' a sallow complexion,
and of short stature. He had also high cheek bones. They did not stop long.
The short man was about five or six and thirty,

Mary Maloney examined by Mr. Broderick., This description corresponds
with that of Mr. Weare,

Richard Bingham’s examination resomed. It was a bald-faced horse they
had. I have not seen it since to my knowledge. I do live with Mr. Clarke,
my master. He came home soon after the gig came up. Another gig after-
wards came up.

Cross-examined by Mr. Andrews. The first gig could not have gone more
than a mile before the other. It was not a dark night,

By his Lordship. At what time did the moon get up that evening ?—1I can’t
say, my Lord.

Cross-examination resumed. The men in the first gig did not zet out.

James Freeman examined by Mr. Broderick: I am a labourer, living at
a place called ¢ The Folly,” near Gill's-hill-cottage. I had occasion to go
out on the 28th of October, into the Gill's-hill-lane, about eight o’clock, to
meet my wife and take her home; I had a gate to go through from my
house ; the gate was about thirty poles from Probert’s cottage ; when I got
into the lane, I saw two gentlemen in a gig, going from Probert’s cottage
towards Batler's-green. 1 heard the gig before I saw it, coming in a direc-
tion from Radlett, which would be past P'robert’s cottage. It stopped at an
elbow of the lane, and one of the gentlemen got out. I spoke to one of
them. The horse had a very white face. I have seen the horse in this
town; it was shown to me by Mr. Probert. I am sure that is the very same
horse I saw in the lane last night. When Ileft my cottage, the moon was
not up, but it was a star-light night. The moon rose afterwards, between
eight and nine. I did not sce enough of either of the men to be able to
identify them. The one who jumped out had a light long great coat on. ¥
afterwards met my wife, and we went home together.

Cross-examined by Mr. Platt : I should not know the gig again. I could
not tell the colour of it. It was not a yellow gig,

Philip Swith, examined by Mr. Broderick: [am a farmer, living at Alden~
ham. On the 24th of October I was on a visit at Mr. Charles Nicholls’s, at
Batler's-green ; I left Mr. Nicholls’s about ten minutes before eight o’clock 3
I had my wife and child with me; my wife and child were in a donkey
chaise, and I was walking ; 1 was going to a place called High-cross ; I passed
the corner of a lape leading to GilPs-hill ; I know the spot where a person
was supposed to be killed ; n erossing the road that night, the nearest part
I went to the spot was about two hundred and fifty yards; in going aiong
I heard the wheels of some sort of a carriage, and then the report of a
pistol 0z a gun, This attracted my attention, and I remarked upon it to my

L
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wife. Tn about a minute or two afterwards T heard groaning. T then stopped
the donkey chaise. The oroaning lasted about a minute or two. I did not
o up to the spot whence the sound proceeded, as my wife was alarmed.

Cross-examined. 1 was about two hundred and filty yards from the spot
where the supposed murder took place, at the time I heard the report. 1
was behind the chaise.

Mrs. Smith, wife of the last witness, and the nurse, were then tendered,
Lut not called, as their evidence went to the same facts.

Richard Addis, examined by Mr. Bolland. I lived as servant to Mr.
Probert, at Gill's-hill in October last; I looked after his horse and 8g; he
had the horse about two months before the 24th of October last ; it was a
powerful horse ; 1 remember the evening nf: thf: 21th of October; about 'a
quarter before eight I heard the wheels of a gz ; it was going by my master's
houses I thought it was my |-|];11_-'.IU_*['5 gig ; I went out, but I found it l'gﬂil
passed on in a direction, very fast, towards Batler's-green. Al_wut nine
o'elock there was a ring at the gate bell; T went to answer it, and found Mr.
J. Thurtell there ; he was standing by the side of the ]1?rse, _ﬂﬂd desired me
to take the horse and gig in. I have seen the h{:r.:ae since in London; Mr.
Probatt showed it to me ; the colour was a kind of iron grey, or strawberry ;
{ touk the horse in and rubbed him down ; the horse and gig seemed as if it
nad come from Batler's-green, in a direction further from Londun.  Mr. J.
Thurtell said he was going down to see if he could meet Mr. Probert. 1 put
the horse in, took the harness off, and did what was necessary. Mr. J.
Thurtell returned soon afterwards aloneto the stable door, and asked me if I
hiad rulibed the horse down? Ttold him Thad. When I saw the gig, it was
very heavy; there was a kind of a gun in a case poking out at each end,
between the folds of the leather apron. I did not observe any thing else in
the giz that night, but next morning I saw a carpet bag in the gig, and a
backgammon-box. (Box prm]ucml.? That is the box. Either Mr. Probert
or Mr. Thurtell told me to fetch the box and the bag out of the gig, Mr.
Thurtell bad a light great coat on that night. My master came home in
about three quarters of an hour afterwards. His gig came in the direction
from Radlett. Mr. Probert and Mr. Hunt were in the gig, and Mr. Thurtell
was hanging behind. Mr. Thurtell had gone out agam to luok for my
master. | took my master’s horse and gig in aud cleaned it. I cbserved
some spots of blood on Mr. Thurtell’s great coat on that night. I saw Mr.
Thurtell sponging his coat ; 1 am most confident he had a sponge ; he seemed
to be sponging the collar of his coat. This was about three quarters of
an hour after my master came home; I saw a pail of waler in the
stable ; Mr. Thurtell asked for some water; he was grabbling about
in the water with the spongze ; 1 afterwards saw my master; he came to
the stable door and asked for a candle and lantern ; I gave it to him, and
he and Mr. Thurtell anll Mr. Hunt went out together at the gate ; they were
going in a direction towards Batler’s-green ; my master said he was }-I.U]"g as
far as Mr. Nicholls’s house; they were gone about three quarters of an
hour; I was then in the kitchen.  Mr. Probert told Susan to put the pork
chops on. 1 htﬂ;lp{:ll in the kitchen a litle while, and then went into the
stable to dp the horses.  Whilst I was there, Thurtell and Hunt came to the
stable. 1 think that was the time when Thurtell sponged his coat; Hunt
remained outside.  They were there only a few minutes, and went away ina
!.JI!I"!{‘.Illl-I'I towards the honse. When 1 had rubbed the horses down [ went
into the kitchen,  Mr. Probert came out for a bottle of rum, I believe, from
the pantry, in the kitchen, He then sent me to ask Mr., Thurtell what
o'clock it was? 1 went and asked him; he pulled his watch out of his
pocket ; it had no chain.  Mrs. Probert vbserved that it was awkward to
:::n:' 4 watch without a chain ; he said it was. [ went to bed at twelve
'-:~']1-| k: the clock struck twelve a5 1 went o 11[‘[]_ 1 4w L0 Insrs Qf them
that might. 1 rose at seven to clean the horses and fetch the cow up.  As

had done my work I went into the kitchen, I saw Thurtell and

=QOI s



70

Hunt at the gate, going into the garden. This was a little while after T got
up.  Afler I got tEe cow up I saw Thurtell and Hunt in the kitchen. Hunt
was sponging Thurtell's coat all over. Thurtell asked me if I had time to
clean hiﬁ%mnts'f I said I had. The soles of the boots were damp. I cleaned
them ; the dirt was very hard on ; they went away next morning ; the gun,
the bag, and the box were purinto the gig; they asked for a sponge and went
away, and turned as if they were going towards Batler's-green. My master
seemed in rather low spirits that day, walking about the garden ; he went
out with a double barrelled gun, about the middle of the day, shootine. On
Sunday morning I saw Hunt coming into my master’s %urdcn; he was
dressed in dark-coloured ciothes ; he went up stairs to dress limself, and he
came down very decent; in the afterncen of that day I was sent to Mr.
Nicholls's; I went down Gill's-hill laue, in consequence of something that
Harrineton said. When I went down I saw =some hlood in the rut of a
wheel On the Monday morning T went to town along with Mr. Thomas
Thurtell and Mr. Hunt. Mr. Thomas Thurtell was put down, and T was
dropt at the Angel Inn, St. Ciement’s. 1 had no business in London.

Cross-examined by Mr. Andrews. The lane where I saw the blood is so
narrow, that a gig cannot turn n it I had been often up and down Gill's-
hill-lane when | lived at Mr. Probert’s; it is impossible for a carriazs to turn
in it, or a gig either, except in a corner where there is 2 heap of mud, and
there it would be likely to be overturned.

If, then, a gig passed your master’s house when you heard the noise, it must
have gone on to Lechmoor Heath before it turned? No, it might have turned
before it came to Batler's-green. It could have turned before 1t came to
Mr. Nicholls’s house ; two or three hundred yards betore that there is a place
where a giz might turn. Ie had been asked half-a-dozen times about the
sponging by diiferent persons. He had always said that Le was not very
certain about it, whether Mr. Thurtell had sponged his coat or no. e saw
his master on Saturday morning, about seven o'clock, before breakfast; he
was sure it was before breakfast, and thought it was seven ; they had a cloek
n the house ; ke did not know that his master had gone down the lane in the
morning ; he had remembered Mr, Thurtell sleeping befure at the cottage ;
he slept on the sofa before the fire.

By Mr. Thessizer., It was Mr. Probert who told him to go to town; he
told me he had no more occasion for me, and that he would look out for a
situaticn for me.

By|Mr. Justice Park. I knew where the persons slept who were at my
master's house, and who slept on the sofa, and whoin the bed ; Mr. J. Thur-
;:Jt:]é once slept there for a fortnight; he then slept on the sofa, and not on a

ed.

Susannah Woodruff having been called and sworn,

Mr. Broderick was proceeding to examine her, when it now being about
nine o'clock,

Mr. Justice Park interposed and addressed the jury. Tn the sneeestion he
was to make, he considered, not his own eonvenience, but that of the sentle-
men of the jury. By the law of England, he was not allowed to discharge
the jury in criminal cases, and he was not enabled to allow them to return
to their families until the case was finished. He was obliged to keep them
together, though, no doubt, proper accommodation would be afforded them,
But he was, for himself, perfectly willing to go on to finish the case before
they separated. 1f, however, it was more cunvenient and agreeable to the
Jury toretire, to what he hoped would be their night's rest, he had no doubt
they would be furnished with proper accommodauion. He (the judze) had
no personal wish on the subject. e had been accustomed to bear fatigne of
this kind, and he was willing to bear it. The foreman would consult with
his brethren, and collect their wishes before they preceeded to the examina-
tion of another witness,

After a short consultation,



76"

The Foreman said, the jury thought that if'tltéy could be allowed to”retire”
for an hour, to take refreshment, they could proceed with the'trial. ! o0

Mr, Justice Park, 1 have'mhtfe up my mind never to agree to the praetice”
of retiring.  Within my experience, when I was a young man, I have seen o -
many examples of fatal results from this practice to the prisoners, and to the”
cause of justice, that I must resist the proposition. o

A juryman suggested, thatif they bad some refreshment in the box they
might proceed. , !

Ir. Justice Park. To that T have notthe least objection. 'The sheriff will,
no doubt, attend to your wants.

The Sheriff. It shall be done immediately.

Mr. Justice Park. In the meantime we'll proceed with the witness.

Susan Woodruff was then examined by Mr. Broderick. In October last T
lived as servant with Mr. Probert, at Gill's-hill cottage. On the evening of
the 24th of October, T recollect a gig going by about half past eight. 1 did
on that evenihg see my master come in, accompanied by Hunt and Thurtell.
I cannot say whether Thurtell had a black or a dark blue coat. Thurtell
afterwards came into the kitchen. Ile laid down a watch on the table, and
took off a chain. What sort of ehain it was I did not know, though he held it
up in his hand. Soon after that I went to stir the parlour fire: I saw some-
thing in it rolled up like a bitofwire. I could not tell whether it was a chain
or not. Ireceived orders to dress a supper.

Was the order postponed ¥ 1 don’t know. Tt waspork. Ireceived orders
not to dress the supper so soon. They then went out, and after being an
hour and more, came home and ate their supper. Thurtell and Hunt came
home and stayed up. To my knowledze T had not seen Thurtell befure this
time. 1 had then lived six weeks vith Probert. About six o'clock on Sa-
turday morning I got up, and met Tlont and Thurtell coming up the steps out
of the garden. They went into the parlour. I observed their sll:ucs and boots
to be very dirty. After that, T went to fetch some water, and soon after
that, I went into the parlour to fetch water, and on the sofa I saw Thurteil
lying down with my master’s white hat on. TIn the parlour T observed a
bag, but it was not like that. (Showing a carpet-bag)  There were besides
bundles tied up, I did not see them sct off on Saturt?ay morning about three
o'clock. Thurtell and Hunt had eacha black haton. 'T remember them
coming down on Sunday. They went away next morning, and on Monday
night I saw them again. On the Monday morning 1 went to the chaise-
house, and there I saw a sack, hanging on a nail, cut open and very wet,
This was on Tuesday morning.

John Harrington called and sworn—examined by Mr. Bolland. I am
a labourer, living at Aldenham ; I was ot work with a man named Riehard
Hunt, in Gill's-hill-lane, on the day afier the murder. Two gentlemen came
past ten minutes after six; oie of them I should know; that gentleman
there is one of them (pointing to the prisoncr Thurtell); the other was'a
shorter man with black whiskers ; the tall gentleman had a white hat on at
the time; they passed me about ten poles, aml seemed to be grabbling
about, and looking for something in the hedee ; they returned and passec
us again; the tall fman spoke to my comrade Hunt, and told him he
‘was capsized out of a gig last night, and had lost his pen-knife and a
handkerchicf; I don’t know what my partner said to him; did not
pay atlention to what further passed; I ‘went on with ‘'my work, ' At
eizght -::-’i:ln{:k_, when I went to breakfast, I went 'to the place where T saw
them grabbling; 1 there found a penknife. The place wasin the road, and a
giz towards Batler's Green.. 1 gave the knife to Mr. C. Nicholls. (The
knife produced by the constable was shown to witnessl)  That isit. Tt was
then covered with blood. 1 found a pistel after, about ten o'clock. © I'found
the knife in the cart-rut, and the pistol in'the brambles ‘of the bushes; that
tov is covered with blood. ' 1 ohserved nothine else init. * It was a two-bladed
Knife; one blade is broken. I'think the pistol had been 'fired off; the pan

'
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was down, as it is now, (Pistol shown him.) Mr. Nicholls was with me
when I found that pistol ; when I went to Mr, Nicholls T saw much blood,
and the marks in 1H|e lane as if of two men stumbling about, There was a
large. hole in the hedge, and much blood. A gig could nut have turned at
the place where the blood was ; it could not have tirned without %aing to the
end of the lane, fifty poles (about) further on.  On the same day, about eleven
o’clock, the same two persons passed me in a giz. The horse was to the best
of my knowledge an iron grey. 1 am certain they were the same persons. I
did not then know Probert; I do now. IHe came through the lane about
twelve o'clock. He bad a large dog.

Cross-examined by Mr. Andrews, The gig might have been turned before
it came to Mr, Nicholls's house, but it must be near it. T had never seen
either of the two persons before.

Richard Hunt was then called, when

The prisoner Thurtell said,—1 wish, my Lord, that you would again speak
to the jury, in order that this trial may go off for the present, in order that
it may come on to-morrow. I am really so much fatigued and exhausted,
that I particularly wish it may be postponed. I havebeen up sincesix o’clock
this morning, and unless such a Julay be eranted, 1 shall really be unable to
enter into my defence. 1t may be two o'clock in the morning hefore the case
against me may be concluded. There is still a great number of witnesses to
be examined, and under these circumstances, I trust that your Lordship will
take my application into consideration.

Mr. Justice Park. By the law of the land, a case of this sort must go on to
its close ; and I must do every thing in my power to conclude it, if the jury
are disposed to s:mr:ucd. That is a matter within their own breast. If they
wish to proceed, they have faculties to go on, and are, of course, the best
judges on the subject. I shall adopt either the one course or the other, with
a view to their accommodation.

The prisoner Thurtell. Yes, my lord, I am aware of that, I did not ad-
dress myself to your lordship at this time.

Mr. Justice Park. No, prisoner, so I understand. But the law of the land
supposes that we must go on to a conclusion, and in my own expericoee, I
have sat 16 and 17 bours in the day,

Thurtell. Gentlemen of the jury, I trust you will take what I have said
into your consideration.

The Judge, The gentlemen who are of counsel for the crown state to me,
that for the prosecution very little remains to be done.

Thurtell. I beg to say that it will take two hours for Mr. Hunt and myself
to go through our defence.

The Court. We had better go on at all events with the case for the prose-
cution. There are many reasons, 1 find, why we should do so. That case
will now last only an hour or two: and afler that, it we cannot conveniently
zoon, I will take an opportunity of again recommending your prayer to
the jury. The prisoner Thurtell, in the whole of his conversation with the
learned judge, was perfectly firm, temperate, and respectful. He secemed at
the same time persevering 1n his request, and rational and attentive to the ob-
jections urzed.

Itichard Ilunt, labourer, sworn and examined by Mr. Broderick. I was
with Harrington in Gill's-hill-lane on Saturday, Oct, 25; 1 know no more
than he does; I saw the two men passing through the lane ; T should know
them PI r. Broderick * Look round” ;] the two gentlemen sitting there are
they, 1 think (pointing to the two prisoners). One of them entered into con-
versation, and said he was l:np::izcnlf out of a gig. One of them had a white
hat, the side bulged in; another a black one,

William Bulmer was next called and examined by Mr. Bolland: I am a
labourer ; I'was walking in Probert’s garden in October last ; on the mﬂrlling
after the murder, about six o'clock, L saw two persons in that garden ; the
tallest of the two had a white hat ; they went towards the house.

George Nichols examined; I know Mr. Probert; neither Probert nor any
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of his friends came to me on the night of the murder; on Monday a labourer
delivered a knife'and a pistol to me ‘which I afterwards harded over to Sim-
monds, the officer ; it was bloody ; on Monday evening 1 observed what ap-

eared like brains about the barrel of the pistol. Mr. Probert came to my
Enuse on Monday ; something passed between us respecting what happened
m the lane.

John Pidlock examined. I am asurgeon; I was at the Artichoke at Els-
tree, when the body of Mr. Weare was there ; 1 took the shawl from off the
neck ; saw a sack over the shawl: 1 saw the body first at the Artichoke ;
when the sack was taken from the body 1 found a handkerchief, which I de-
livered to Simmons the officer ; the budy was quite naked. ;

John Fieet next examined. 1 am assistant to Mr. Johnson, the messenger,
On the 24th of Cetober 1 was at the Cock public-house, in the I-l:iymurﬁ_ct,
acting officially under a commission; Hunt came in a gig there, about half-
Smst tour in the afternoon ; he delivered a note to me, which I have destroyed ;

olm Thurtell lived at the Cock ; 1 have seen him living there. I knew the
room he occupied; it was No. 10. The contents of the note were, “ Have
the goodness to give Mr. Hunt my great coat and red shawl, which you will
find in a closet at No. 10.” I went to the room, teok the things out, and
brought them down, and gave them to Hunt. The shawl produced is some-
thing like the shawl I gave to Hunt. 1 do not know the hand-writing of the
note.

Caroline Williams. T was servant at the Cock, which was kept by Thomas
Thurtell ; his brother, John Thurtell, lodged there : he had a shawl like the
one produced.

Lucy Slater examined. I was a servant at the Cock; John Thurtell lodged
there; 1 have seen him use a shawl similar to the shawl produced.

John Marshall examined. I am a gunsmith in London; I know the gun
produced ; I saw it last, a twelvemonthago; I saw it at Mr. Weare’s chambers
m Lyon’s Inn. :

Cross-examined by Mr. Andrews. It is at least a twelvemonth ago since I
saw it,

W. Blakesley examined ; In October I lodzed at No. 9, King-street, Golden-
square, the residence of the prisoner Hunt and his wife; remembered Hunt
coming home on the 27th of October in a single-horse chaise; I saw him take
a carpet bag, tilled with things, a gun with a dark case, similar to that pro-
duaced ; a dressing-case, similar to that on the table ; they were carried into
his apartments ; there were also some coats.

Jolin Upson examined : I am an officer. T tock the prisoncrs from London
to Waiford ; we came in two girs ; at Watford, the next morning, a conversa-
tion took place between me and Thartell, abont Hunt's confession ; I made use
of no previons promise or threat ; in the course of the conversaticn abont Hunt's
confession, I asked Thurtell what he did with the watch, and he told me that
he threw it away in a place among some trees where there were some palings.
This iz the account he gave me,

By Mr, Thessiger: When we were at Watford, Huont gave me an orde
the things to be given up, and told me where they were to be found.

J. Foster examined: I am a constable at Rickmansworth ; on the 30ch Octo-
ber I had Thurtell in my eustody at the Plongh; he made a communication to
me ; I made use of no previous promise or threat; he said that Hunt was a
rascal for nosing him so ; that e (Thurtell) wonld not do so to him (Hunt)
particularly after he (Thurtell) had offered the wateh for sale in his (H.'s
name, and as his property. He said he was offered no more than 250, for it,
though it was worth 60/

T. Thurtell was again called, but he did not answer.

Mr. Justice Park. Gentlemen of the Jury, vou have relieved me from a great
difficulty ; I should not have acceded to the wish of the prisoners, had not yon
also expressed your concnrrence in that course ; one advantage arising from
which wili be, that we shall have given the case the fullest and most patient
attention. I shall now adjowrn the court till to-morrow morning., Let two of
;]:E most steady constables be sworn according to the form which I shal.

irect.
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" Two constables were then sworn * To keep the jurors in some safe and eon-
venient place until the sitting of the cowrt to-murrow ; to furnish them with
every proper and convenient accommodation, and not to speak to them them-
selves, or to allow others-to speak to them, touching the matter in issne, without
the leave of the conrt.” X

The court was then adjonrned to nine o'clock the next morning.

The prisoners remained at the bar for a considerable time, talking to some
persons about them. My, Harmer was in conversation with the prisoner Hunt,
and such was the int=rest excited by their appearance, that almost the whole of
the persons who had crowded the court during the day, still continned looking
towards the dock. ;

At length Mr. Justice Park, who had left the bench, and stood talking to
some gentlemen near him, asked why the prisoners were not removed ?

Mr. Wilson answered that they were engaged talking with their professional
advisers,

Mr. Justice Park. They must talk to them elsewhere ; you must remove them ;
you run a great risk by keeping them here.

The prisoners were then re-conducted to the gaolin the same order in which
they were brought in the morning. 'They appeared to be considerably ex-
hausted. The crowd continued in the court and in its avenues to the last mo-
ment, and many of them followed the prisoners back to the door of the gaol.
On the return of the men to their cells they were furnished with every necessary
refreshment, for which they expressed becoming gratitnde.

The learned judge, and almost every person in court, appeared to be
equally exhaunsted with the prisoners; and althongh the court sat nearly fifteen
hours, there were many persons in the gallery who were unable to move from
their seats.

Mrs. Sutton, the wife of the Hizh Sheriff, and a female friend remained in
court till eight o’clock. Such was the influx of strangers, that scarce a bed in
the town remained without an eccupant, at the moderate charge of one gninea
for the night.

SECOND DAY’'S PROCEEDINGS.

Precisely at nine o'clock My, Justice Park entered the court, and took his seat,
and the prisoners were placed at the bar. Whilst the names of the jury were
ealling over, Thurtell aud Hunt spoke to each other in a [riendly manner. They
conversed together last night after the adjournment of the court. Both the pri-
soners were dressed in the same manner as on the preceding day. Thurtell car-
ried a large bundle of papers and several buoks. He appeared to be in high
spirits. Hunt was rather depressed.

George Ruthven, the Bow-street officer, was recalled, and stated he had no
doubt that Conduit-street and Whitcombe-street were in the county of Middlesex,

Examined by Mr. Andrews. I did not apprehend Probert, but I had him in
custody on the Tuesday afier the supposed murder. Probert told me that he
wished to say something to the coroner. I informed the coroner of what Probert
had said, and the coroner desived me to ask Probert whether he wished to coms
municate any thing to him. I asked Probert, and he replied that he bad no ob-
jection. I said that I must have an answer—yes or no. He then sail that he did
wish to speak to the coroner, and he was then taken before that officer.

Examined by Mr. Thessiger. This was after Hunt had disclosed something to
the magistrates, and after Probert had denied all knowledge of the murder to me.

Thomas Thurtell was recalled and examined by Mr. Platt. I saw Hunt on the
25th of October. 1 had also seen him on the 24th. Oa the 24th be wore a suit
of black clothes. He wore the same ou the 25th. I do not know whose clothes
they were. I know that Hunt has worn my brother’s clathes. Hunt was very
badly off in the: world. He has occasionally borrowed money of me.  On the
26th (Sunday) he wore the same clothes which he had on on the Saturday ; but I
think that he was better dressed after dinner than before. :

Mr. Justice Park now addressed Thortell, and told him that the time had
arvived when he might make his defence, it he had any.

Mr. Wilson, the gaoler, after having spokenwith Thuriell, stated to the court
that the prisoner wished to call witnesses before he made his defence.
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Mr. Justice Park said that he could not depart from the usual course of pro-
ceeding, which was, that the prisoner should make his defence before evidence

was received in his behalf

Thurtell then delivered the following defence.

€ My Lord, and Gentlemen of the Jury,—Under greater difficulties than ever
man encountered, I now rise to vindicate my character and defend my life. 1 have
been supported in this hour of trial, by the knowledge that my cause is heard before
an enlightened tribunal, and that the free institutions of my eountry have placed
my destiny in the hands of twelve men, who are uninfluenced by prejudice, and
unawed by power. I have been represented by the press, which carries its benefits
or curses on rapid wings from one extrmnit% of the kingdom to the other, as a
man more depraved, more gratuitonsly and habitually profiigate and cruel, than
has ever appeared In modern times. [ have been held up to the world as the
perpetrator of a murder, under cireumstances of greater aggravation, of more cruel
and premeditated atrocity, than it ever before fell to the lot of man to have seen or
heard of. 1 have Wieen held forth to the world as a depraved, heartless, remorseless,
praverless villain, who had seduced my friend into a sequestered Kmth, merely in
order to despatch him with the greater security—as a snake who had crept into his
bosom only to strike a sure blow—asa monster, who, after the perpetration of adeed
from which the hardest heart recoils with horror, and at which humanity stands
aghast, washed away the remembrance of my gailt in the midst of riot and debauch=
ery. You, gentlemen, must have read the details which have been daily, 1 may say
hourly, published regarding me. It would be requiring more than the usnal virtue of
our nature to expect that vou should entively divest vour minds of those feelings, X
may say those creditable feelings, which such relations mnst have excired ; but
I am satisfied, that as far as it is possible for men to enter into a grave investiga-
tion with minds unbiaszed, and-judgments unimpaired, after the ealumunies with
which the public mind has been deluged—1 say, | am satisfied, that with such minds
and such judgments, you have this day assumed your sacred office. The horrible
guilt which has been attributed to me, is such as could not have resulted from custom,
but must have been the innate principle of my infant mind, and have ** grown
with my growth, and strengthened with m%( strength.”  But [ will call before you
gentlemen whose characters are unimpeachable, and whose testimony must be above
suspicion, who will tell you, that the time was when my bosom overflowed with ail
the kindly feelings ; and even iy failings were those of an improvident generosity and
unsuspecting friendship. Beware, then, gentlemen, of an anticipated verdict. Do
not suffer the reports which yon have heard to influence your determination. Do not
believe that a few short vears can have reversed the course of nature, and converted
the good teelings which 1 possessed into the spirvit of malignant cruelty to which only
demons can attain. A kind, affectionate, and religious mother, directed the tender
steps of my infaney, in the paths of piety and virtue. My rising youth was guided in
the way that it should go by a father whose piety was mliversnll:.rglmuwu and belicved—
whose kindness and charity extended to all who came within the sphere of its influence.
After leaving my paternal roof, I entered into the service of our late revered monarch,
who was justly entitled the ¢ father of his people.” You will learn from some of my ho-
nourahle companions, that while I served under his colours, I never tarnished their lus-
tre. The country which is dear to me I have served. I have fought for her. 1 have shed
my blood for her. Ifeared not inthe open field toghed the blood of her declared foes. But
oh! to suppose that on that account I was ready to raise the assassin’s arm against my
friend, and with that view to draw him into secret places for his destruction—it is mon-
strous, horrible, incredible. I have been represented to you as a nran who was given to

ambling, and the constant companion of gamblers, To this accusation, in some part, my

eart with feeling penitence pleads guilty. 1 have gambled. 1 have been a gambler,
but not for the last three years. During that time I have not attended or betted n
a horse-race, or a fight, or any public exhibition of that nature. If I have erred in
these things, half of the nuhiﬁt}' of the land have been my examples; some of the
most enlightened statesmen of the country have been my companions in them. I
have indeed been a gambler—I have been an unfortunate one.  But whose fortune,
or whose family, suffered from it? My own family were the only sufferers—my own
fortune was the only sacrifice. At this moment [ feel the distress of my sitnation.
But, Igentlvmm let not this misfortune entice your verdict against me. Beware of your
own feclings, when you are told by the highest anthority, that the heart of man is de-
ceitful above all things, Beware, gentlemen,of an anticipated verdiet, Itis the remark,
of a very sage and experienced writer, that no man becomes wicked all at once. And
with this, which.I earnestly request you to bear in mind, I proceed to lay before you
the whole career of my life. I will not tire you with tedious repetitions, but 1 will dis-
close enough of my past life to inform your judgments ; leaving it to your clemency to
supply whatever little defeets you may observe. You will consider my misfortunes,
and th: situation in which I stand—the deep anxiety that T must feel—the ohject for
which 1 have to strive, Youw may suppose something of all this; but oh! no lines,
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ngpen,” “ thongh'dipped in hues of heaven,” can portray my feelings at this crisis.
Recollect, 1 again entreat you, my sitnation, and allow something for the workings
of a mind little at ease; and pity and forgive the faults of my address.  The con-
clusion-of the late war, which threw its lustre upon the fortunes of the nation ge-
nerally, threw a gloomy shadow over mine. 1 entered into a mercantile life with
feelings as kind, awd with a heart as warm, as [ had cirried with me in the ser-
vice, - | took. the commercial world as it it had been governed by the same re-
gulations as the army. I, looked upon the merchants as if they had been my
mess-companions. In my transactions 1 had with them my purse was open, my
heart as warm, to answer their demands, as they had been to my former asso-
ciates, 1 need not say that any fortune, however ample, would have been in-
safficient to meet such a course of conduct. 1, of course, became the subject of a
commission of bankruptey, - My solicitor, in whom [ had foolishly confided as my
most particular friend, I discovered, too late, to have been a traitor—a man who was
feremost in the ranks of my bitterest enemies.  But for that man, I should still have
been enabled to regain a station in society, and 1 should have yet preserved the
esteem of my friemds, and, above all, my own self-respect.  But how often is it seen.
that the avarice of one creditor destroys the clemeney of all the rest, and for ever dis-
sipates the fair prospects of the unfortunate debtor.  With the kind assistance of Mr.
Thomas Oliver Hingfield, I obtained the signature of all my ereditors to a petition
for superseding my bankruptey. DButjust then, when I flattered myself that my ill for-
tune was about to close—that my blossoms were ripening—there came ‘“ a ¥mst—.1
nipping frost.” My chief creditor refused to sign unless he was paid a bonus of 3007 upon
his debt beyond all the other ereditors. This demand was backed by the man who was at
the time his and my solicitor. [ spurned the offer—I awakened his resentment. 1 was
cast upon the world—my alldisposed of—in the decpest distress, My brother afterwards
availed himself of my misfortune, and entered into business. His warchouses were
destroyed by the accident of a fire, as has been proved by the verdict of a jury on a trial
at-which the venerable Judge now present presided. But that accident, unfortunate
as it was, has been taken advantage of in order to insinoate that he was guilty of
crime, because his property was destroyed by it, as will be proved by the verdict u?’ﬂn.
honest and upright jury in an action for conspiracy, which will be tried ere long before
the Chief Justice of the King's Bench. A conspiracy there was—but where? Why,
in the acts of the prosecutor himself, Mr. Barber Beaumont, whowas guilty of suborn-
ing witnesses, aud will be proved to have paid for false testimony. Yes; this professed
friend of the aggrieved—this pretended prosecutor of publicabuses—this self-appointed
supporter of the laws, who panders to rebellion, and had the audacity to raise its
standard in the front of the royal palace—this man, who has just head enough to con-
trive crime, but not heart enough to risk its consequences—this is the real author of
the conspiracy which will shortly undergo legal investigation, ‘T'o these particulars I
have thought it necessary to call your attention, in language which you may think
g:rl!mps too warm—in terms not so measured, but that they may incur your reproof,

11 4

¢ The flesh will quiver where the pincers tear,
¢ The blood will follow where the knife is driven.”

You have been told that I intended to decoy Woods to his destruetion ; and he has
said that he saw me in the passage of the house. [ can prove, by honest witnesses,
fellow-citizens of my native city of Norwich, that I was there at that time; but, for
the sake of an amiable and innocent female, who might be injured, I grant to Mr.
Woods the mercy of my silence. When, before this, did it ever fall to the lot of any
subject to be borne down by the weight of calumny and obloguy which now op-
presses me?  The press, which ought to be the shield of public llihl:rt].r, the aven
of public wrongs—which, above all, should have exerted itself to preserve the purity
of its favourite institution, the trial by jury—has directed its whole force to my injury
and &‘:’:quudicc; it has heaped slander upon slander, and whetted the public appetite
for slanders more atrocions : nay more, what in other men would serve to refute and
repel the shaft of calumny, is made to stain with a deeper die the villanies ascribed
to me. One would have thought, that some time spent in the service of my country
would have entitled me to some favour from the ]mhiir,: under a charge of this nature.
But no ; in my case the order of things is changed—nature is reversed. The acts of
times long since past have been made to cast a deeper shadow over the acts at-
tributed to me within the last few days; and the pursuit of a profession, hitherto
held honourable among honourable men, has been turned to tﬂc advantage of the
accusation against me, You have been told that after the battle, 1 boasted
of my inhumanity to a vanquished, yielding, wounded enemy—that I made a wanton
sacrifice of my bleeding and supplicating foe, by striking him to the earth with my
cowardly steel ; and that, after this deed of blood, I mlﬁly sat down to plunder m
unhappy victim, Nay, more—that with folly indescribable and Incredible, 1 beast
of my barbarity as of a victory. Is there an English officer, is there an Eﬂgfisll soldier.
or an English man, whose heart would not have revolted with hatred against suelt
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baseness and folly? Far better, gentlemen, would it have been for me, rather thaus
have seen this day, to have fallen with my honourable companions, stemming and
upgﬂsing the tide of battle upon the field of my country's glory. ‘T'hen my father
and my fanyly, though they would have mourned my loss, would have blessed my
memory, and shame would never have darkened me with a suspicion. Before | recur
to the evidence brought against my life, I wish to return my most sincere thanks to
the High Sheriff and the Magistrates, for their kindness shown to me. I cannot but
express my unfeigned regret at a slight misunderstanding which has occurred between
the Rev. Mr. Lloyd, the visiting magistrate, and my solicitor. As it was rmthll;ﬁ
more than a mizunderstanding, 1 trust the bonds of ﬁivu-:lshil: are again ratifi
between us all. My most particular gratitude is due to the Rev. Mr. Franklin, whose
kind visits and pious consolations have inspired me with a deeper sense of the awful
truths of religion, and have trebly armed my breast with fortitude to serve me on
this day. Though last, not least—Ilet me not forget Mr. Wilson, the governor of the
prizon, and the fatherly treatment which he has shown me throughout. My memory
must perish ere [ can f{n'gm his kindness. My heart must be cold ere it can cease (o
beat with gratitude to him, and wishes for the prosperity of hiz family." (This
effusion of gratitude and acknowledgment moved t¥|{! prisoner 1o tears ; the emotion
to which it gave rise spread its influence round the Court in a manner totally inde-
scribable.) *¢ | will now proceed to make a few observations on the evidence brought
ainst me in this case, which is so far like other cases which I shall have to cite,
that it is full of caution, and subject to manifold doubts, and that it is derived prin-
cipally from persons who come forward apxious to save their own lives, which are in
Jeopardy from this charge. In the first place, howerer, Beeson says that there are
several roads leading out of Gill’s-hill lane; the inference drawn from this cir-
cumstance, and that of my horse’s head being turned towards Batler's-green, is
futile, because, in fact, that is the nearer road. But what consistency was
there in the testimony #  The whole party admit that they were ignorant of the body
and the place where it lay, until pointed out by Hunt. ~ How did Hunt get at this par-
ticular knowledge? 'The inference must be, that he put it there himself. The
comstable said, that one man could not have thrown it there. What proof is there
that they did not throw it there? What proof is there that the body was at an
time thrown into Probert’s pond? None, but what is furnished by Probert himself.
Men would have thonght, indeed, that the pond being deep, would have been the
most convenient place for it. You have learnt that it was much deeper than the
ditch in which it was found. Who but Probert could have known that the large
pond was dry at times, and that the shallower ditch was never so. Then, again, asto
the cord and sack. You learn that they were brought by Hunt. Was he ignorant
of the purpose for which they were dezigned ? 1 pass by Field and Upson, and come
to Rexworthy. 'This witness admitted that he was connected with gamblers, and the
supporter of gamblers. Now I will proceed to a remark or two upon Ruthven's
evidence. He speaks of the dress worn by me.  What must have been your surprise,
gentlemen, that the dress had been worn by Hunt two days previously? On the
search which took place afterwards, the knife and pistol were found in the pockets.
When Ruthven came to me, he admits that there was no concealment—that he found
me with unclosed doors ; with drawers unlocked. Was this the conduct of a person
fearing couviction ? What did he find on searching the premises? A shirt and
cravat marked with blood, just as Hunt left them. 1 forgot, my lord, and gentlemen.
of the jury, to call the attention of my brother to that circumstance. The cravat was
a white one—a thing which, up to that time, and since my confinement, [ never wore.
Itwas proved that another person was in the room with me. Whas it prudence, was it
common caution in me to allow this person to be with me, who might disclose my guilt2
Ruthven admits that he found nothing of that openness on going to appr&henc{ g[unt.
Simmons says, that he took ared shawl and handkerchief, which are proved to have
been given to Hunt on the evening previous to the murder. The sack and cord were
gwen to Hunt on the evening of tﬂe murder. I come now to the only man whose
evidence tends, in any way, to convict me. What is the worth of his testimony ? who
ishe? 'The answer to either question is, that he is a murderer. He did not refuse,
even by his own account, to admit a man to his house hot from slaughter, and to in-
troduce him as a companion for his wife. Where was the murder ufcmc ? Withina
%:l:_‘::rter of a mile of his own house. Where was the body taken? T'o his own pond.
o took it there? He himself. His family, at this time, consisted of eight persons,
and yet he invited us down, knowing that he had no accommodation for us. You
will learn from respectable witnesses what was the rea! cause of my going down to
Mr. Tetsall's, Probert gave a true account of the affaiv of the money which was
borrowed at the first examination ; but he gave a totally different one yesterday. Are
you to doom me to ignominy and death upon the evidence of such aman? For
not, 1 beseech you, the difference which appears in the evidence of the two men who
are in running a race, as it were, to determine which shall best deserve the
character of approver, with a bridle upon their tongues which is only in the propor-
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tion of the length of their.consciences. This is the evidence to prove that | am the
murderer of Mr. Weare. Probert tells you that 1 was going to kill him, hecanse he
had robbed me of some hundreds. Can you believe me to be so egregiously foolish 2
He says that 1 told the man to stop for me at a certain place. He admits that the
man was a stranger both to him and his wife, and that he had never stopped at the
cottage before.  Yet he put him down at a proposed place, where it was intended to
commit the murder. Would Probert have allowed Hunt to get out of his gig to meet
a man without asking whom ? Is it credible that Probert would receive a stranger,
unless he knew how and when he was to receive him™?  Yon learn that Probert de-
sired that twenty shillings mighit be given to Hunt, in case he went down in his own
ig. You alzo learn that he gave him mouey to procure a loin of pork on his wa
own. Is this not the conduct of men engaged in a joint business? l believe, l;huug?{
T cannot speak with certainty, that Weare was designed to be the sacrifice of the fatal
spirit which then l|m£-3l31-?.:i{‘ﬁ them, and that 1 also was to become their victim. The
had well prepared themselves for the deed by the quantity of brandy and water whie
they had taken. Probert tells you that [ and Hunt zlept on the sofa, at Gill's-hill-
Tane. Be it so. Probert has admitted that he invited us down without having suffi-
cient accommodation to receive us. Why we put up with the sofa is clear. Migs
Noyes was sleeping in the only spare bed. What else could we have done, under the
circumstances > As to the evidence of what was taken out of the bag, 1 have no ob-
servations to make upou it, becanse, if true, it is perfectly consistent with my inno-
cence. The evidence of the conversation spoken to by Probert carries its own refa-
tation. Was it likely that I should trust matters of such great and awful danger to
Probert, who says he had no knowledge of my design 2 Probert adds, that 1 confessed
to him my intention to murder Mr. Barber Beanmont and Mr. Woods, the latter being
on the verge of marriage with Mrs. Probert's sister. 1s it credible that I should en-
trust such a secret to Probert, above all men on earth ? Observe, too, the contradic-
tion in their testimony. He says that Wardle's field was the place where the body
was first deposited.  Mrs. Probert says that it was first taken to the stable, and then
dragged to the pond. He says that there was a lantern.  Mrs. Probert says that it
wits fine moon-light, which is contrary to the evidence of all the other witnesses.
What will be your surprise when you learn that the garden-gate is on one side of the
house, the s#able on the other, and that the walk from the stable to the pond is not to be
seen from any part of the house, Probertsays that Le did not get up next morning till nine
o'clock. What truth is there in this 2 Probert says, that on telling me what he had heard
at Mr. Nicholls’s, 1 said * Then I am baked.” And yet it appears that I retwned to
town and lived where I did the preceding week, with doors and drawers unlocked ;
actually posting the marks of my guilt. Probert says that Hunt came down in dirty
clothes ; and it is proved, that he was afterwards seen in clothes belonging to my
brother. Probert tells you that the boy was sent away, which is the truth, and that
it was because he might vot be in the way to answer questions.  What truth is there
in this? Youn learn that Probert was going next day to guit the cottage, and that
regular notice had been given.  Lhave no more remarks to offer on this cold-blooded
witness.,  You will receive with caution the evidenee of such a man, when in his
cross-examination he confesses that he did not think of giving evidence until Hunt
had confessed. Then commenced the strife between them which should make out
the strongest case to deserve and obtain the werey of the Crown. After much pre-
varication, Probert said that he did not come down till nine o'clock the mext
morning. He then refused to swear that it was so late as eight o'clock:
his boy swears that it was not seven.  You will not fail to remark the cha-
racter of this witness, as it was wrung from him by the cross-examination
of Mr. Andrews—that he had been committed to gaol six or seven times,
and that he had been frequently remanded by the commissioners in his bank-
Tuptcy. He proved him.-':tflf t'hu.t e had introdueced Hunt to me : for '.'.:Iml: pur-
pose 13 now only too plain. The evidenee of Mrs. Probert, gentlemen, is no less
open to discredit.  You cannot have forgotten the account she gave of seeing the
horse come from the stable, when, from the subsequent part of her examination, she
admitted that she could not see the stable-door.  “That witness has also detailed a
long conversation, which she says she heard, although it was conducted in whispers,
and although the door which intervened was shut. Now, gentlemen, T entreat you
to mark what follows : in answer to a question put to her by the learned Judge, she
said, that the conversation, which she heard in whispers, was after she had seen her
husband drageing something across the water ;3 in thas she is directly contradicted by
_ her husband, who says, that immediately after leaving the poud, he went up stairs
. to bed. Is it not plain, then, gentlemen, from this remarkable discrepancy, 1f from
no other circumstance, that the pretended r.-.hi.iilwri ng is a scheme which has been
arranged hetween Probert and his wife, and which has broken down in their attempt
to execute it ? [ know not—I cannot know : but | most firmly believe that the body
was pever in Probert’s pond at all.  Mis, Probert’s account of the sitwation of the
garden proves nothing that should contravene this presumption. The appearance of
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the ground is accounted for, because she has said that potatoes were grown there ;
and they would of course be dug up before she left the premises, as she was ‘about'to
do when the circumstances to which she speaks are sapposed to have taken place.
Tt his been stated, too, that the body was stripped, and taken out at the side of the
pond. T eonld not learn from the evidence at which side ; |Jllli: an Erlgr'd.vilrg in the
Observer newspaper of the 9th of November last, represents it as being on that side
opposite to which Mrs. Probert said she heard the body dragging. The evidence given
by Probatt, the horse-keeper, seems to me, gentlemen, to deserve yomr most serious
consideration.  From his testimony, vou will pereeive it is beyond all doubt that
Hunt hired the horse and gig; it is proved no less clearly that he provided every
thing which was necessary for the occasion on which he was to employ himself, The
witness Fleet has proved, too, that Hunt took the shawl; amd Probert has himself
told you that he supplied him with the sovereign which was to pay his expenses. 1
now cill your attention to the evidence of Clark, the person keeping the White Lion
at Edegeware; and thiz 1 beg youn to examine most sernpulously.  You well remember
he stated, that as he was returning home at night, he met a gig on the wrong side of
the road ; that a coach was at the same moment passing along, by the lamps of which
he was cnabled to distinguish my person.  Now, gentlemen, I ask yon whether your
own experience does not convince you that this is altogether false? T know, and
every other man who will take the trouble of reflecting for a moinent on the state-
ment, must also know, that it IILLIHt_I'P(" I':tF.t-_i‘. r-lltl a wide road as this is stated to have
been, in a dark night, it would be impossible for a person passing between a coach’s
lamps and a gig on the wrong side of the road, to distinguish the featares of tife man
in the gie. Yon know very well, that under such circnmstances the lamps woul
yather have been a hindrance than otherwise.  And yet, in the face of this absolute
impossibility, the witness Clark has sworn that he was able to discern my person, and
to see that a gentleman was sitting upon my lett hand. “Ulns is in my humble
opinion guite conclusive as to the credit which you are to give to this witness's testi-
mony. 1t is, vou know, commonly said, that witneszes who endeavour to prove too
much, commonly fail m every particular; and the observation was never more
strikingly illustrated than in the cazge of this Clark, whose demeanour alone is suf-
ficient to show that no reliance can be placed npon him, and whose character is such,
that no individual who knows him woold beiieve him on his oath. "The testi-
mony of the hackney coachman, to which I must now call your attention, proves
that " he set down Mr. Weare at half-past four o'clock. This he has sworn to most
sitively ; he said also that 4 man ina light shagey coat met the deceased when he set
im down, and assisted in carrying away the luggage,  All the witnesses agree that 1
did not leave Tetsall’s until five o'clock. 1 therefore could not have heen the
rzon here alluded to. That the evidence of the coachman has been such as it is,
am indebted, 1 believe, to the caution of wmy solicitor ; for it the witness had been
allowed to see me alone, and as others were introduced to me, 1 have no doubt that
he, as well as they, would have identified me, and would thus have been the means
of strengthening the conspiracy of which 1 am the vietim., Upon the evidence, 1
have to observe, to you, gentlemen, that although he says now he never stated the
ig he saw to have been a yellow gig, my recollection is qln'itt- clear that he did 2o
state it before the magistrates.  Clark’s hostler proves that the night was so dark, it
was impossible to distinguish colours, ]
The Judge here said—Prisoner, [ have no wish to interrapt you, nor to prevent
u from stating to the jury whatever vou think may be servieeable to you ; bur I
aust tell vou that it will be my duty hereafter to contradict what you have now =aid,
and to inform the jury, that the deposition of the witness you have alluded to does
not contain any such statement: he swears he never said i was a yvellow gig, 0
Thurtell bowed and proceeded.—¢ Mr. Field, the landlord of the Artichoke, &t
Flstree, has proved that Probert and Hunt did not redach his house until past nine
o’clock. Clark =ays they left his house at seven; thus you see, gentlemen, there was
ample time for Hunt and Probert to have gone to Gill's-hill-lane and to have perpe=
trated thiz atrocions deed, and to have returned to the Artichoke in time to be seen
by Mr. Field. That they did so, I have no doubt ; and it is also most consistent
with that desire which they have manifested throughout, to shift the blame from
their own shoulders to those of any other person.  Can you believe, gentlemen, the
gtory which has been told yon, of Hunt's leaving his companion in the dark, within
o mile and a half of Probert’scottage ? Can you believe the evidence which has been
given you hy Probert ? [ am sure yon cannot ; and if you disbelieve that man, there is no
testimony whatever tending to fix upon me the horrible erime with which I am charged.,
Clark’s hostler has stated, that he saw two gentlemen in the gig at half-past seven, and
that it was then so dark, that he could not discern the countenances of either ; and yet,
notwithstanding this assertion, the lanndry-maid has been browght to swear, that she
believed Mr. Wedre to have heen one of the persons : but von are still uninformed, gen-
tlemen, in spite of all this effort in swearing, who was the other person.  'Why, 1 ask,
and I am sure you will ik too, why did not this hoztler, when the business was fizst
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under investigation, go hefore the magistrates on the eoroner’s jury, and state there
what he-has now been indiced to depose hefore you 2 His evidence, and that, of his
anaster, so far as it can be at all credited, go distinctly to prove that it was impozsible
for me to have been seen by either of them.  Upon the evidence of the man who seld
the pistols, 1 do not think it necessary to say any thing, beeanse I am satisficd, gentle-
men, that you cannot suppose that any thing can be collected from that by which 1
can be convicted. With respect to the conversation of which yon have heand, and
- which is said to have taken place between me and an oficer at 8t, Alban's, all I have
to observe ig, that although some such conversation did oecur, the nature of it has
been much mistaken. [ =aid nothing more than that even if 1 were as guilty as Hunt
had represented me to bey, he must nevertheless be a great scoundrel ; {for that if 1
had been in hiz place, 1 would have died rather than have betrayed my companion.
Enough has been said to you about the wateh; it has been most minutely and cir-
cumstantially deseribed, and yet it is not forthcoming. Have you not a right, and
have Lnot a still greater right to ask, *© Where is it what is become of it? why do they
not produce it?” I ought to rejoice, gentlemen, that these circumstances, upon
which my prosecutors have reliéd, to prove my guilt, will, when fairly and dispassion-
ately considered, furnish evidenee of nty innocence.  Gentlemen, your verdiet must be
formed entively upon circumstances.  Those circumstances, [ think, 1 have satisfacto-
xily shown do not point at me as the perpetrator of this dreadful deed ; but circum-
stantial evidence, gentlemensis at the best a fearful guide for hnoao judgment, as the
annals of our own and of foreign jurisprudence too frequentiy show. The imper-
fection of human judgment, aided only by circumstantial evidence, devoted a father
to death for the supposed murder of hig son, and a servant for a crime of which she
was afterwards proved to be isnocent, ‘The pames of Calas aud of the maid of
Palaiscau present an awful leszon to judges and te jurors who have to decide
upon the lives of their fellow-creatures. In our own happy country, instances of
incorrect judgments have been less frequent, but still they have oceurred often
enough to inspire jurors with the utmost caution. Mr. Justice Hale, in his Pleas
of the Crown, vol. 2, p. 290, declares in the most impressive manner, that he would
never sanction a verdiet against a prisoner charged with murder, unless evidence of
the most satisfactory nature respecting the body of the deceased, and the nature of
the wounds which had caused his death, should be produced in aid of the circum-
stances by which the accusation was to be supported. The same learned Judge quotes
a case showing the necessity of such a resolution, which he states to have happened
in Staffordshire, within his own recollection. A was missing, and there being a
strong presumption that he had been despatched by B, who was suspected of having
consumed his body to ashes in his own oven, B was indicted for the murder, con-
victed and executed.  About a year afterwards, A returned home from bevond seas,
whither he had been sent by I against his will ; o that, although perhaps B really
deserved death, he was clearly innocent of that exime for which he suffered. Another
case was that of a nobleman, who had the care of bringing up his niece, to whom he
wis the next in succession to certain property. The child, it seems, had committed
some offence, lor which her uncle had found 1t necessary to correct her, and she had
been overheard saying, * Good uncle, don’t kill me.”” The child was afterwards not
1o be found ;3 the uncle was committed for the murder, and the Judge, before whom
he was tried, admonished him to find the child against the next assizes. When that
period arrived, the uncle could not find the child, but produced another, like his
niece, in years and in figure. On examination, it was discovered that this child was
not the one which had disappeared, and the unele was found guilty and executed. It
appeared afterwards that t;nu child had been terrified, had run away, and had been
received by a stranger who maintained her; and when she became of age she claimed
her land, and was put in possession of it, having satisfactorily proved herself to be
the true child.

The prisoner read these cases with a firm voice, and in a most distinet tone.
At their conclusion he said, *“1 shall not trouble you, gentlemen of the jury,
with any more cases.  (Here Thurtell’s solicitor said something to him in a low
tone), and he then cited one more ease from the Newgate Calendar. As the
case is long, I shall not detain you by reading it all. I shall give only the heads
of it. Itis the trial of a man named Holman, in 1748, at Kingston, for the murder
of a young woman. The yvoung woman lived for ten weeks after receiving the
wonnds which eventually caused her death.  She stated, before her death, that she
had been attacked by a man named Holman. Holman was taken up; and a strong
case of circnmstauces being made out against him, he was executed, protesting his
innocence to the last moment.  In about three years after this, two persons were
tried for another murder, and found guilty : they then confessed that Holman had
suffered undeservedly; that he was wholly innocent of the crime. They acknow-
ledged that it was conumitted by one of them, who assumedjthe name of Holwan; in
order that he (Holman) might afterwards be charged with it. Thurtell then resumed
this paper and read—* And now, gentlemen, having read those cases to you, am I
not justified in saying, that unless you are thoroughly convinced that the circume
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stances before you are absolutely inconsistent with my innocence, 1 have a claim to
your verdict of acquittal ? Am 1 not justified in saying, that you might come to the
conclusion that all the circumstances stated might be true, and yet I be innocent? T am
sure, gentlemen, you will banish from your minds any prejudice which may have
heen excited against me, and act upon the principle that every man is to be deemed
innocent until he is proved guilty.  Judge of my case, gentlemen, with matare con-
gideration, and remember that my existence depends upon your breath. If you bring
in a verdict of guilty, the law afterwards allows no mercy. If upon a due considera-
tion of all the circnmstances you shall have a doubt, the law orders, and your own
consciences will teach you to give me the benefit of it. Cut me not off in the midst
of my days, [implore you, gemtlemen, to give my case your utmost attention. 1 ask
not so much for myself as for those respectable parents whose name 1 bear, and who
must suffer in my fate. [ ask it for the sake of that home which will be rendered
cheerless and desolate by my death. Gentlemen, 1 am incapable of any dishonour-
able action. Those who know me best know that [ am utterlyincapable of an unjust
and dishonourable action, much less of the horrid crime with which I am now
charged. There is not, I think, one in this Court who does not think me innocent of
the charge. If there be—to him or them, I say in the language of the Apostle,
“ IFould to God ye were altogether such as [ am, save these bonds.””  Gentlemen, T
have now done.  1look with confidence to your decision. I hope your verdict this day
awill be sueh as you may ever after be able to think upon with a composed conscience ;
and that you will also reflect apon the solemn decluration whick I now make—=So help
mie GGod I am innocent.’

Thurtell pronounced this last sentence in the most emphatic manner. He
raised his eyes to Heaven, and extended his arms a little, then drew them back
and pressed his hauds elosely to his heart. He then bowed to the Judge and
Jury, and resumed his seat. His whole demeanour scemed to have created a
strong feeling in his favour.

The Judge then addressinz himself to the prisoner Hunt said, ¢¢ Joseph
Hunt, it is now your time, as your counsel cannot address the Jury on your
hehalf, to say what you thivk proper in your defence ; but before you begin, the
purposes of justice require that the witnesses fur the other prisoner should be
heard first.

Mr. Samuel Wadeson was then called, and’examined by Mr, Andrews.—In the
course of my profession, 1 became acquainted with Probert, It was when he be-
came a bankrupt. 1 was the solicitor for the creditors. There were several
meetings and examinations. From what I then saw and knew of Probert, I would
not believe bim on his cath, uniess his testimony was supported by other and
credible evidence

Mr. Haydon, examined by Mr. Platt.—1 have known John Thurtell. The im-
EI'Ess.iu:: on my mind, from my kuowledge of him, is, that he is humape and kind-

earted.

By the Court.—When was your last intercourse with him >—~Witness answered
that he had not ceased to know and see him. He met him frequently.

Captain M‘Kinlay, examined by Mr. Andrews.—I am a Captain in the royal
navy. (We think the witness added, that he held some situation at Greenwich,
but we could not distinctly hear.) I have known Jobn Thurtell, He served
under me. He was under my command from 1812 to 1814, 1 was then Captain
of the Bellona. He always acted with correctness as an officer. 1 fornd him cor=
rect, humane, and liberal. I have not known him since 1514,

Mr. W. Walmsley, who was examined by Mr. Chitty, stated, that he had
known John Thurtell for the last 13 or 14 years, and that he had during that time
always considered him a humane, well-dispozed man,

This was the last witness called on behalfl of Thuriell,

Mr. Justice Park. Joseph Hunt, I will now hear your defence if you have got
aony to offer. :

Hunt, 1 have a defentce, which, from the extreme anxiety of mind under which
I'labour, I thivk I shall not be able to read through myself,

Mpr, Justice Park. You had better hand it to the officer of the court, and allow
him to read it.

Hunt accordingly gave a paper to one of the sherifi’s officers, who put it into
the hands of Mr. Kvapp, the clerk of the arraigns. That gentleman proceeded
immediately to read it. It was as follows :—

“ My Lord,—~Having, under a positive assurance that I should be admitted a
witmess for the crown, made a full and true confession of all the facts within my
knowledge respecting this horrible and melancholy event, and having implicitly
relied on the good faith of the magistrates for the due performance of their so-
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lemn promises, made previously and subsequent to my disclosure, I forbore tor
make the slightess preparation for my defence; and after your lordship shall be
made acquainted with all the circumstances under which that confession was
drawn from me, your lordship’s feeling and compassionate heart will be able to
appreciate, although I am unable to describe, the painful emotions of surprise
and disappointment by which I was overwhelmed, when, only a few days before
the assizes, it was notified to me, for the first time, that I was to be placed in my
present perilous and awful situation.

Mr. Justice Park. I suppose you mean the assizes which commenced on the
3d of December, not the postponed assizes which we are now holding 2

Mr. Thessiger said a few words to his lordship—we could not hear them.

Mr. Justice Park. I merely mentioned the circumstance, that there may be ne-
mistake regarding it.

“ Your lordship will perceive that the very circumstance which I was told
would procure me forgiveness, and ensure my salety, has alone rendered me-
amenable to the laws—namely, my own disclosure and declarations ; for, although
the prosecutors may not offer my confession in evidence, yet, as that confession
has been published in every newspaper in the kingdom, and has been circulated
in many thousand pamphlets, and been the subject of universal conversation, is it
probable, or even possible, that auy of the gentlemen who are now sitting in judg-
ment on my case can be ignorant that such a confeision has been made? How
futile, then, and unavailing would be any observations or arguments to raise a
presumption or the innocence of a man, who already, to a certain extent, stands
self-condemned: Feeling myself in this dilemma, 1 shall abstainfrom troubling
your lordship with any detail of facts or observations upon the main question in-
volved in the indictment, but merely assert, that I was not present when the un-
fortunate deceased lost his life, and that I was ignorant of any premeditated plan
or intention to destroy him ; I never kuew of the murder until after it was com=
mitted ; my crime consists solely in concealment ; and my discovery could not.
bring the dead to life : my error arises, not from any guilt of my own, but from
my concealment of the guilt of others. I am pow on my trial for having been
privy to the previous design—I never was; I certainly concealed it afterwards,
soouner than betray the misfortune which Lad been confided to me. Your lord-
ship, however, will, 1 am sure, tell the gentlemen of the jury that no conceal-
ment or conduct of mine after the death will make out the present charge ; and ¥
hope both your lordship and these gentlemen are too just and merciful to conviet
me from prejudice, and not from proof.

“ I now, my lord, most respectiully solicit your humane attention to the follow-
ing statement :—

“ On the morning of Wednesday, the 29th of October, I was apprehended i
Londen, and directly conveyed to Watford, where au investigation was going on
respecting the then supposed murder of Mr, Weare. On my arrival I found se-
veral magistrates assembled, and Mr. Noel, who was apparently conducting the
prosecution, addressed me as follows :—* Mr, Hunt, for God’s sake, tell the ma=
gistrates whatever you know of this murder, and in all probability you will be
admitted as an evidence. It is clear that Mr. Weare has been murdered, and we
only want to find where the body is, and if you know, for God's sake tell us.” I
repeatedly denied all knowledge of the circumstance, and Mr. Noel as frequently
importuned and urged me to confess. At last the magistrates said, * Mr. Hunt,
you had hetter retire and consider the offer made to you, and recollect your peril-
ous situation.,” I was then couveyed into another room, and was presently fol-
lowed by Mr. Noel, who, in the presence of Ruthven and Upsom, repeatedly told
me that if I would tell where the body was (provided I did not actually commit
the murder,) that I should be admitted as au evidence, and my life would be
spared ; and added, that the magistrates had authorized him to make a pledge
to this effect. Still, however, Ig was firm in my denial, and continued so until
Upson the officer tortured my feelings by the mention of my family, He said to
me, ¢ Hunt, you have a mother?' 1 answered ¢ Yes, I have.,’ ¢ And a wife also 2*
I said “Yes." ¢ And you love them dearly 2’ 1 answered ¢ Yes, very dearly.
Then said he, * For their sakes do not risk suffering an ignominious death, but
tell where the body is, and give your evidence immediately, or you may be too
“late; for Probert or the other will disclose, and then nothing can save you.'

“ This address had a great effect upon me, and Noel perceiving it, again
ypressed me, saying, ¢ Do not hesitate, for you have now a chance: consider the
situation you are in, and avail yourself of the offer now made to you, for I amy
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anthorized by the magistrates to say, that you will be admitted. as an evidence:
for the crown, and not treated as the others. You will merely be confined-until .
the trial, to give your evidence, and then be discharged.” Oun receiving this as+
surance, [ consented to become a witness, and Mr. Noel then asked wme if I knew
where the body was? I teld him yes, that I could not describe the place by
name, but 1 could point it out: on which Mr. Noel struck his hand on the
table, and exclaimed, £ That's all we want.” and shaking me by the hand. said,
¢ Hunt, I am very glad yon have saved your own life.’

<6 We now returned nto the room where the magistrates were, and Mr, Noel
told them I was ready to make a disclosure, and said, | have made known to
him, by yoar orders, that if he discovers where the body is, he is to be admitted
as an evidence 3 but before he says any thing, 1 wish him to have that assurance
in your presence, that he may be satisfied from yourselves that I was authorized
to make the promise. The magistrates, Mr. Clutterbuck and Mr. Mason, re-
plied, that Mr. Noel had their authority for what he had done; and then Mr,
Noel said, ¢ Now, Mr. Hunt, having heard the magistrates’ - decision as to your
being a witness, I hope you are satisfied, and I beg you will take a seat, and tell
us all you know.” 1 then detailed every thing that oceurred to my recollection,
but having been apprehended early on the preceding day, conveyed into the
country, and harassed and importuned throughout the night, it could hardly
be expected that I should, at four or five ¢’clock in the morning, in making a
very lung statement, recollect every circumstance 3 indeed, the magistrates were
aware that such could not be the case, aud they told me, that as in the hurry
and confusion of the moment, I had no doubt omitted many facts that I should
afterwards on reflection recollect, and if such should be the case, 1 had only to
address a letter to the magistrates, and they would immediately attend to it,
Shortly after quitting the room, several particulars came to my recollection
which I had not named, and 1 directly sent for Mr. Noel and mentioned them to
him. At nine o'clock the same morning, [ went with the officers and pointed out
the spot where the body had been deposited ; I was then taken back to the ma-
gistrates to sign my statement, and previous to my being taken to prison, Mr.
Clutterbuck desired that I should be treated with Kindness, and not put under
any unnecessary restraint. I was accordingly conveyed to 5t. Albans without
being ironed or handcuffed, and was there treated with every possible indul-
gence.

“ On being taken before the coromer, I experienced very different treatment ;
but still I had no intimation given me that I was not to be admitted as a witness
for the crown, until just before the present indictment was found.

¢ It is perfectly true, that when before the coroner, 1 was admonished to make
no farther confession ; but the admonition was a mockery. 1 had already, under
a solemn promise, confessed every thing material ; and the coroner himself, when
he thus affected to forewarn me, well knew that he and his jury were that instant
sitting in inquest on the body solely in consequence of my disclosure : no ju
could have sat—no death could have been proved—no body could have been found
—no trial could have been had, but for my instrumentality. I was trepanned into
a coufession by the plighted faith of the magistracy of this county. If they break
it now, they will not merely make me the victim of its violation, but they will be
answerable to society for every future crime against the discovery of which their
conduet will be an eternal admonition. Who can confide in promises hereafter 2
Who can rest his life on magisterial assurances ? T'o no human being can they
ever pledge themselves more sacredly than to me, yet here I stand to-day a proof
of their sincerity ; nay, more than this—not only have they broken faith and
violated honour, but while the press was unceasing in the excitement of prejudice
—while the theatre and the painter were employeil in poisoning the public mind—
while every engine was at work to diminish the chances of an impartial trial;
these very men, who had thus ensnared me by perfidious declarations, closed their
prison door against friends and legal advisers, and opened them only to the man-
date of the King's Bench. Thus was 1 first ensnared, and afterwards sought to
be sacrificed. Seduced into a confession which was trumpeted through the world,
and then cruelly secluded until the time arrived when I was to suffer—not for my
crime, but by credulity ; not because I erred, but because I trusted ; not because
I violated the law, but because I confided in the conscience of its mipisters. It is
n vain to say that my confession was not complete; it was as ample as could
have been expected at the moment, from an exhausted frame and an agitated
mind, It was subsequently amended, where it was at first deficient ; and no
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sophistry can evade the fact, that through that confession alone the body wasz dis-
covered. ' Thus, then, the main circamstance—tihat on which every thing turned,
was disclosed at once; and it s absurd to attribute to aught but'mementary con-
fusion, any minor concealment, when the great, essential, and ivdispensable de-
velopement had taken place, '

““ Asa proof that even the coroner himself considered my confession so ample
as’to ensure my pardon, and that in his mind, notwithstanding his admonition,
the promise of the magistracy onght to be held inviolate, hear his own words
to Br. Nicholls, one of the witnesses—* The consequence of your delay has
been the escape of Hunt from justice ; for he has been admitted a witness for
the crown, by the magistrates, as they were afraid the body was disposed of.?
Now, what did these words mean, it the coroner was not fully convinced that
I had merited and ensured my pardon ?

 The prosecutors, my Lord, may affect to say, that as they refuse to grant
the boon promised for the disclosure, they will decline using, or taking any
advantage of the confession, and I humbly submit that such a line of conduet
would be alone consistent with justice and fair dealing ; forif they retract their
engagement, they ought notto place me in a worse situation than I wasin at the
moment when, confiding in their integrity, I unbosomed the secret. If the
prosecutors act with liberality and forbear to offer a tittle of evidence respect-
ing the body, and, in conducting the case, consider it as still undiscovered, I
can have no cause to complain of plighted faith and broken promises, because
your lordship need not be reminded that it has been laid down as a principle,
that no death can be considered as proved unless the body be found, and con-
sequently in this case no conviction can take place. But if witnesses are pro-
duced Lo prove the finding of the body, can it be said that my confession is not
taken advantage ot? and will not the prosecuntors be taunting me by an affecta-
tion of candour, if they take credit for not giving in evidence any declaration
maide by me, while they avail themselves of the very essence and substance of
the communication ?

& Yo confirmation of the promises made to me by the magistrates and Mr,
Noel, I Lieg to refer to a statement which the latter gentleman has poblished
in the newspapers : wherein he says—* It is now incumbent on me to state the
reasons for the offer of mercy held out to Hunt ;" and then he thus proceeds :—
¢ Notwithstanding the most diligent searches for the body, no discovery had
been made of it as late as four o’clock past midnight of Thursday morning, the
30th of October, the sixth day after the murder, and at that hour the informa-
tions and investigations had terminated with no clue whatever to the real
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person muyrdered.” Mr. Noel next describes his invitations to me to make a
disclosure, with a view to my being admitted as an approver ; his desiring me
to vetire to consider of his proposal; and after I had left the room, he says he
addressed the magistrates as follows :—¢ Gentlemen, if' you do not approve
of the offer of mercy now held out to Hunt, say so, and I will go to bim,
Recollect, withont the body is found, notwithstanding the strong evi-
dence against one of the parties, we shall do nothing; and Mr. Clutterbuck
and Mr. Mason both gave unqualified approbation to my mode of examination,
and of the offer of mercy held ont to Hunt.”

¢ And in another part of Mr. Noel's statement he says, * Not only at Watford,
but at the inquest, it was the general opinion of Mr. Mason and the magistrates,
that the body might have remained concealed in Hill’s Sloungh, the place where
it was found (a distance of three miles and a half from the spot where the murder
was committed,) until it had been decomposed, and beyond the possibility of
identifying ; and such was the insignificance of the slongh, that persons em-
ployed to drag all pits, ponds, &c., wonld have passed by it, and therefore they
were confirmed in their opinion as to the policy and propriety of sanctioning my
offer of mercy to Hunt ; and previous to the offer being made, it was our united
opinion that the corpse had been removed to London, and probably thrown into
the Thames either entire or piecemeal.”

% In addition to this statement, Mr. Noel inserts a letter from Mr, Clutter-
buck to himszelf, in which the magistrate observes, that as my case was then
gone ont of the hands of the magistrates, all that conld be done for me was to
ask of the court whether they would allow me to be evidence for the Crown.

“ Having now, my Lord, faithfully stated the inducements by which I was
led to make that disclosure which alone rendered my self and my fellow-prisoners

N
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amenable to justice, I respectfully submit to your Lordship, whether, in being
now put wpon my trial, and made the victim of my own credulity, I have been
fairly and candidly dealt with? I will not, my Lord, attempt to point ont or
discuss the mischiefs likely to arise if such engagements as were entered into
with me are to be cancelled at pleasure, because they will oceur much more
forcibly to your Lordship’s enlightened mind : indeed, so far as I am individu-
ally concerned, my fate is a subject of trifling importance. I have no desire to
prolong a wretched existence, unless it be to afford the opportunity of endea-
vouring, by prayer and penitence, to obtain mercy and forgiveness of the Al-
mighty, for the sins and transgressions I have committed. But in pity to the
feelings of an aged and respectable mother, a virtuous and amiable wile, and
my dearly beloved brother and sister, 1 do feel most anxions to avoid an igno-
minious death; and it is therefore tor their sakes, more than for my own, that I
fervently and earnestly entreat the performance of the solemn pledge made to
me of sparing my life.

¢ I have nothing further to add, but most humbly repose my fate in the justice
and humanity of your Lordship.”

When Mr. Knapp had concluded the reading of this document, Hunt rose
and said, that he had another paper which he wished to have read. He was
proceeding to read it himself, when

Mr. Justice Park asked him whether he had not better allow that paper also
to be read by the officer of the court.

Hunt replied, that as the paper was very short, he would proceed to read it
himself. He merely wished to add, that the greater part of Probert’s evidence
was false, and especially that part of it in which it was stated, that he (Hunt)
was acquainted with all the circumstances which occurred previously to the
murder. In order to save his own life, Probert had found it necessary to saecri-
fice his. One fact which Probert had stated, every body must see must be
false. Probert had said, that he (Hunt) had pointed out the place where he
was to be set down on the road. Now it was in evidence that he had never be-
fore been in that part of the country. How, then, could he know any thing
about the places on the road? .

Mr. Jnstice Park, finding that Hunt had concluded, desived one of the Hert-
fordshire constables to be placed in the witness-box. One of them was accor-
dingly placed there. The learned Judge then asked him whether he knew
where Gill’s-hill-lane was? He replied that he did not. He was in consequence
dismissed.

Mr. Justice Park said, that his reason for examining the constable was, to
have legal proof that Gill’s-hill-lane was in the county of Hertford. Perhaps
there was some person in conrt who could prove it.

It was stated that the coroner was in court, and could prove the point in
gquestion. He was accordingly put into the witness-box, and proved that not
only Gill’s-hill lane, but also the place where Mr, Weare's body was found, were
in the county of Hertford.

Mr. Justice Park then commenced, at a few minutes before 12 o'clock, to sum u
the evidence to the jury. The present case was one of great importance, and h
already occupied a very great portion of their time and labour. It was a case which
was of vast importance to the prisoners, and scarcely of less importance to the pub-
lic. The lprisq}ncrs were indicted in this manner---one of them, Jolm Thurtell, as the
principal telon, and the other, Joseph Hunt, as the party who had stirred up, moved,
abetted, procured, commanded, hired, counselled, and directed John Thurtell to per-
petrate the murder, or, in legal language, as an_accessory befare the fact. If he had
only been guilty of concealing the murder after it had been committed, he was only, as
he said in his defence, an accessory after the tact, and therefore could not be convicted
upon this indictment. The question which they had to decide was, like all other
examinations into the death of a man, of great’ importance ; for the law of England
placed, and very properly placed, so high a value on the life of a citizen, as to deem
every killing a murder ; and it therefore threw upon the person a-:'cusm!l, the burden
of showing the circumstances of extenuation, which reduced the killing from muerder
to manslanghter, or which made it no killing, but that which the law excused or jus-
tified. The present question did not, however, depend upon any point of that nature.
The only question before the jury was, who committed the murder of Mr. Weare ;
for it was not pretended by either of the prisoners, that, if they committed it, there
were any circumstances which justified them in doing so. The defence of the prin-
'_ﬁﬂ in this indictment was, that he did not commit the fact charged against him ; and
ifhe did not commit that fact, all inquiry regarding the accessory was useless and
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unnecessary. Therewas this distinction between the two prisoners at the bar, a dis-
tinction which, though it made no legal difference in their situation, for accessories:
before the fact stood exactly on the same ground as principals, was still worth theie
notice---there was this distinction between the two prisoners, that if they ﬂmught-
that there was no testimony to affect John Thurtell, then they needed not to inguire
as to the guilt of Joseph Hunt ; for Hunt being only indicted for counselling and
abetting John Thurtell in the commission of this murder, it was clear that if they
thonght that John Thurtell did not commit it, Hunt could not have counselled or
abetted him in the commission. There was likewise another difference between them,
viz. that though they might think John ‘Thurtell guilty, it did not follow that they
must necessarily find Joseph Hunt guilty of aiding, counselling, and abetting him,
He trosted that he had thus explained to their satisfaction, the distinetion which
existed in the cases of the two prisoners.  The jury had heard as well as he had, the
topics which had been ﬂﬂ?:l'(‘:{ by Thurtell in his defence ; and before he went into
the evidence, which he should detail to them very minutely, and should examine
with all the discrimination which his mind could bring to it, he wounld beg leave
to call their attention to them. He should not be doing justice to that defence, if he
did not fully admit that the ‘beginning and end of it were eminently manly,energetic
and powerful, and were highly creditable to the party who had drawn itup. He:
could not, however, help saving, though he was noi one of those who took pleasure
in saving any thing I'E'r'l.l“:-'jl'l., that he could not admire the jndgment of those who had
advised the prisoner to disfigure and deform that defence by putting so foolish a
mirddle between so able & commencement and conclusion. It it had been the wish
of the parties to have weakened the defence as much as possible, they counld not
have effected their purpose better than by quoting cases from the Newgate Calendar,
the Percy Anecdotes, and other volumes, of which no lawyer kuew any thing,
and which, for any thing he knew, might even be mere volumes of romance. By
such a proceeding the defence had lost all the effiect of the opinion of that eminent
man Lord Hale—an opinion which was so sound, that no man in his senzes would
presume to question”it—an opinion on which he had recently acted in a case in Sussex
~—namely, that in order to prove the crime of murder, it should be shown that the
man said to be murdered was absolutely dead. ‘That opinion was founded in common
sense ; it required no anthority, save that of Lord Hale, amd it certainly acquired no
weight from the farrago of romance and nonsense which somebody had put into the
hands of the prisoner ; for he did not suppose that the prisoner was the person who
had himself collected it.  The principal, Thurtell, had chiefly rested his defence on
the danger of giving too implicit evedence to circumstantial evidence. 1If the doctrine
which he had that day advanced were to be carried to the extent to which he con=
tended, there would be an end at onee to the judicature of man. As long as man
was the infirm and imperfeet creature which he now was—as long as his knowledge
remained of the confined and limited nature that it now was—how could he arrive
at any certainty in matters of this deseription, except by a concatenation of circum-
stances, all leading to one and the same result? It would be absurd to deny the
value, the great and important value, of circumstantial evidenee ; for though, in the
Tapze of some hundred years, some cazes might be cited in which it had led to unfor=
tunate coneclusions, yet circumstantial evidence, in the testimony of all persons who
were accustomed to attend to judicial proceedings, not only of those who had sat on
the bench to which he had been raised, but also of those w%m were most eminent as
ractitioners at the bar, was considered as more satisfactory in producing conviction
in the human mind, than the direct testimony of any single individual who saw the
crime in question comnitted. He would endeavour to exemplify the doctrine which
he had been laying down on this point by a particular instance.  This man Probert—
than whom a more infamous character could not easily be conceived—a man, who by
the very fact of his being admitted as evidence for the Crown, was placed before
them as an accomplice in murder—who had not been rendered a whit blacker than
he was before by the very respectable testimony of Mr. Wadeson, who being asked
whether he would believe Probert upon oath 2 replied, with a caution which was
not more than he (Mr. Justice Park) had expected from a long acquaintance
with his (Mr. Wadeson’s) character—*¢ 1 wounld not believe him upon his
oath, unless he were corroborated by other witnesses,”"—for how could that man
who had committed perjury on his examiunation before the commissioners regarding
his bankruptey, be considered blacker than the man who had concealed the murder
of hiz friend?—this man Probert—(for he formed an example well calculated to
illustrate the difference between direct and cireumstantial evidence) might be in-
fluenced by bad motives agninst the prisoner Thurtell, and, therefore, might frame
his evidence in such a manner as to ensure his conviction. He would assume that
such bad motives did exist, and that Probert and one or two others had conspired
inst him. Then in what situation were the jury and himself placed—acting as

ey would have to act on the oath of a man who was declared not to be a credible’
witness on his oath 2 Were they to conclude that the 53 other witnesses who had
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been examined on this trial, who had corroborated the statement of Prohert and
others, and of whom some did nat even know the person of the prisoner Thurtell,
were likewise conspirators against him?  Or were they to conelude that the corro-
boration of Probert and others by so . many indifferent witnesses, was a decisive
proof of the truth of their statements ? - For his own part, he would say, that there
never was o case in which circumstantial evidenece was move useful.  Circumstantial
evidence, however, was said to be doubtful.  He allowed that it was, and so, in-
deed, was all evidence.  If not, why were they and he in that court together * They
were well aware that they were met to exercise their judmnent in sifting all the evi-
dence, directas well as indireet, that might be submitted to their notice. They werenot
to sift the circumstantial evidence merely, they were to siit the direct evidence also s
and if upon a review of hoth, they entertained any strong rlmll_ltﬁ as to the guilt of
the prisoners, such as rational men who valned the sanctity of their oaths onght to
feel, then, as the prisoner Thurtell had obzerved, they were bound to give the bene-
fit of such doubts to the prisoners, awd to acquit them- of the charge which had
been bronght asainst them. The learned Judge then continaed :—* There iz another
circumstance in this case, which renders it particularly distressing to those who
have to look npon it in a judicial point of view. We are met at the very outset of it
by an evil which no man can deny, and which I think few will be found to palliate.
It is painful for me to reflect upon it, or to consider of the consequences to which
it must ultimately lead. It is my practice—and 1 am sare that these who know me
will bear testimony to the truth of my observation—it is my practice never to go out
of my way to say any thing harsh of any human "being; but I should be unworthy
of the zituation’ which [ now fill, 1 should even deserve to meet with impeach-
ment, if I did not fully and fearlessly discharge those daties which wy judicial
station imposcs upon me; and 1 shail therefore proceed to make those observa-
tions which [ conceive justice demands’ from me, even though I may be at-
tacked for them by all the artillery of libel. It is peenliarly distressing to me
to find that both the prizoners are obliged in the very outset of their defence to
beseech, entreat, implore, and conjure you, if you have ever heard or read of any
thing to their prejudice or disadvantage in the kst few months, to dismiss it entirely
from your thonghts, and to avoid itas you would the breath of a pestilence.  Mueh,
too much, has unfortunately been published upon this subject; and I cannot but say,
that such statements of evidence, as I am informed have appeared rerarding this
case, are calculated to corrupt justice in its very source. If they are not checked im-
mediately, by authority, I, for one, shall tremble for the constitation of my country.
We have long boasted, and I thiuk justly boasted, of the purity with which justice is
administered amongst us; but if the practices which have recently grown up are al-
lowed to continue, that boast must, before long, become a mere itﬁv boazt. You are
called into that box, gentlemen of the jury, to decide, by the help of that judgment
which God has given you, fairly, impartially, and without prejudice, upon the evidence
which iz submitted to yon in thiz court. Lt how can you do this, if youare allowed
10 have your minds previously poisoned with that which is no evidence at all in the
case?  How ecan you come to an unprejudiced consideration of the guilt or innocence
of the prisoners, 1f you are permitted w0 read a confession like that of Mr. Huut,
published in every newspaper ?  That confession has been printed in all the papers,
and has been read by the public, and has, perhaps, been considered by some of vou,
gentlemen, az evidence in this trial—a confession which the learned connsel of the
crown never ventured to tender to me as evidence, and which, if he had tendered it,
T should, under the circumstances which have come to my knowledge sinee this trial
commenced, have rejected at once, as no evidence at ail.  Therefore it is that 1 =ay,
that the public mind is poizoued by the publication of these statements 3 and it was
u pnn that consideration t-llmt I took upon myself, at our last meeting, the responsibility
of postponing this trial, and also the additional labour, which I by no means regard, of
meeting you here a second time, At that time [ did not think it fair, nor have I altered
that opinion since, to put the prisoners on their trial before the prejudice had had zome
time to subside, which must have been oecasioned by the libels which the affidavit which
on that occasion was read tome stated, had been generally propagated concerning them.
1 have the satisfaction of my own consciousness that | acted right upon that oecasion,
and 1 believe that [ way say that T have the approbation of those whose approbation
18 most valuable, for the proceeding which 1 then adopted. 1 must again repeat, that
every circumstance connected with this case renders the publication of the statements
which have appeared régarding it particularly painful to all who are concerned in it.
Why they are so to the prisoners, every one nll you will clearly perceive. To e they
are productive of the greatest pain and anxiety, lest by some unintentional lapse of
maine you should he imprcﬂsmll by certain evidence which has been, but ought not to
have been, broughit before yon, and which ought not to produce any effect upon your
mind. I am sure, however, that no newspaper publications—no pamphlets—no libels
of any description will make the slightest impression upon your minds; bus that you
will do your duty to the prisoners and to vour country, as youwill answer it hereaiter
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to God and to your own consciences, These are the principal obseryations which sug=
gest themselves to my mind regarding the nature of civenmstantial evidence, and the
prejudice which may exist in consequence of the improper publications in_ the daily
pewspapers.’” "The learned Judge then proceeded to observe, that the point which
the other prisoner, Joseph.Hunt, had made, was a poiot I'i_ltitﬂl‘ to, he consicered by
him than by the jury. A motion had been yesterday made before him, which the
greater part of them had perhaps heard, and in ‘Iﬁ'll.i[‘fl the same arguments hiad been
used by the learned counsel who then argued the case, as had been that day advanced
by the prisoner himself, tending to show that he was bound to put o this trial, In order
to afford Huut an opportunity of appealing to the Crown to be admitted evideace, The
form in which that areument was put by the learned counzel, who argued it with eon-
siderable power and ability, showed him that he conld not properly postpone the trial.
Supposing that Hunt had ever had any reason to make an inpunf to the Crown of the na-
ture which his connsel recommended, and he did not know whether Hont misht ot al-
ready have made such an appeal, it was elear that Hunt had alveady had time enough
to make it, owing to the former postporement of the assizes.  [f he had put oif the
trial, as the learned connsel had requested him to do, he should enly have given the
prisoper an opportunity of doing that at present, which he was at mf] literty to have
done a mouth ago. Therefore, powerlul as the argument urged by the prizoner might
be, it was one upon which neither he nor the jury could act at present.  Thus far,
however, he should have acted upon it,—that if the learned counsel for the prosecu-
tion had offered Hunt's confession to him as evidenee, he should have rejected it as
inadmissible. . Much had been =aid regarding the effect of this confession, and of the
manuer in which it had been obtained. ~ He was however sure that the professional
advisers of this voung man were well aware, that even if a confession were extorted
firom a eriminal by anv promise of pardon or p'tmh{l:., that it woulid be better for him to
make ity vet if, in the case of stolen goods, the goods were found, or in the case of
murder, the body of the murdered person were produced, the finding of the goods in
one case, and the |;'.'mlurt.iﬂi'| of the body in the other, would show, that though the
confession might have been extracted from him wonworthily, still Le had spelien
truth, and had not from fear or any other motive acensed himself or others of
a crime which had no existence. Therefore he said there was no peculiar hard-
ship in the case of this voung man, and that he was ouly suffering that which
every other criminal had® previonsly sufiered in his situation. He was stiting
these points for their consideration, and he had new finished all the prelimi-
nary observations he had to’ make upon the topies which had been presented
to his mind by the defence of the prisoners. e should now procced to the in-
vestigation of the evidenee, which he should go through with _tam uinost winute-
ness, stating to them the impressions which it had made upon his mind, and
leaving them to be adopted or not by the jury, as they wight think proper. The first
observation he should make on the evidenee was, that the great body ol thizs eriine
depended on the evidence which Probert and his wife had given regarding these
dreadful transactions.  As Probert was an accomplice in this crime, he would state
to them what the law of England was regarding the evidence of an accomplice. It
ought never to be forgotten that, ‘I.*."HI{"rI an accomplice came into the witness-bhox to
be examined; he came into it loaded with all the gu'lt of the parties against whom he
gave his testinnony ; and that it was therefore impossible to make him a blacker cha-
racter than he already was by his own confession.  If he came to acense his accoin-
lices of house-hreaking or robbery, he placed himself before the jury as a house-
reaker and a robber. If he came to accuse them of muvder, he was, in point of
moral guilt, equally a murderer with those whom le came to accuse, though he was
not, in point of law, liable to the same heavy consequences.  The law of Eagland was,
that an accomplice micht be set up to be examined in the fivst instance ; he was a
perfectly L'mlllputunt witness, aud the ouly question was, whether he was a credible
one. It was the province of the Judge to decide as to his competency, and of the jury to
decide as to his credibility. He now, therefore, told them that Probert was a compe-
tent witness; bat, having set him wp as such, he was nest bound to advise them not
to attend to one syllable that he uttered, unless they found him corrohorated in the
wain points of his evidence by other witnesses of unimpeachahle integrity.  Hedid upt
say corroborated in all points, hecause if he were corvoborated in all, there would be
no need of his testimony, and he ought to he placed at the bar to be tried along with his
associates, ‘He was pluced in the witiess-box, not to be corpoborated in all points, for
his evidence was only wanted on a féw points, on which fulllight could not otherwise
be thrown ; but if he were mrruhnmtc:k in the main points of his statements, by other
"H’itnﬂ!‘%ﬂiﬂﬂ, who had no connexion with him, then they)were bound, in hisopunon, te
give him credit upon those in which he remained unsupported. A great many sensible
observations il been made upon the value of Probert’s tesiimony by the prisoner
Thurtell. He would not weary the jury by recapitulating them, but would tell them
in one word, that with all that Thurtell had said upon that subject, he fully and cor-
dially agreed. He would say with My, Wadezon, that he would not believe that indi-
vidual upon oath, unless he found him corroborated from some other quarter, The



94

learned Judge then mlverted to the observations which had been made regarding the
impolicy of admitting accomplices as evidence. In reply to them he wounld onlystate,
that it was a practice of daily occurrence and absolute necessity, seeing that without
1t many eriminal acts must go cotively unpunizhed. He conceived that it was ve
important that the evidence of accomplices should not only be received, but shoul
also be credited ; for it was important that men of low degree, who confederated
together for the commission of crime, shiould know that all friendships which rested
upon such a foundation were hollow, treacherous, and perfidions, and that the first
appearance of danger was certain to make the members of such a confederation dis-
close such cirenmstances regarding their fellows, as would rescue themselves from
the perilous situation in which they might happen to be involved. In the very case
which they were now trying, it appeared from Hunt’s own words, that he had
asked Mr. Noel, (wheo, by the bye, appeared to have acted a most unwarrantable
part in these transactions, with which he had no more to do than any by-stander,) to
run to the magistrates and inforin them that he was willing, upon certain terms,
to confess what he knew, evidently showing by such conduct that he was afraid lest
some persou should be beforehand with him in making a disclosure. It was important
to the well-being of society, that such a feeling shuulﬁ exist amongst those who were
confederated against it, and as there could be little difference of opinion upon that
point, he would proceed to another subject, on which he thought it necessary to
make a few observations.  That subject was the power of magistrates to promise
pardon to accomplices for giving evidence against their fellows.,  He wizhed it to be
nerally understood that magistrates had no such power. Indeed, Mr. Noel must
e ignorant of the duties of his profession if he did know that circumstance, and
neglectful of them if he did not communicate it to the prisoner Hunt. All the
power which the magistrates had upon that point was to intorm the party that they
wonld instriet the counsel for the prosecution to recommend to the Court that he
should be admitted as evidence.  Whatever might be said or sworn upon this subject;
there was one fact which proved most decisively that the magistrates bad never ac-
cepted Hunt as evidence for the Crown. If they had aceepted him as such, they would
have sworn him and taken down his deposition upon oath. It was not even pretended
by the other side that this had ever been done ; and among the number of depositions
which had been transmitted to him, he did not find one which bore the signature of
Hunt. Thus the matter stood at present with regard to that individual. The
learned Judge then proceeded to read the evidence to the jury. After reading the
testimony of Beeson, Field, and Upson, whe found a body of a murdered man in
the pond near the Elstrec-road, he came to the testimony of Rexworthy, who
positively swore to the body o found being the body of Mr. Weare. That evidence
showed that Mr. Weare had been killed, and gave him an opportunity of making
some obzervations on the cases mentioned by Lord Hale, and quoted by the
risoner Thurtell. Those cases made it necessary that those who had known Mr,
Veare living, should speak to his identity when dead. It was zome time since he had
vead Lord Hale's adnurable book, but he belicved that the tenor of his Lordship's
ohservation was this, ¢ I never will allow a person to be convicted of murder before me,
unless 1 have the direct testimony of some person who saw the fatal blow struck, or
unless the body of the murdered person be found.””  The obzervation was worthy of
Lord Hale, and was marked by that good sense and sound fecling which had rendered
his pame illustrions with all posterity.  Forin an indictment against C D for the
murder of A I it was certainly necessary to prove that A B was absolutely dead.
The learned judge declared, that he had himself recently acted upon that principle, in
a case which came before him in the county of Sussex. A woman had been there
indicted for the murder of her bastard child. A mass of matter was produced as the -
body of that child, which, from having been undiscovered for two months after it was .
allezed to have been born, was nothing but an ugly mass of eorruption—there were
1o lineaments of the human face to be traced in it, and it was impossible even to as-
certain to which sex it belonged. Under such cireumstances, he had felt it his duty
to stop the prosecation 3 but whether he was right or wrong in so doingit was not for
him to determine.  Acting upon the same principle, he must here declare, that it was
necessary that the body found in the pond should be identified as the body of Mr.
Weare.  The learned judge then read over the evidence, until he came to that
of Mr. Ward, the surgeon of Watford, merely remarking that there could not
be a doubt that they were now sitting to inguire upon the death of Mr. Weare.
Before he entered into an examination of that 1J_(L-IH,IJ;::ruz'm*:-:& evidence, he was
bound to sav that he had never in the whole course of his experience heard a surgeon
give his evidence in a more plain, simple, unaffected, and sensible manner.  He did
not know any thing of Mr. Ward, but common justice impelled him to make that re=
mark upon his evidence, The learned judge then read the indictment: he observed
that the first count of it charged John Thurtell with h:.u'in!.'ﬁ with a certain pistol, in
and upon the left side of the head of William Weare, struck, forced, and penetrated,
and with having, by such striking, forcing, and penetrating, given him one mortal’
fracture of which he died ; and that the second count of it charged him with having
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inflicted on the left side of Mr. Weare's neck, with a knife, a mortal wound, of which
he had subsequently died. Now the evidence of Mr. Ward completely HUFIIH:II'!:E'I] this
indictment ; for it was clear from it that Mr. Weare might have died either by the
wound oceasioned by the cutting of the jugular vein, or by that oecasioned by the
fracture in the skull. Two points were therefore clearly settled—first, that the per-
gon murdered was Mr. Weare ; and, secondly, that he was murdered in the manner
described in the indictment. They now came to the great question in the case, Was
John Thurtell the principal in this murder, or was he not; and was he aided,
assisted, and abetted in it by Joseph Hunt? 1t was not necessary to decide this
point on the present trial; but he should think that if a party came in before a
murder was folly completed, and stood by without preventing it, and afierwards
assisted in concealing it, he made himselt as liable as the principal, and became
an accessory before the fact. That question, however, he repeated, it was not ne-
ceszary to decide now ; but he thought it requisite for public utility and public safety
to make some remarks upon it. It appeared manifest in various eases which had
recently been decided, that it was very common for men of low degree to flatter
themselves, that if theirs was not the hand which committed the fatal deed, they
were perfectly safe from all consequences, even though they were present at the
murder, Nothing could be more fallacious than such an idea. In point of morals,
it was wrong; and in point of law, it was equally so: for if two persons went to
commit a robbery, or to break open a house, and one party committed the felony
with his hand, and the other stood idly by, both were equally guilty in the eye of
the law ; and it was laying a false and dangerous unction to their souls, to suppose
that both would not be equally liable to punishment. He made this observation for
the sake of public morals, and hoped it would have due effeet. The learned Judge
then read the evidence of George Ruthven, the officer who apprehended ’l‘lmrtcl%,
and-called the jury’s attention to the facts of his having found a pocket-pistol on the
];'L"r*snn of Thurtell—a fact which he only wished them to notice as confirmatory of
robert’s evidence in part.  One would naturally expeet that the prizoner ("Thurtell)
would have given some account of that pistol, and also of its being the fellow to the
pistol which another witness found in Gill's-hill-lane, all covered with blood. This
witness also described Thurtell’s sleeve, his coat, and his hat, as having marks of
blood on them. It was unfortunate that he should have on his person, at the very
time of his apprehension, some of those stains which had been described by others,
The witness, the first time he searched Hunt's lodgings, did not take away any
thing ; but, on his second search, he found a double-barrelled gun, a carpet-bag,
a shooting-jacket, a whistle, a backgammon-board, several shirts, one of which
was marked * W. W.” [the initials of * William W’-:an-,"% and another
marked ** W."” alone. This was a very strong point of the evidence in bring-
ing Hunt and Thurtell together. It here appeared that Hunt had in his pos-
session, when he was taken up, an enormous quantity of articles which were
distinctly proved to have belonged to thiz unfortunate “person. The carpet-ha
the double-barrelled gun, and the backgammon-board, were proved to have been in
his possession on the 24th of October, when he set out to the country; and on the
30th, only six days afterwards, they are found in the lodgings of Hunt. All this
might be true of an aceessory befure the fact, as well ds after it ; and it was argned
by the counsel for the Crown, that Hunt must have had a gnilty knowledge of what
was intended to be done, before it was actually effected, and that he received those
articles as a reward or douceur for the part he had taken in this transaction. The
next witness was Hen?' Simmons, constable of Watford, who produced the pistol
and knife which were found on the spot where the murder was committed, and also
a box and gold chain, which he had received from Mrs. Probert. The former was
the fellow to the pistol found on Thurtell. William Probert was the next evidence
and certainly it was, in every point of view, most important. He came forward in.
the character of an am&nt?hce, and certainly his conduct had been most base, in being
privy to the commission of a murder, and concealing it. He spoke of Thurtc]iasbeing
a4 very mtimate acquaintance—as a person who was in the habit of coming down tor
sport, and who was well acquainted with all the roads in ‘the neighbourhood. This
was an impertant point in answer to that part of the defence which rested on Thur-
tell’s alleged ignorance of the country, from which it was assumed that he might
have missed his way in proceeding to the cottage. Some stress had been laid on the
suddenness of Thurtell’s visit at the cottage ; but looking to the intimacy between
Thurtell and Probert, it was not surprising that he should go down, without
an invitation, and even that he should take a friend with iim* The ‘singu-
larity of the case was his having said, without hesitation, as was stated in
evidence, * If Weare comes down, 1 will do #im, for he has done me out of
several hundred pounds.” T}mrteli, it appeaved in evidence, when 'he proceefled
for the cotrage, lett the Coach and Horses public-house in a gigalone. The gig, it was
stated, was drawn by an iron-grey or roan horse, with a white face. “This circume=
Stance was very important, as it wag most clearly proved that such a horse was hired
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otherwise they would never contemplate —whether this had reallybeen the motive of
the fatal crime that had been commtted ? 1f it had been, the learned Judge sincerély
hoped that the event of this day, whatever way the business might terminate, won
operate as an awful lesson. I what the prisoner had stated was indeed troe, that the
nobility and gentry of this country eommenly indulged in the destructive vice of
ming, the court trusted that this wonld have a salutary effect upon them. As to
bert’s testimony to Thurtell's declaration, that he began to ent the deceased’s
throat, as he thought, about the jugular vein, and finding he still conld not prevent his
singing out, jammed the pistol in his head, and gave it a turn round,—it was tes-
timony that of course ruu]d have no direct confirmation : but the evidence of the
surgeon showed very strongly that such must have been the fact. "The observation
aaid  to have been made by the same prisoner on presenting Mys. Probert with the
<hain, was confirmed by the evidence of Mrs. Probert herself. Miss Noyes spoke to
the same matters, and to Hunt's singing atter supper. It was proved by other wit-
nesses that he did sing two®or three =ongs.  As to Probert’s account, that Thurtel
gave him and Hunt 6l. a-piece, saying that was their sharve of the *¢ bluae "—blunt
was @ cant phrase which, happily, the court did not understand. The evidence of
Probert, as to the taking out of the gig the carpet bag, and the other articles which
Thurtell said had belonged to the mwdered man, and as to the latter’s saying he
meant to have Barber Beaumont and My, Woods next, was very strong, For that
there were a carpet bag, a gun, and other articles, so taken out, did not depend
on this witness alone ; the fact was proved by a boy and a woman servant ; and that
the things were the property of the llt:{:::aﬁﬁri, was proved by other witnesses. How
came they, then, into this cottage, and into the prisoner’s possession ? 1If the jury
believed Probert, it was very clear that the murdered man had brought them down in
the gig with him; but the boy and the woman differed as to whether Thurtell or
Probert brought them into the cottage. A gun was scen in the gig by Probert’s
boy, and in that gig 1o the cottage Thurtell came alone. Probert and Hunt, the
other prisoner at the bar, came in Probert’s gig, and these, consequently, were
circumstances all of them requiring to be accounted for,
Thurtell, I beg to say, myLord, that that gun of mine was sold by public
auction, at a sale of Probert’s effects.
The Court. That fact does not appear in evidence.
Thurtell. No, my Lord ; Ioverlooked it.
The Court. If, prisoner, yon have overlooked it in eyidence, and can supply
‘it properly now, 1 wiil do so for you. Thejury will observe, that what the pri-
soner may observe to the court merely,is no evidence in itself. In adverting to
Thurtell’s saying “ he was bagged,” on Probert’s informing him that ecries of
murder were heard near the lane on the Friday, and to Probert’s observation
that he was afraid the business would rain him, the learned Judge expressed a
“wish that Probert had acted up to this his impression, and had sent for some
magistrate, whose interference might have prevented some of the acts that sub-
sequently took place. Uniortunately, all this conduct of Probert’s had been,
undoubtedly, most infamons, and was not to be defended. The story about
going to Probert’s pond, taking ont the body, disposing of it for the time naked
on the greensward, returning for the gig, and putting it in there enveloped in
the sack, Hunt in the mean time remaining in the parlour—this was cﬁngrmﬁi
by the evidence of Mrs. Probert, who saw Hunt, as she thought, and Thurtell
dragging something weighty through the garden, and afterwards overheard
them and her husband in the parlour, whispering. She also thonght she heard
them trving on clothes. Now the jury wonld hear by-and-by, whether any per-
son was afterwards seen in the deceased’s clothes. Mrs. Probert also over-
heard them tell her husband, ** that they must say to the boy, that a hare had
been laid on the gig-seat, and that they had had a hare made them a present
of.” This looked as if some blood had heen spilt in the chaise, and that it w
thonght necessary, by a false story, to delude the boy’s mind as to the manner
inwhich it bad been oceasioned.  All this occurred at an early hour of the mor-
ning, and Thurtell said he had had his revenge. At this part of the evidence
there seemed some slight degree of confusion ; for one or two facts were spoken
to by others, whereas it did not appear that, excepting Hunt, Probert, and
Thurtell themselves, any body but Mrs. Probert was up at this time,
Thurtell. Will yon allow me, my Lord, to call the sheriff now, in order to prove
that my gun was sold previously at a sale of Probert’s goods ?
The Coutts You doen't mean the high sheriff, prisoner, of course
Thurtell. No, my Lord: the under-sheriff,
Mr. W. Nicholson, the under-sherifl’ was then called,
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‘- Examined by Thurtell.—I ask you, sir, whether my gun was not sold among
Mr. Probert’s effects ? : : il
The Under-Sheriff.—Certainly there was a double-barrelled gun sold under
an execution levied on Mr. Probert’s goods, Whether that gun belonged to
you or not, I cannot say. We snpposed it to be the property of Mr. Probert.
The Judge, “ Of course von did, Mr. Under-Sheriff, otherwise you would not
have sold it.” The court then observed, that it hoped that it had not proceeded
wrongly, in allowing the prisoner to mend his defénce : but what be had of-
fered had, as the court at first feared, turned out to be nothing at all. The
boy, Addis, who saw the gun in the chaise on the night of the Friday, met Pro-
bert walking down Gill's-hill-lane, with a double-barrelled gun, on Saturday
afternoon ; and Probert was proved Lo have been seen on that alternoon walk-
ing with a double-barrelled gun, as iflie were out shooting. Now the identity of
the gun which the boy saw, with that which Probert had, was not proved in evi-
dence; but the identity of the gun that came and went away again with John
Thurtell, in his giy, was clearly proved; and thercfore could not be the gun of
Probert's which was sold.  Still, looking at Probert’s evidence, the jury would
observe, that Thurtell said he had been down the lane, to look for the pistol
and knife which had been lost in the leaves and the grass. Was this true ? Did
it depend upon the testimony of Probeit alone? Certainly not, for the jury
had had the evidence of two labouring men, who saw the prisener Thurtell,
thus eccupuied; and of which two men, one had sworn to the person of
Thurtell, and the other to bath Hunt and Thortell. Again, the evidence
as to the spade, which had been given by Probert, was strongly corro-
borated. A new spade purchased, it was said, to bury the deceased, and
which was brought down in the carriage that conveyed Hunt and Thomas
Thurtell to Probert’s house on the Sunday, had been produced. Thomas
Thurtell swore, that when they arrived there, it was thrown over the garden-
wall. Then as to Hunt's wearing clothes which lad belengzed to the de-
ceased, it was not likely that Hunt or the prisoner Thurtell should say
any thing about that fact in the heaving of indifferent persons. But that
Hunt went up on the Sunday, dressed insuch clothes, there conld be, sorely,
scarce any doubt whatever. And this received some degree of confirmation
frem the circumstances nnder which he went down with the two Thurtells to
the cottage, and from the throwing of the spade. The learned Judge then
observed upon this obsérvation of Hunt's—* Probert, they can do nothing with
‘ou or me either, because neither of ns was at the murder.” The conrt availed
itself of’ this opportunity to observe again, that such was the erroneous doe-
trine which the minds of’ men, such as Hunt appeared to be, were apt to en-
tertain, He seemed erroneonsly to snppose, that if he did not actually perpe-
trate the murder, he was not liable to the punishment of the law. The mis-
chievous consequences of such a misconception, the court was most anxious to
guard against. Miss Noyes proved, that on the night of Friday, the 24th of
October, Hunt, Thurtell, and Probert, soon after their arrival at the cottage,
went onttogether, with the alleged intention of asking Mr. Nichollz, who livedin
the neighbourhoad, for aday’s shooting, She also spoke to their return—the ex-
pression of their dizappointment—the manner in which the evening was passed,
and their incidents, which received strong confirmation from the testimony of
Mr. Nicholls himself, That witness deposed, that on the night of Sunday
Probert did call upon him, and that some conversation passed between them
with respect to something that had happened in the lane ; but the same wit-
ness added, that although on Friday he was at home all the evening, he saw
neither Probert nor any of Probert’s friends. Probert’s account was, that after
his return from Nicholls’s on Sunday evening, and his conversation with Thur-
tell as to what Nicholls had said, Hunt and Thurtell sate up all night : the wit-
ness went to bed, as did Noyes, Thomas Thurtell, and his children ; and that on
the next morning, John Thurtell and Hunt said to him, that they had gone out
last night to dig a grave to bury the body in; but the dogs barked so, all the
time, that they were obliged to desist. On the Monday merning, J. Thurtell,
T. Noyes, and Miss Noyes went to London in one chaise, following another
which contained 'F. Thartell, Hunt, and the witness's boy Addis. They went
all together, therefore ; and took the boy, in order to be out of the way of being
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asked gquestions. ' This part of the story was supported by the ‘evidence of
Addig; forit was sworn by him that the parties did go together, in the man-
ner deposed to. The learned 'Judge then recapitnlated Probert's evidenee as
to the retirn of John Thurtell and: Hunt, on that evening, to the cottage;
Thurtell’s proposition to witnéss to go'and get the body out of the pond, leav-
ing Hunt with Mrs. Probert, the manner of effecting this purpose, the taking
the body out of that suck in which it had been put, the euntting the clothes off,
and the putting the corpse in a new sack. The court, at first, could not ‘]'l“i“‘ !
make out this part of the ease, inasmnch as it had been sworn' that the body
was putinto a sack (after the marder) with the clothes on ; and yet the body,
which was deagged ont of the pond at Elstree, was naked. But it had not
been proved (a matter that possibly the counsel had overlooked) whether that
body was dressed or not.  This man (Probert) swore:that it was not, when he
and Thurtell removed it from Probert’s pond, which was a matter that re-
quired some proof; and proof, indeed, it had received.  The very respectable
surgeon of Watford, Mr. Ward, and the witness Pideock, had both agreed
in deposing that the body found at Elstree was naked when taken ont of
the sack. Bat did Probert receive further confirmation on this subject?
The servant, Susan Woodrnff, had given strong evidence on this point;
for she proved that upon going into the chaise-house on Tocsday morn-
ing, she saw a sack cut open anid very wet, hanging ap upon a nail
WNow this was on the morning after the body was taken out of Probert’s
pond and put into the new sack. The evident presumption was, that that into
which it had been first thrust was the sack Woodruff saw in this wet condition,
hanging np in the stable, Probert having stated in his eross-examination, that
en the night of the murder he had conversed with Mrs. Probert, but conld not
swear whether he had told her what had passed, was asked by the counsel for
the prisoner (for the counsel for the erown could not put the question), what
it was that had passed between himselt and Mrs. Probert on that occasion? and
he had answered, that he thonght he told her, when she asked him about the
dragging ; thatit was some netting which JohnThurtell had brought down, and
they had gone out with to snare game. The court did not exactly remember
whether this was confirmed or not; but it had itself pnt a gquestion to Mrs.
Probert, not as to the whole of the conversation between her and her hushan:d
on the oceasion, but as to whether she had then said any thing about this matter
to Probert, and the answers of the wite went to confirm the statemerit of the
husband. As to the account which Probert had given of himself, his transac-
tions, and his conduct, the court could do no more than repeat, in the strongest
manner, its niter reprobation of his conduet, which had been most disgraceful.
1t appeared that he had been bronght up before the Commissioners of Bankrupts
six or seven times; and the very highly respectable witness, Mr. Wadeson,
being cailed, proved this fact, and his committal ; but the same gentle-
man’s evidence showed that the commissioners must have been satisfied
at least, becaunse Probert ultimately passed his examination. The jury
were not quite aware, perhaps, of the nature of those proceedings ; but
it was sufficient for the court to observe, that the presumption must be,
that the commissioners had been finally satisfied by Probert, or else they '
would not have passed him. He deposed that he counld recollect no playing
at cards in the cottage on the Sunday, Now the fact, thongh differently stated
by another witness, might be so, althongh the jury could not give credit to any
decovouns or conscientions feeling in Probert’s mind, as having deterred him or
his friends from an action which was, on Sundays, highly improper, without
doubt. Cn his farther cross-examination by another counsel, Probert stated,
that he had met the prisoners at Tetsall’s, more than a week before the night
of Friday ; and had known Hunt more than twelve months, having himself in--
troduced him to Thurtell. The pork which was purchased in Oxford-street,
Probert swore to have heen paid for by Hunt, and the sum he does vot remem-
ber to have ever repaid him 3 neither bad he, on the other hand, ever applied
to Hunt for the remainder of the 20s. he had given him at Thurtell's request.
Now, neither of these civenmstances conld create any surprise in the minds of
the jury ; for all the parties appeaved to have since engaged in transactions, of
which the history is too full of bleodshed and atrocity to allow of ‘any calm ve-
collection of such pecuniary matters, - Probert admitted that he said to Mr,
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Franklin, the clergyman, and up to the day of his going beforeithe grand jury, .
that Hunt and himself were innocent of the murder,  And very like it was, the
court thought, that he did say se. Such an assertion (especially under the sort
of unfounded notions that these men might be supposed to entertain about legal
guilt) was ratoral enough to a person in such a situation.  The witness might
have said he was innocent, and probably that Hunt was too. All this looked
consistent enongh ; for, as the court had remarked before, it was a common
subterfuge with such men to suppose, that if they did not commit the particular
crime, they were innocent altogether. Hunt, again, might have said to Mr.
Franklin, whom the conrt beleved to be a most respectable officer of the
county of Hertford, that he was or was not guilty. The court, however,
could not too moch reprobate such confidences, it they were not shown to be
entirely necessary and justified, especially between clergymen and aceunsed or
suspected parties. There was nothing of such confidences recognized in the
doctrine of the chinreh of England, whatever might be case in the Romish com-
munion ; although, in these ecriminal casez, his lordship apprehended, even
that communion did not exactly encourage them. With us, however, they
ought by no means to prevail. The court then proceeded to observe on the
evidence of Mrs. Probert; and on the fact of Thurtell’s produocing a watch,
and presenting her with the chain, it remarked that the jury would undoubt-
edly remember, that the boy Addis had deposed that a gold watch was on that
evening put down in the Kitchen on the tabie by John Thurtell. The learned
Judge considered that Mrs. Probert’s account of the proceedings at the
cottage, and the departare of Hunt and Thurtell on the Monday, was much
confirmed by  her husband’s evidence, and by the fact in proof of Hunt's
arrival at his own lodgings in town, the next morning, at a very late and unseae
sonable hour. What the fact of the hole dug for potatoes in the garden—a
very usual mode of deposit for that vegetable—was examined into for, as in
Mrs. Probert’s case, the court didnot rightly nnderstand. The evidence ot
Thomas Thurtell was excessively important; for he swore, to his recollection,
that on the 24th of October, his brother John (the prisoner) and Hunt dined at
Tetsall’s ; and he remembered, he thought, that atter dinner Hunt brm]g'llt e
sack with him and a gig to the door. The jury wonld particolarly mark this fact
as applicable to Hunt's case. The learned Judge next remarked, that the fact of
Hunt haviug shaved off his whiskers after the 25th of October, as mentioned
the the witness Rexworthy, merited the attention of the jury. He might
observe, however, that Rexworthy was not a man whose character was of the
best description. He was the keeper of a house appropriated to billiard-playing,
and he (Mr. Justice Park) considered persons who kept such places to be pan-
ders to the bad passions of men. He wonld show no favour to men who kept
houses of that nature, and if it were necessary, he would feelit his dnty to make
some severe observations respecting his character ; but that was not the case,
becaunse the evidence of Rexworthy was contirmed by many witnesses. He now
came to a most material witness—namely, Mrs. Malony, the lanndress of My,
Weane. She deposed that she saw the carpet baz and other articles, which
were seenin the possession of the prisoners at nine o’clock on the evenine of the
25th of October,in the hands of their owner, Mr. Weare, at three o’clock on the
afternoon of the same day. It was an every-day observation of judges, that if
stolen property was found shortly after the robbery hiad been commitied in the
possession of an individual who could give no account of it, it was a strong
g_rmmd ofsuspicion against him. - It was not sufficient for prisoners unler mmﬁ
cireumstances to indulge in general declarations of innocence ; they were bonnd
to show by evidence in witat manner they became possessed of the property.
The next witness, upon whose evidence e felt it necessary to remark, was John
Ehﬂ[_sherd, the servant of Mr. Probatt.  Shepherd swore, that when Hunt came
to his master’s yard tohire the gig, he stated that he was going to take it to Dart=
ford. If Huntbhad knownnothing ot what was tobe done, on that night, why did
he not suy that he wanted the ebaise to go to the neighbourbood of Elstree, in-
stead of putting the stable-keeper on a wrong scent, by saying thathewas going
to Dartiord ? The evidence of Mr. Probatt shewed that Hunt had a most deprav-
ed mind. His langnage was coarse and brutal, and he taiked of murder as - a
matter of indifference. Mr. Probatt’s evidenes did not merely prove that
Hu.nt_iudul;:mi in declamation, for if it had gone no further than that, he would
have feltit his do ty to prevent it from being [aid before the jary ; but My, Pro-

!
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batt stated that Hunt on one occasion took a pistol from his pocket and- said,
“Phis is the boy to do business."”  He would leave to the jury to funu *thur-
own judgment of such a proceeding.

Thurtell here interrupted his Inrdshlp and begged him to read the evrdem‘.&
of Mr, Field, the landlord of the Alu-:-hu*kn puhhc-lzmme, at Elstree.

“Mi. Justice Park said that he would not, becanse lie had already read’ e-rerj'
word of if.

Thurtell.—1I beg pardon, my Lord ; but T think you omitted that part in
which Mr. Field stated that Ilnnt was alone at his house on the Tuesday.

Mr. Justice Park.—I do not see what reason you have for wishing the faet
to be stated, if it were so.

Thurtell said something which was not very intelligible, about Probert
having confessed to five men in the gaol that he had planned the whole affair

in conjunction with Hunt.
Mr. Justice Park observed that he could not understand what the prisoner

meant.
Thurtell.—There is another thing, my Lord,—
Mr. Justice Park said that he could not puimt the prisoner to comment on

the evidence.
Thuartell said that he did not wish to make any comments, but merely to offer

an observation.
Mr. Justice Park told him to communicate what he wished to say to his

counsel.
Thurtell accordingly spoke to his counsel, who afterwards addressed Mr

Justice Park in an under tone.

Mr. Justice Park, addressing the jury, said, he had asked the prisoner’s
counsel to enable him to know what Thortell meant. From what he could un-
derstand, Thurtell wished it to be inferred, that becanse Hunt was at the Arti-
choke on Tuesday, he must have been there for the purpose of throwing the
body into the pond. It rested with the jury to say whether that inference
could be fairly dednced from the tact.

His Lordship was here addressed by the prisoner's counsel; after which his
Eordship stated, that he was informed Thurtell wished to call new evidence,
Which he (Mr. Justice Park) was willing to receive.

A person named Isaac Pye was then placed in the witness box. He stated
something about a double-barreiled gun having been sold at the anciion which
took place at Probert’s cottage. [We could not perceive what bearing this
evidence had on the case. )

- Mr. Justice Park desired the witness to stand down, observing, that his tes-
timony was of no importance. His Lordship then proceeded with his view ot
the evidence. He observed, that James Freeman had deposed, that on the even-
ing of the 251h, he saw two gentlemen going from Probert’s coltage in a gig,
drawn by a wlutu-taced horse.

+ - Thurtell again interrupted his Lordship with an observation, the purport of
which was, that Freeman, in his deposition before the magistrates, had sworn
that the horse was of a different colour.

Mr. Justice Park referred to the deposition which Freeman had made be-
fore the magistrates; and then observed that the prisoner’s assertion was
quite unfounded. e had described the horse on that occasion precisely as he
had done before the court,

Thurtell said he alluded to the deposition of Mrs. Freeman.

Mr. Justice Park said, that Mrs. Freeman had not been examined; and the
court could not contrast evidence given by a witness who had not been examined
there, with that given by a witness examined elsewhere. He understood, how-
ever, that Mrs. Freeman had been called forthe purpose of affording the prisoner’s
counsel an opportunity of propounding some question to her, but she had not ap-
peared before the court, 1 have now, gentlemen, gone through every fact of the:
evidence by which your eonsideration of this case ought to be governed. Among
the witnesses called by the prisoner Thurtell, is Mr. Wadeson, a most respectable
solicitor, who, upon being examined, bas told you that from his knowledge of
Probert, he would not believe any th:ng he should say upon his oath, unless it
was confirmed by some other testimony. To the same question, from what I
bave seen of the witness Probert, I should have returned a similar answer .1
would not believe him, unless |.'II$ evidence was confirmed. You have heard the
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respective addressesof the prisoners, andthey will havesueh weight with you asthey
merit;considering atthe same timeé the depositions of the witnesses fur the prosecu=
tion. You will remember, gentlemen, that the prisoner Thurtell is in one respect
distinguished from the prisoner Hant,as the former has called three witnesses to his
character. Ofthese, Capt. M*Kinlay, a most respectableofficer, was one, but whose
knowledze of the prisoner was of ancient date. If that gentleman had known
him since 1814, as he knew him before, and if he could have given him the
same character for good temper and humanity during the lapse of nine years
between that period and the present, then his testimony in the prisoner’s behalf
would be entitled to much greater weight. The other two witnesses, Mr. Haydon
and Mr. Walmsley, spoke to the prisoner's character, and with their testimony
you, gentlemen, will deal as you think fit. 1 must, however, observe to you,
that character should only prevail where a rational doubt exists ; in other terms,
that you must decide this case, not upon the charcter of the prisoners, but upon
the facts. If the facts are suflicient to bring conviction home to your minds,
however respectahble may be the family of the prisoner (and 1 give him credit for
what he has told you respecting his parents, whose case 1 feelingly lament, but
whom I donot know ) , then, how mnuch soever you may regret that such a manshould
be guilty of the crime imputed to him, this regret ought not to influence your
verdict. You are not trying his good character, much less his bad character,
and God forbid that the laws of the country should be swayed by any such cir-
seumstances, If calamities and prejudices have been, as he says they have, raised
against him, by imputing to him former bad conduct, such calamnies have been
most cruel ; and it 1s astonishing that men of education, and of the smallest pre-
tensions to right feeling, or to the welfare of the people, should lend themselves
to practices so injurious to sound religion and good merals. You are not to try
whether the prisoners have been bad men, (if bad they have been,) but whether
‘one of them has committed a murder, and the other was his accessory before the
fact. 1F he were otherwise as pure as an angel, and you were satisfied of his
guilt in this instance, it would be your duty, in justice to your fellow-creatures,
to pronounce your verdict accordingly. But if, in the imperfection of human in-
telligence, a rational doubt should prevail in your minds, then you must give the
isoner the benefit of that doubt, and let the weight of his character be thrown
mnto the scale. Gentlemen, I can say no more to you. I have put you as fully
in possession of the facts as I am able. If you are satisfied, notwithstanding the
darll}umss of the night in which crime is usually perpetrated, and the absence of
all witnesses but the perpetrators of the crime, that the finger of God sufficently
points out the prisoners as the guilty persons, you will do your duty to God aud
“to your own feelings by bringing in a verdict according to your conscience,”

As the jury were about to retire from the box, the prisoner (Hunt) requested
to address a few words to them.

Mr. Justice Park. 1 am really distressed that applications like theze should be
made, which the laws and the constitution forbid me to comply with. 1 will,
however, send your counsel to you, to hear what it is you wish to say; and if he
tells me that it is advisable, I will communicate it tothe jury.

Mr. Thessiger now approached the dock, and having conferred with Huntfora
few moments, returned to the judge, who immediately after said to the jury,
¢ (Gepntlemen, 1 have no further observation to make.”

The Jury retired at half past three, and remained out of court half an hour.
During this time the demeanour of the prisoners was perfectly unchanged. Huat's
appearance was, as before, somewhat dejected. Thurtell was . serious, but quite
calm. He drank a glass of ale while the jury were absent.

At four o’clock the jury returned, and having taken their seats, their names
were called over. As each juror entered, Hunt regarded him with a lvok of in-
tense anxiety. Thurtell surveyed them with the same calmness as hefore,

The jury then pronounced their verdict, finding Thurtell guilty of the murder;
and Hunt also guilty as an accessory before the fact.

The ntmost silence now prevailed throunghout the court, and every eye was
tarned towards the prisoners, upon whom the verdict made no visible im-
pressioi.

Mr. Chitty then urged some legal points in arrest of”judgmenr, which wer
overruled by Mr. Justice Park. ,

The e¢lerk of the arraizns now asked the prisoners if they had any thing o
urge why sentence of death should not be pronounced upon them 2 Thustell then,
leaning over the bar, said, I implore your Lordship to take what [ have to say
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into your most serious consideration. I now for the last time assert my inno-
cence. 1 repeat, I bope your Lordship will take my request into your serious con-
sideration, when I heseech you to postpone the execution until Monday next, My
reason for asking this is, that my friends are at a considerable distance, and many
of them wish to see me. For myself alone I would not ask this delay ; for if the
sentence were to be executed now, I am ready ; but I ask it for the sake of those
whose feelings on this occasion are of more interest to me than my own. Between
me and some members of my I'au:uiu'l;r there are sume matters Lo be arranged which
will require the delay for which 1 ask, .

During this short address, the prisoner spoke in a subdued though Jirm tone
of voice, and was evidently labouring under considerable anxiety. Whenever any
allusion was made to his family, he seemed to he much aﬁ'r:ctaa:

The prisoner Hunt declined to address the court.

lfv[r. ustice Park, having put on the black coif, addressed the prisoners as
follows :—

“¢ John Thurtell and Joseph Hunt, after a very full, a very fair, and, I trust, an
impartial trial by a jury of your country, you have been found, I think with great pro-
griet}', guilty of the offences with which you have been respectively charged—you,

ohn Thurtell, as a principal in the murder, and you, Joseph Hunt, as his accessory.
1t cannot but give to every feeling mind deep regret, that a person who has this day
shown himself born for better things, and who, I hiope, in earlier life, received im-

ressions of virtue from his parents, should have committed so detestable a erimes
for, notwithstanding the assertions of innocence which you have over and over again
]]mél::, I, who can only judge like all other mortals from the evidence before me, am
as fully satisfied of your guilt, as if I had seen you commit the crime with In?' mortal
eves. I beseech you not to lay that flatiering unction to your soul, lest that all-seeing
eye, which, as you have this day truly =aid, reads all hearts, should discover that you
have entered his presence with a lie in your mouth, and perjury in your right hand.
You know, and he knows, whether there is any foundation for the assertion which
you have so often repeated. By the evidence before me, it appears that this is one of
the most foul and wicked murders that ever was perpetrated. That you shouiid
have formed an ntimacy with the deceased in those haunts of gaming and vice which
are the bane of society ; that you should have professed friendship for him; that you
should have invited him to the house of your friend ; that he should have carried with
him clothes for his ornament and for his uge; and thatin a moment of darkness, and
before he reached that house, he should be no more—cut off by your hand, are all
circumstances aggravating your crime, If he was a man of SU.L'lBI character as has
been represented, think how much the criminality of you and your accomplice has
been increased, by sending him to his final account hefore he could once think of his
God, or call upon his name.=I scek not to azgravate this offence. I wish not to make
you more wretched, but I hope that you will not apply some healing falsehood to your
souls. Short as your time is for preparation, remember that it is more than twent
times told, that which you gave to this unhappy man. Between the last assizes an
the present time, I h“if‘" you have not been wanting in providing the defence you have-
this day made, as well as in a much more important affair, in making your peace
with that God with whom alone is mercy. The clergyman of this gaol is, I under-
stand, a most respectable man. I recommend you to converse earnestly with him,
and to seek the only means of regaiuing, tiu'uugh the merits’of your Saviour,
the pardon of God whom you have offended. 1 implore you to seek for it
earnestly, and I pray most sincerely that the gates of mercy may be still open
to you. [The Judge was here much affected: the prisoner Hunt sobbed lou g,
and placed his handkerchief before his face. {Thurtell’s countenance in
cated no emotion; he was serious and profoundly attentive.] 'To that merey I
commit you. The sentence of ‘the law upon you John Thurtell is, that you be
taken hence to the place from whence you came, and that on Friday next, the 9th of
January, you be taken to a place of execution, there to be hanged by the neck until

ouare dead ; and that your body be afterwards taken down and delivered over to be

issected and anatomized. Upon you, Joseph Hunt, who have been convicted of ma-
liciously aiding and abetting this murder, the sentence is, that you be taken hence to
the place whence you came, and thence to a place of execution, there to be
hanged by the neck until you are dead ; and may the Lord, of his great mercy, have
Pity on your souls,” :

hurtell continued to display the same firmness to the end of this sentence:

Hunt was extremly dejected. When it was finished, Thurtell talked for a few
moments to some persons in the court, and then both prisoners quitted the dock
with the gaoler and his officers.

The court was excessively crowded ; no persons had been allowed to enter for
an hour and a half preceding, The judge retired to his lodgings at five o'clock,
and the court was cleared,
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A few m'mute; before five v’clock, the prisoners were re.conveyed to gaol, ina -

past-chaise, strongly guarded by the local police. A great number of persons

-

hadpreviously placed themselves about the prison gates, and the approach of’
the'postschaise was notified to them, by the post haste speed with which several -

hundred persons advanced in frout of the carriage. We were surprised to see
mamy-elegantly-dressed ladies parading the road, near the prison, in'the hope,
apparently, of having a glimpse of the culprits,

When the prisoners alighted from the carriage, and were removed into the ante-
room of the gaol, Mr. \'a?ilsan, the gaoler, was under the necessity of ordering
their irons to be replaced, and this was done in the presence of Bishop, the Bow-
street officer, three of the attendants of the prison, and a gentleman who was
accidentally present. The Rev. Mr. Lloyd was in-an adjdining room, but did
not present himself to the prisoners. When the irons were fixed, Mr. Wilson,
according to the usual practice after condemuation, searched the prisoners, but
nething worth particular notice was found upon their persons. On opening
Thurtell’s spuff-hox, which was taken for the moment cut of his waistcoat pocket,
it was found to be empty ; he turned round to Bishop, and said, ¢ Bishop, have
you any snuff, you see my box is empty "  Bishop replied that he had none,
he never carried a box, and was particularly sorry for it at that noment. A gen-
tleman present immediately took out his box, and after asking permission from
Thurtell to take that liberty, emptied its contents into his box. Thurtell tovk a
pinch, handed it to the gentleman, and to Mr. Wilson, and put the box into his
pucket with great composure. He was then removed inte a cell, where two
persons specially appeinted are to sit up with him henceforth. It was remark-
able, that although he manifested some apparent reconciliation with Hunt on the
preceding nizht, he never yesterday evening spoke to him, until requested to do
S0 I'.l'y' qu. “FHMP
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« The Under Turnkey.
. The Executioner.
¢ 3. John Thurtell,
« Mr. Wilson, the Gaoler.
. Mr. Nicholson, the Under Sheriff,
» Dr.Burnett, the Phrenologist.
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